

Bangor University

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Implications of forest structure on carbon dioxide fluxes

Tamrakar, Rijan

Award date: 2020

Awarding institution: Bangor University

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal ?

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Implications of forest structure on carbon dioxide fluxes

Dissertation to attain the joint doctoral degree of the Faculty of Forest Sciences and Forest Ecology Georg-August-Universität Göttingen, and

> the School of natural sciences Bangor University

Submitted by Rijan Tamrakar born on the $3^{\rm rd}$ December 1984 in Bhaktapur, Nepal

Göttingen, 05/2020

- 1. Referee: Prof. Dr. Christian Ammer
- 2. Referee: Dr. Mathias Herbst
- 3. Oral examiner: Dr. Andy Smith
- 4. Oral examiner: Prof. Dr. Dirk Hölscher
- 5. Oral examiner: Prof. Dr. Achim Dohrenbusch

Date of oral examination: 28.04.2020

Abstract: Implications of forest structure on carbon dioxide fluxes

Forests provide numerous crucial ecosystem services to society that are sensitive to climate and to extreme climate events such as droughts. One of the services of interest is the ability to sequester the greenhouse gas carbon dioxide (CO_2) . Species mixture and structural heterogeneity has been suggested to reduce the effect of climate variability on forests. It is important to understand how increasing diversity and heterogeneity will help dampen the effect of climate events on CO_2 uptake. Currently, knowledge about the ability of different forests to resist or recover from the effect of climate events is limited. To mitigate this knowledge gap, this thesis examines the implications of forest structure on CO_2 fluxes. Chapter 1 provides the general background of the topic. Chapter 2 examines the implications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual CO_2 fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests for a period of 11 years. The two forest sites have similar mean stand age and near-identical climate conditions but different stand structure. The main question asked was how management and related structural diversity may affect CO_2 fluxes. We show that the annual net ecosystem productivity (NEP) was on average 13 % higher in the managed, even-aged, and homogenous forest, than in the unmanaged, uneven-aged, and structurally diverse forest. The homogenous forest was observed to have, however, stronger sensitivities of seasonal NEP and gross primary productivity (GPP) to environmental variables. Chapter 3 relies on data from 21 Fluxnet sites to explore the effect of nine structural parameters on the temporal stability of light-saturated photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{1000}) and on its resistance to changes in water availability during droughts. The study addresses two questions, (a) Do structurally diverse forests have lower variation in annual GPP_{1000} ? (b) Are structurally diverse forests more resistant to drought events? The results show that unmanaged forests and forests managed as high forests, which have higher basal areas and tend to be older and more diverse in size than coppice forests, had more stable annual GPP_{1000} . The differences between individual sites in anomalies in GPP_{1000} in response to droughts were mostly explained by growing season air temperature. Forest structure could have influenced the response to droughts, but in our case the structure effect could not be separated from environmental effects. Chapter 4 presents a new model of soil water and related fluxes in forests, Forest Soil Water Model - FSWM, developed in the R environment. The model is suitable for predicting soil water in a wide range of forest soils. FSWM incorporates the Gash model for interception, the Ritchie model for soil evaporation and the Richards equation for soil water movement. FSWM's performance was evaluated against soil water measurements at 12 sites. The model performance was good for deciduous broadleaf forests, moderate for mixed forests and every reen needle leaf forests. FSWM offers flexibility in simulating soil horizons with different depths and it is helpful when comparing modelled with observed values at different soil depths. With these characteristics, FSWM is a flexible and freely available tool for ecosystem and hydrological research. Additionally, two co-author papers are included in the appendix. The first paper assessed the net ecosystem CO₂ exchange (NEE), total evapotranspiration and net primary production of two neighbouring beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) forests in central Germany differing in site management. We found the interannual variability was higher in the managed, even-aged stand, and the unmanaged forest was a weaker sink of CO_2 during a

dry year. The second paper investigated the factors influencing the interannual variability (IAV) of photosynthetic capacity at light saturation, a key ecosystem functional property determining gross primary productivity. The study found that the older and species rich forest had reduced IAV of GPP₁₀₀₀. In general, the results of this thesis support the idea that unmanaged forests, mostly older and diverse, have lower interannual variability in NEP, GPP and GPP₁₀₀₀ as the result of their adaptation to the habitat by selecting appropriate species, developing structure to make best use of the light, water, and nutrient resources. During droughts, the effect of the forest structure was not clear. More research covering a large range of different sites is still required to get definitive results involving more structural attributes and sites from different climates.

Key words:

Carbon dioxide, droughts, photosynthetic capacity, forest structure, interannual variability, soil water model

Zusammenfassung: Bedeutung der Waldstruktur für Kohlendioxid-Flüsse

Wälder bieten der Gesellschaft zahlreiche wichtige Ökosystemdienstleistungen (ESS, ecosystem services), die empfindlich gegenüber dem Klima und extremen Klimaereignissen wie bspw. Dürren sind. Eine für diese Arbeit relevante ESS ist die Fähigkeit, das Treibhausgas Kohlendioxid (CO_2) zu speichern. Es wird vermutet, dass Artendurchmischung und strukturelle Heterogenität, den Effekt von Klimaschwankungen auf Wälder reduzieren können. Es ist wichtig zu verstehen, wie zunehmende Diversität und Heterogenität dazu beitragen können, die Effekte von Klimaereignissen auf die CO₂-Aufnahme zu dämpfen. Gegenwärtig ist die Fähigkeit verschiedener Wälder, den Klimaauswirkungen zu widerstehen oder sich von diesen zu erholen noch unbekannt. Diese Arbeit untersucht deshalb die Bedeutung von der Waldstruktur für die CO₂-Flüsse, um diese Wissenslücke zu füllen. Kapitel 1 enthält den allgemeinen Hintergrund zur Thematik. Kapitel 2 untersucht die Rolle von struktureller Diversität für die saisonalen und jährlichen CO₂-Flüsse in zwei gemäßigten Laubwäldern für einen Zeitraum von elf Jahren. Die beiden Waldgebiete haben ein ähnliches Bestandsalter und nahezu gleiche Klimabedingungen, jedoch ist die Bestandstruktur unterschiedlich. Die Hauptfrage war, wie sich das Management und damit verbundene strukturelle Diversität auf die CO₂-Flüsse auswirken kann. Wir zeigen, dass die jährliche Nettoökosystemproduktivität (NEP, net ecosystem productivity) im gemanagten, gleichaltrigen und homogenen Wald im Durchschnitt um 13 % höher war als im unbewirtschafteten, ungleichaltrigen und strukturell vielfältigen Wald. Das homogene Waldgebiet zeigte jedoch eine stärkere Empfindlichkeit der saisonalen NEP und der Bruttoprimärproduktivität (GPP, gross primary productivity) gegenüber Umwelteinflüssen. Kapitel 3 stützt sich auf Daten von 21 Fluxnet-Standorten, um den Effekt von neun strukturellen Parametern auf die zeitliche Stabilität der lichtgesättigten photosynthetischen Kapazität (GPP₁₀₀₀) und auf ihre Widerstandfähigkeit gegenüber Veränderungen der Wasserverfügbarkeit während Dürren zu untersuchen. Die Studie befasst sich mit zwei Fragen: (a) Haben strukturell vielfältige Wälder eine geringere Variation der jährlichen GPP₁₀₀₀? Und (b) Sind strukturell vielfältige Wälder resistenter gegenüber Dürreereignissen? Die Ergebnisse zeigen, dass unbewirtschaftete Wälder und als Hochwald bewirtschaftete Wälder, die höhere Grundflächen haben und tendenziell älter und vielfältiger in der Größe sind, stabilere jährliche GPP₁₀₀₀ haben. Die Unterschiede zwischen den einzelnen Standorten hinsichtlich der Anomalien der GPP_{1000} während Dürreperioden wurden hauptsächlich durch die Lufttemperatur in der Vegetationszeit erklärt. Kapitel 4 präsentiert ein neues Modell des Bodenwassers und dem damit verbundenen Flüssen in Wäldern – Forest Soil Water Model (FSWM), welches mithilfe von R entwickelt wurde. Das Modell eignet sich für das Simulieren von Bodenwasser in einem weiten Spektrum von Waldböden. FSWM beinhaltet das Gash-Modell für Interzeption, das Ritchie-Modell für Bodenverdunstung und die Richard-Gleichung für Bodenwasserbewegung. Die Leistungfähigkeit von FSWM wurde anhand von Bodenwassermessungen an 12 Standorten geprüft. Die Modelleistung war gut für Laubwälder, mäßig für Misch- und immergrüne Nadelwälder. FSWM bietet Flexibilität beim Simulieren von Bodenhorizonten mit verschiedenen Tiefen und ist nützlich, wenn modellierte und beobachtete Werte von verschiedenen Bodentiefen miteinander verglichen werden. Mit diesen Eigenschaften ist FSWM ein flexibles und frei verfügbares Werkzeug für Ökosystemund hydrologische Forschung. Es sind zusätzlich zwei Co-Autorenbeiträge im Anhang enthalten. Der erste Aufsatz bewertete den Nettoökosystemaustausch (NEE, net ecosystem exchange) von CO₂, die Gesamtevapotranspiration und die Nettoprimärproduktion (NPP, net primary production) für zwei benachbarte Buchenwälder (Fagus syvatica L.) in Mitteldeutschland, die sich im Standortmanagement unterschieden. Wir fanden heraus, dass die zwischenjährliche Variabilität im bewirtschafteten, gleichaltrigen Bestand höher, und die Funktion als CO₂-Senke im unbewirtschafteten Wald während eines Trockenjahres niedriger war. Die Waldstruktur hätte die Reaktion auf Dürren beeinflussen können, aber in unserem Fall konnte der Struktureffekt nicht von den Umwelteinflüssen getrennt werden. Der zweite Aufsatz untersuchte Faktoren, die die zwischenjährliche Variabilität (IAV, interannual variability) der photosynthetischen Kapazität bei Lichtsättigung beeinflussen, einer wichtigen funktionalen Eigenschaft des Ökosystems, die die GPP bestimmt. Die Studie ergab, dass der ältere und artenreiche Wald die IAV der photosynthetischen Kapazität bei Lichtsättigung reduzierte. Im Allgemeinen unterstützen die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit die Idee, dass unbewirtschaftete Wälder, vor allem ältere und artenreiche, eine geringere IAV in NEP, GPP und GPP₁₀₀₀ aufweisen. Grund hierfür ist ihre Anpassung an das jeweilige Habitat durch die Selektion geeigneter Arten, wodurch eine Waldstruktur entsteht, die Licht, Wasser und Nährstoffressourcen effizienter nutzen kann. Der Effekt der Waldstruktur war während Dürreperioden nicht eindeutig. Um eindeutige Ergebnisse zu bekommen, sind weitere Untersuchungen notwendig, die ein breites Spektrum von verschiedenen Standorten aus verschiedenen Klimazonen und mehr strukturelle Attribute abdecken.

Schlagwörter: Kohlenstoffdioxid, Dürreereignissen, photosynthetischen Kapazität, Waldstruktur, zwischenjährliche Variabilität, Bodenwassermodell

Declaration

I hereby declare that I wrote this PhD thesis under the supervision of Prof. Alexander Knohl, Dr. Mark Rayment and Dr. Fernando Moyano. Any sources of information and used literature have been acknowledged.

Göttingen, May 2020

Rijan Tamrakar

Contents

1	Inti	roduction	1
	1.1	Role of forests in climate mitigation	2
	1.2	Forest structure	3
	1.3	Implications of forest structure on droughts	5
	1.4	Soil water models	7
	1.5	Aims and organization of the thesis	9
2	Imp	plications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual carbon	
	dio	kide fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests	13
	2.1	Abstract	14
	2.2	Introduction	14
	2.3	Material and methods	16
		2.3.1 Site description	16
		2.3.2 Eddy covariance and meteorological measurements	18
		2.3.3 Fruit production data	18
	9.4	2.3.4 Statistical analysis	18
	2.4	Results	19
		2.4.1 Meteorological characteristics	19
		2.4.2 Fruit production (masting) in the study sites	19 20
		2.4.5 Cumulative net ecosystem productivity (NET) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ 2.4.4 Seasonal variability of the CO ₂ fluxes	$\frac{20}{22}$
		2.4.4 Seasonal variability of the CO ₂ nixes	25
		2.4.6 Seasonal differences in CO ₂ fluxes between the two sites	$\frac{20}{25}$
		2.4.7 Annual estimates of NEP. GPP and Reco	$\frac{-0}{26}$
		2.4.8 Factors contributing to annual variability of NEP. GPP and Reco	$\overline{27}$
	2.5	Discussions	30
		2.5.1 Meteorological controls of seasonal CO_2 fluxes $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	30
		2.5.2 Annual $\overrightarrow{\text{CO}_2}$ fluxes and its inter-annual variability $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	30
		2.5.3 Effect of fruit production on CO_2 fluxes	32
		2.5.4 Effect of time on CO_2 fluxes $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
	2.6	Conclusions	33
	2.7	Supplementary materials	34
3	Effe	ect of forest structure on drought response of ecosytem-level pho-	
	\mathbf{tosy}	vnthetic capacity	43
	3.1	Abstract	44

	3.2	Introduction
	3.3	Material and methods
		3.3.1 Sites
		3.3.2 Forest structure indices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 47$
		3.3.3 Environmental data 50
		3.3.4 Annual light-saturated gross primary productivity (GPP_{1000}) 50
		3.3.5 Drought estimation
		3.3.6 Statistical analysis
	3.4	Results
		3.4.1 Structural characteristics of sites
		3.4.2 Factors explaining inter-site variability in $CV_{GPP1000}$
		3.4.3 Factors affecting GPP_{1000} anomalies during droughts 60
	3.5	Discussion
		3.5.1 Temporal stability of GPP_{1000}
		3.5.2 Effect of forest structure on GPP_{1000} anomalies
		3.5.3 Limitations of the study $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		3.5.4 Outlook
	3.6	Conclusions
	3.7	Competing interests
	3.8	Acknowledgements
	3.9	Supplementary materials
4	A f	lexible forest soil water model (FWSM) in R 75
	4.1	Abstract
	4.2	Introduction
	4.3	Materials and methods
		4.3.1 Model description
		4.3.2 Data
		4.3.3 Model parameterizations
		4.3.4 Model evaluation
	4.4	Results and discussions
		4.4.1 Field capacity (FC) and wilting point (WP)
		4.4.2 Model parameterizations
		4.4.3 Model evaluation
		4.4.4 Average annual values of different ET components
	4.5	Conclusions
	4.6	Supplementary materials
		4.6.1 Model evaluation other sites
		4.6.2 Model Parameter correlation
		4.6.3 Using Priestley Taylor formulation of evapotranspiration 100
		4.6.4 Evapotranspiration component for DE-Hai from BILJOU model $\ .\ .\ .\ 101$
		4.6.5 Variation of toyture in DF Hai

5	\mathbf{Syn}	opsis	103
	5.1	Higher average long-term net ecosystem productivity (NEP) in a structurally	
		homogeneous forest	105
	5.2	Lower interannual variability of net ecosystem productivity (NEP) in a	
		heterogeneous forest.	106
	5.3	Lower interannual variability of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity in	
		unmanaged forests.	107
	5.4	The impact of drought on the ecosystem-level light-saturated photosynthetic	
		capacity of forests	107
	5.5	Development of an open-source soil water model.	108
	5.6	Outlook	109
\mathbf{A}	Dif	ference in carbon uptake and water use between a managed and an	
	unn	nanaged beech forest in central Germany	111
	A.1	Abstract	112
	A.2	Introduction	112
	A.3	Material and methods	113
		A.3.1 Sites	113
		A.3.2 Eddy covariance data	115
		A.3.3 Biometric data	115
	A.4	Results	117
	A.5	Discussion	120
		A.5.1 Methodological uncertainties	120
		A.5.2 Interannual variability in carbon fluxes	122
		A.5.3 Evapotranspiration	122
		A.5.4 Diversity and resilience	123
	A.6	Conclusions	124
	A.7	Acknowledgements	124
в	Sta	nd age and species richness dampen interannual variation of ecosyster	n-
	leve	el photosynthetic capacity	125
	B.1	Abstract	126
	B.2	Introduction	126
	B.3	Material and methods	128
		B.3.1 Data	128
		B.3.2 Estimation of photosynthetic capacity and its interannual variability	
		$magnitude \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	130
		B.3.3 Statistical analysis	131
	B.4	Results	132
	B.5	Discussion and conclusion	135
	B.6	Acknowledgements	137
	B.7	Author contributions	137
	B.8	Additional information	137
		B.8.1 Code availability	137

B.8.2 Data availability	137
B.8.3 Supplementary information	137
B.8.4 Reprints and permissions information	137
B.8.5 Correspondence and requests for materials	137
B.8.6 How to cite this article	138
B.9 Competing interests	138
Bibliography	139
Curriculum vitae	171
Acknowledgments	173

chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Role of forests in climate mitigation

Forests provide numerous societal services like provisioning (e.g., food, fuelwood, timber, etc.), regulating (e.g., climate regulation, water regulation, pollination, etc.), cultural (e.g., spiritual, recreations, educational, etc.) and supporting (e.g., soil formation, nutrient cycling, primary production) services (ALCAMO et al., 2003). Among these services, climate regulation has been hugely discussed and debated in the context of climate change (CANADELL et al., 2008; LAW et al., 2018). Terrestrial ecosystems absorbed 30 % of anthropogenic carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions in the last five decades (LE QUÉRÉ et al., 2018) mostly through carbon accumulation in forest biomass and soils (PAN et al., 2011). Temperate forests contributed to 31 % of the global terrestrial carbon sink between 1990 to 2007 (PAN et al., 2011).

In recent years, the frequency of occurrence of meteorological anomalies have increased (IPCC, 2018). In some circumstances, these events have severe impacts on terrestrial ecosystem (BABST et al., 2012; IPCC, 2012; REICHSTEIN et al., 2013). In the case of terrestrial ecosystems, these events can partially offset carbon sinks or even cause net carbon losses releasing CO₂ to the atmosphere (CIAIS et al., 2005; GRANIER et al., 2007; XIAO et al., 2011). Global analysis of extreme events indicated that the anomalies in CO₂ uptake by vegetation was of similar magnitude to the total terrestrial carbon sink (ZSCHEISCHLER et al., 2013). In addition to immediate responses, many studies have shown that such extreme events can also show time-lagged responses such as mortality, fires or pest infestations (CIAIS et al., 2005; KURZ et al., 2008; PAGE et al., 2002; ZENG et al., 2009).

One of the suggested methods to mitigate the impact of extreme climates on forest ecosystems is creating more diverse forest because species-rich forests provide higher levels of ecosystem functions (GAMFELDT et al., 2013; LIANG et al., 2016; ZHANG et al., 2012). For example, mixed spruce/beech forests (GRIESS et al., 2011; PRETZSCH et al., 2010) and oak /beech (PRETZSCH et al., 2013) mostly outyield pure stands of the same species by about 20 %. The influence of species richness on productivity is, however, modulated by climate (JUCKER et al., 2016) and site conditions (POTTER et al., 2014). Furthermore, the temporal stability in productivity of diverse forests are higher (JUCKER et al., 2014; MORIN et al., 2014) than monocultures. The key processes that enhances forest productivity and temporal stability are overyielding (when productivity of a mixture exceeds the average productivity of monocultures of component species - SCHMID et al. 2008), species asynchrony, complementarity (MORIN et al., 2011) and species interaction (JUCKER et al., 2014; MORIN et al., 2014).

In addition to creating more species rich forests, efforts have been made to create forest with complex horizontal and vertical structures that resemble old-growth forests (PUETTMANN et al., 2015) because they are believed to have more ecological resistance and stability (POMMERENING, 2002). Forest management practices, particularly in Europe and North America, are towards uneven-aged and multi-species forests (BAUHUS et al., 2009). The presence of trees with different sizes (in terms height and root depth) leads to differential resource availability e.g. water (BRIENEN et al., 2017; DAWSON, 1996) and light (DHÔTE, 1994). Additionally, competition dynamics among trees are affected by population hierarchy (ZANG et al., 2012).

1.2 Forest structure

Species diversity conflates structural and genetic diversity. Many studies have so far studied effect of species diversity on productivity, or drought sensitivity. In this thesis, we split these factors and focus on the structural diversity.

Forest structure can be defined as horizontal and vertical distribution of trees in forest stand. The horizontal structure can be quantified based on dbh, spatial distribution of trees, or canopy distribution. The vertical structure on the other hand can be assessed by tree height.

In the recent times, the management of forests in an ecologically sustainable manner is widely considered to be desirable (FARES et al., 2015; RUTISHAUSER et al., 2015; SASAKI et al., 2016). Appropriate indicators to characterize the forests are essential to assess the results of such management activities (LINDENMAYER et al., 2000). Forest stand structural indices can be used in assessing the impact and success of management, and providing further recommendations for choosing the appropriate management strategies (MÜLLER et al., 2000; POMMERENING et al., 2013). Further, the values of stand structural indices can be used to differentiate forest management regimes and intensities (YOUNG et al., 2017). Species richness and species diversity are the two most common approaches to describe diversity in forest structure (SPELLERBERG et al., 2003). Other approaches include describing forests in terms of (a) its stand structure i.e. varieties of trees (in terms size), logs, and snags and their spatial arrangement (LINDENMAYER et al., 2000) and (b) functions (e.g. carbon sequestration, biomass production, see FRANKLIN et al., 2002). Species composition, structural and functional attributes are usually interdependent (HAKKENBERG et al., 2016; PRETZSCH et al., 2016). For example PRETZSCH et al. (2016) found that the forests with two species were more structurally heterogeneous (diverse vertical structure) than the forests with monoculture of same species. For simplification and to include attributes of all three different approaches, MCELHINNY et al. (2005) introduced the term 'structural attributes' to characterise the forest structure pooling attributes from all three approaches. Forest stand structure is then described by either single stand structural attributes (e.g. canopy cover, number of species) or combination of different stand structural attributes (e.g. structural complexity index, ZENNER et al. 2000). MCELHINNY et al. (2005) and Río et al. (2016) have listed indices of around 50 different stand structure attributes. The stand elements characterised by latter include: stand density, species proportion, species composition, horizontal spatial pattern, species intermingling, vertical pattern, size distribution and age composition. Two studies have in particular, examined the inter-relationships and inter-dependencies between these stand structural indices (SCHALL et al., 2018; STERBA et al., 2006). SCHALL et al. (2018) found significant correlation between many pairs and thus suggested to use multiple structural indices for reliable classifications of different forest types along axes of stand structures.

Table 1.1 lists studies looking into relationship between different structural indices and forest functions. Most of the studies have assessed the relationship of forest structure indices like stem number, basal area, diameter at breast height (DBH), etc. and productivity (for e.g. ALI et al. 2016; DĂNESCU et al. 2016; SCHALL et al. 2018), few others have focused

Table 1.1: List of studies investigating the relationship between different structural indices
and forest functions.

Structural index	Forest functions	Reference
Stand density, stand composition	Drought response of radial growth	Bello et al. $(2019b)$
Stem number, basal area, canopy pro-	Timber volume, timber volume growth	Schall et al. (2018)
jection area, stand volume, species pro-	rate	
portion by the share of conifers, species		
richness, the exponential Shannon di-		
versity, Pielou's index of segregation,		
etc.		
Stand structural complexity index from effective number of vertical layers	Microclimate	EHBRECHT et al. (2017)
Stand age, tree species diversity	Temporal stability of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity	MUSAVI et al. (2017)
Coefficient of variation, Gini coefficient,	Basal area increment	Dănescu et al.
Shannon index, and Shannon evenness		(2016)
of DBH and height distribution, close-		
ness to a J-shaped distribution and		
skewness of DBH distribution, Shannon		
index and Shannon evenness of species		
Shannon-Wiener index of species, DBH and height distribution, stand age	Aboveground carbon (C) storage	ALI et al. (2016)
Stand structural complexity index, sil-	Diversity of mosses and higher plants,	GOSSNER et al. (2014)
vicultural management intensity, natu-	fungi, birds	
ralness		
Stand composition and tree size	Sensitivity of tree ring growth to droughts	MERLIN et al. (2015)
Canopy rugosity	Aboveground net primary productivity, light use efficiency, nitrogen use effi- ciency	Hardiman et al. (2013)
Canopy rugosity	Net primary productivity	Hardiman et al. (2011)
Stand density index, the average height	Periodic annual increment	Long et al. (2010)
of dominant and codominant trees (site index)		
Shannon–Wiener index for basal area,	Periodic annual increment, periodic an-	Lei et al. (2009)
DBH and height, integrated Shannon-	nual survivor growth, periodic annual	
Wiener index for species and DBH, and	mortality, periodic annual recruitment	
species and height, Gini coefficient of		
DBH and height		
Shannon's index based on species and	Basal area growth, recruitment, and	LIANG et al. (2007)
basal area	mortality	$H_{\rm DDM} = 1 (9000)$
Age, dominant neight at base age of	Individual tree basal area increment	HEIN et al. (2006)
100 year (site quality), species mixture,		
Concern complexity maex, DBH	Productivity insect diversity	$I_{\text{CHILL} of all } (2004)$
liage height diversity	r foductivity, filsect diversity	15H11 et al. (2004)
Tree top height, crown closure, vertical	Wind damage	Dobbertin (2002)
stand structure, conifer proportion		
Age, Basal area, DBH, crown cover,	Diversity of ground vegetation	PITKANEN (1997)
versity index reciprocal of Simpson di-		
versity index. Pielou index of overness		
Hill's index of diversity		

on drought sensitivity of radial growth (for e.g. BELLO et al. 2019b; MERLIN et al. 2015) and some animal diversity (e.g. DOBBERTIN 2002; GOSSNER et al. 2014). Results on productivity were mostly positive, i.e. higher values of structural diversity meant higher forest productivity. Different studies used different structural indices. ALI et al. (2016) reported the strongest correlation of stand age followed by indices based on DBH and height, and the effect of species diversity was least on aboveground carbon storage. Similarly, HARDIMAN et al. (2011) concluded that the increase in canopy structural complexity provide a mechanism for the potential maintenance of productivity in ageing forests. HEIN et al. (2006) however did not find forest structure as a predictor of productivity but the site quality.

1.3 Implications of forest structure on droughts

Droughts are defined as a period with prolonged deficiency of rainfall or abnormally dry weather sufficiently long to cause a hydrological imbalance (WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION, 1992). Droughts can be the result of hydrometeorological anomalies (VAN LOON, 2015) or alteration of the water cycle by anthropogenic activities (VAN LOON et al., 2016). At least 52 exceptional drought events occurred at macro-regional scale between 1951-2016 worldwide (SPINONI et al., 2019). The frequency and severity of drought events are expected to increase in future (SPINONI et al., 2019; SPINONI et al., 2017; TRENBERTH et al., 2014).

Droughts negatively affect forests around the globe (ALLEN et al., 2015; ANDEREGG et al., 2013; CHOAT et al., 2018; GRANIER et al., 2007; REICHSTEIN et al., 2013; REICHSTEIN et al., 2007). In trees, water travels from the soil to the leaves, via hydraulic supply network formed by xylem tissue (Tyree et al., 2002). When the water demand for transpiration is higher than the supply in root from the soil, the trees start responding from the molecular to ecosystem level to mitigate the effect of drought (BARBETA et al., 2016). At shorter time-scales, the trees respond by closing their stomata at the leaf-atmosphere interface to down-regulate transpiration (BRÉDA et al., 2006) and by shedding leaves (OGAYA et al., 2006) to limit water loss. At longer time-scales, trees reduce shoot-growth to increase root-to-shoot ratio; enhance fine root growth; develop deeper roots; amass solutes to reduce the water potential in the root tissue (BRUNNER et al., 2015); modifying xylem conduits (PALLARDY, 2002). Further severe droughts leads to canopy or whole plant death and cause of which is mostly related to failure of hydraulic networks of trees (ANDEREGG et al., 2012; DAVIS et al., 2002; NARDINI et al., 2013; VENTURAS et al., 2016). The response strategies, however, varies with biomes (VICENTE-SERRANO et al., 2013), species (OGAYA et al., 2006), and age of trees/stands (CAVENDER-BARES et al., 2000).

The response of forests to droughts can be modified by tree species mixing and heterogeneous structure (PRETZSCH et al., 2013). However, most of the studies have so far looked at the effect of species diversity on drought sensitivity. Here, we report some recent publication that focus on species diversity (Table 1.2). Our review suggests that the direction and strength of the modification depends on the species mixture (BELLO et al. 2019b; GROSSIORD 2019; LEBOURGEOIS et al. 2013 and biomes (GROSSIORD et al., 2014c). We define effect as positive when the drought sensitivity is reduced by species diversity and negative when drought sensitivity is enhanced by species diversity. Five studies showed **Table 1.2:** List of studies reporting the effect of species diversity on the drought responses of the forest. Species mixture are the names of species reported in the study. The conclusion column categorized study conclusion as negative (drought sensitivity increased with the increase in species diversity), neutral (no clear effect of species mixing on drought sensitivity), positive (drought sensitivity was reduced by increasing species diversity), and both (effect of structure were different from site to site, positive in some sites and negative in others).

Study	Region/Forests	Species mixture	Conclusion
Bello et al. $(2019b)$	Orléans forest, France	Quercus petraea and Pinus sylvestris	Negative
Toïgo et al. (2015)	Orléans forest, France	Quercus petraea and Pinus sylvestris	Negative
GROSSIORD et al. $(2014b)$	South-central Tus- cany, Italy	Quercus cerris and Quercus petraea	Negative
GROSSIORD et al. (2014d)	Boreal forests	Betula pendula, Pinus sylvestris, and Picea abies	Negative
VANHELLEMONT et al. (2019)	Northern Belgium	Fagus sylvatica, Quercus robur, and Q . rubra	Neutral
ZALLONI et al. (2019)	Vesuvio National Park, Italy	Quercus ilex L. and Pinus pinea	Neutral
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	South-western Ger- many	Spruce and fir	Neutral
Bello et al. (2019a)	Orléans state forest	Quercus petraea and Pinus sylvestris	Positive
SIDOR et al. (2018)	34 forest sites in Ro- mania	<i>Pinus sylvestris L.</i> mixed with other species.	Plus
Sousa-Silva et al. (2018)	Belgium	Fagus sylvatica, Quercus petraea, and Quercus robur	Positive
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Poland	Pinus sylvestris L. and Quercus robur L.	Positive
ANDEREGG et al. (2018)	Fluxnet sites	Species were different in each forest types	Positive
GRANDA et al. (2018)	Agüero, northeast Spain	Pinus halepensis, Pinus nigra subsp. Salz- mannii and Pinus sylvestris L.	Positive
Metz et al. (2016)	Three major geo- graphic regions of Germany	$Fagus \ sylvatica$ with other species	Positive
MÖLDER et al. (2014)	Hainich National Park, Germany	$Fagus \ sylvatica$ with five other species	Positive
LEBOURGEOIS et al. (2013)	crystalline Vosges Mountains, France	Abies alba with Fagus sylvatica and with $Picea abies$	Positive
PRETZSCH et al. (2013)	South Germany	Picea abies, Fagus sylvatica, and Quercus petraea	Positive
VITALI et al. (2018)	Black Forest	Norway spruce, silver fir and Douglas fir	Both
FORRESTER et al. (2016)	Major European for- est types	Species were different in each forest types	Both
GROSSIORD et al. $(2014c)$	Five forest types of Europe	Many	Both

negative effects of species diversity on the drought sensitivity of forests, three did not find any relationship, three reported positive and negative effects which differed from one site to another, and nine reported positive effects. In order to understand these differences in the results, we have tried to understand the effect of forest structural heterogeneity on carbon dioxide.

In order to estimate effect of structural heterogeneity of forests on drought response, we require an appropriate tool to quantify drought. In next section, we discuss different types of models that have been used to calculate soil water in the forests, a key parameter reflecting water availability to the trees.

1.4 Soil water models

Soil water availability is one of the major factors that limits productivity and decomposition or mineralisation of soil organic matter in forests (PAUL et al., 2003). Recently, there has been an increasing reports on severe effects of water shortage on forests around the world (ALLEN et al., 2015). These impacts include episodes of large-scale diebacks, sudden drops in productivity after extreme droughts (BRESHEARS et al., 2005) and chronic increases in tree mortality and growth decline (BUSSOTTI et al., 2017). Understanding the effects of droughts on forest productivity and tree mortality is crucial to formulate adaptive forest management strategies (LINDNER et al., 2014). Modelling forest production, drainage and turnover of organic matter and nutrients all need accurate predictions of soil water content (PAUL et al., 2003).

Measurement of soil water content can be expensive, requires a lot of time, and is a complex process due to its inherent temporal and spatial variability. Therefore, a number of soil water simulation models have been developed during the last several decades with a wide range of sophistication (JONG et al., 1996). One of the earliest model was developed by THORNTHWAITE (1948). The model simulates soil water using a simple water balance approach in which mean monthly precipitation and soil water storage is balanced against estimated potential evapotranspiration. The budgeting procedures have slowly become more complicated by utilizing daily time steps, multi-layering of the soil profile and variable rates of extraction and movement of water from the various zones (JONG et al., 1996). In addition, several models simulate three interconnected components namely (i) the atmosphere (i.e. potential evapotranspiration), (ii) the crop (i.e. plant phenology) and (iii) the soil (i.e. root-zone water) such as models developed by RADDATZ 1993.

Many of them are used to estimate soil water availability for forest growth which predict water content within the root zone of stands and water content within surface soil layers under forests PAUL et al. (2003). Recently, many improvements have been made in soil water models for more accurate predictions and more suitable application. Here, we briefly describe a few recent soil water models used in the context of forest soils. First we describe few simple bucket models like simple water balance model (SWBM), Simple process-led algorithms for simulating habitats model (SPLASH), lumped water balance model (BILJOU), and soil water under forest (SWUF) followed by more complex vegetation models like Simulator for Mediterranean landscapes (SIERRA), coupled heat and mass transfer model for soil-plant-atmosphere systems (CoupModel), Lund-Potsdam-Jena Dynamic Global Vegetation Model (LPJ), and CASTANEA. ORTH et al. (2013) modified simple water balance model (SWBM) proposed by KOSTER et al. (2012). The model considers evapotranspiration and run-off ratios as simple functions of soil moisture. The model shows that simple water balance model can be utilized together with precipitation, net radiation, and measurements to predict soil moisture and its controls even in the situation where direct soil moisture measurements are not present.

Simple process-led algorithms for simulating habitats (SPLASH) model offers robust estimations of key quantities at ecologically relevant time-scales. The model can be used to produce driving datasets for ecological and land-surface models (e.g., monthly carbon and water fluxes or seasonal plant functional trait distributions) from more readily available meteorological observations. The model shows promising results in spite of the model's simplifications and limited climatic drivers (DAVIS et al., 2017).

A lumped water balance model (BILJOU) was developed to quantify drought intensity and duration in forest stands (GRANIER et al., 1999). The information needed by the model includes daily potential evapotranspiration and rainfall as input climatic data. The site and stand parameters needed include maximum extractable soil water and leaf area index, the latter controlling (i) stand transpiration; (ii) forest floor evapotranspiration; and (iii) rainfall interception. Other informations such as root distribution and soil porosity can also be utilized if available. The robustness of the model and its easy parametrisation for a large range of species and soil types make it suitable for many ecological applications on both inter- and intra-annual basis (GRANIER et al., 1999).

Soil water under forest (SWUF) model was developed by PAUL et al. (2003) which is used to predict daily water content within both surface soil layers and the sub-soil under a range of forest types. It is a simple cascading water bucket model which was mainly derived by combining algorithms from well-tested models for prediction of soil water under agriculture and extend them to account for interception by, and evaporation from, the dense canopy and litter layer, and the influence of site mounding, and weeds or understorey of forests, on soil water. The model can also be integrated in models of mineralisation of soil organic matter as well as models of forest production. The model was intentionally developed for simple and easy use. Therefore, it only requires easily obtainable data such as leaf area index, litter layer mass, irrigation applied, bulk density, and the upper and lower limit of water content.

Simulator for Mediterranean landscapes (SIERRA) was developed for particular use in Mediterranean-type communities subjected to large recurrent fires. The main property of the model is to utilize explicit functional processes to simulate vegetation dynamics based on fluxes of water and carbon. A spatial representation of the annual course of vertical structure of biomass and carbon fluxes coupled with the weekly soil water budget and evapotranspiration rates can be obtained using the model. The model shows that a weekly water budget is the main driver for primary production and inter-specific competition according to water availability, and at the same time simulates seasonal water stress of species. So far, the model has no limitation towards the species composition and it can be used as a practical tool for a large range of water limited ecosystems (MOUILLOT et al., 2001).

Coupled heat and mass transfer model for soil-plant-atmosphere systems (CoupModel) can be used to explain many problems regarding hydrological and/or thermal processes in

the soil-plant-atmosphere system. Examples of the model application include simulation of regulating factors for biological and chemical processes in the soil, simulation of coupled biological and abiotic processes, simulation of coupled atmosphere and soil processes, generalisation of results to new soils, climates and time periods, and prediction of the influence of management e.g. soil heat extraction, mulching, drainage, irrigation and plant husbandry (JANSSON et al., 2011).

The Lund-Potsdam-Jena Dynamic Global Vegetation Model (LPJ) incorporates processbased large-scale representations of terrestrial vegetation dynamics and land-atmosphere carbon and water exchanges in a modular framework. The property of the model include feedback through canopy conductance between photosynthesis and transpiration and interactive coupling between these 'fast' processes and other ecosystem processes such as resource competition, tissue turnover, population dynamics, soil organic matter and litter dynamics and fire disturbance (SITCH et al., 2003).

DAVI et al. (2005a) developed a new hybrid model, CASTANEA, described in DAVI et al. (2005b), to simulate the carbon balance and the water cycle. The purpose of the model is to obtain net carbon and water fluxes of deciduous forest from half-hourly to multi-annual time scales and to accurately simulate ecosystem changes in biomass and soil organic matter from season to decades. The carbon balance input data includes canopy photosynthesis, autotrophic and heterotrophic respirations, net ecosystem exchange, wood and root growth. The water fluxes includes transpiration, soil evaporation, interception, drainage and soil water status. The model results simulates all the measured individual processes well, except the root respiration, which was underestimated during summer (DAVI et al., 2005a). Therefore, the model suggests that more effort is needed on studying and modelling both root respiration and root turnover.

The described models are either not standalone soil water model but part of the land surface models (e.g. LPJ, CASTANEA, SIERRA, coupModel), or simple that does not take into account the soil and vegetation characteristics (e.g. SWBM, SPLASH). Models like SWUF and BILJOU are standalone model that takes into soil and vegetation characteristics. However, SWUF is built on MS-excel platform and BILJOU is online. Running these model for a single site or few years work excellently. But when we require the model to run for many sites with different sets of parameters both models become impractical. Additionally, modifying or improving the process is not possible in BILJOU as it is not open source and complicated in SWUF. Thus, an multi-layer soil model that can easily be used without many parameters and is open access is still missing.

1.5 Aims and organization of the thesis

Increase in anomalous events including droughts are predicted for future (BARRIOPEDRO et al., 2011; GREVE et al., 2015). In this context, understanding adaptation and mitigation strategies for forests to cope with changing climate is essential. Forest structure can affect forest functions through niche complementarity, vertical and horizontal size diversity, etc. The effect of forest structure on drought sensitivity on forest functions are however not clear with different studies pointing to different directions. To understand the response of ecosystems to environmental and biotic disturbances, we can look at temporal stability and resistance of the ecosystems. Temporal stability of any ecosystem function (annual net ecosystem productivity and light saturated photosynthetic capacity in our case) is a measure of how much these functions fluctuate around its long-term mean between years (TILMAN, 1999) and is related to ecosystem resilience (HOLLING, 1973). The resistance is the capacity of an ecosystem to remain unchanged after a disturbance (GRIMM et al., 1997). In this thesis, we used the difference between observed values during an anomalous year and long-term mean of an ecosystem function, normalized by long-term mean to allow inter site comparison, to estimate resistance of forest ecosystem. The four major aims of this thesis are to:

- investigate the annual and seasonal carbon dioxide fluxes in two differently structured forest.
- assess the implications of forest structure on temporal stability of carbon dioxide fluxes.
- examine the effect of forest structure on resistance of carbon dioxide fluxes during droughts.
- report the flexible open source forest soil water model (FWSM).

This work, 'The effect of forest structures on carbon dioxide fluxes', provide insights on how forest heterogeneity modulates the temporal stability and resistance of carbon dioxide fluxes during droughts. We investigated the effects of forest structure on temporal variability of carbon dioxide fluxes and anomalies of photosynthetic capacity during droughts, and additionally reported a flexible soil water model (FWSM). Here we have made an first attempt to calculate the structural indices for forests for which the carbon dioxide fluxes are readily available in fluxnet dataset (https://fluxnet.fluxdata.org/ data/fluxnet2015-dataset/). Using inventory data along with the fluxnet data provides an unique opportunity to study the impact of forest structure on carbon dioxide fluxes using multiple sites when most of the studies use only few sites (see Table 1.1 and 1.2). Thus we combined approaches from two scientific community, i.e. forest structure from forestry and carbon dioxide fluxes from micrometeorology. Also the availability of meteorological data at different time-scales (half-hourly, daily, monthly and yearly), allows quantifying droughts at different temporal scales. Here, we took an opportunity to develop a open source soil water model capable of estimating drought at daily scale.

I start this thesis describing the background on structural indices, how forest structure modifies forest functions, and different soil water models available in present days in chapter 1. The introduction is followed by three scientific chapters presented as manuscript. After that in appendix I present two more scientific papers with a short description of the contribution I made. The five scientific studies are as following:

• Implications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual carbon dioxide fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests (chapter 2 of this thesis)

Rijan Tamrakar, Mark B. Rayment, Fernando Moyano, Martina Mund, and Alexander Knohl

published in Agriculture and forest meteorology (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018)

In this paper we studied two forests of similar mean stand age near-identical site conditions, and dominated by beech trees (*Fagus sylvatica*), but with a very different stand structure (including age, diameter distribution, stocks of dead wood and species composition) because of different management regimes. We observed higher annual net ecosystem productivity (NEP) in the managed, even-aged, and homogeneous forest, than in the unmanaged, uneven-aged, and structurally diverse forest. On the other hand, inter-annual variation was lower in the structurally diverse forest than homogeneous managed forests. The higher variability of NEP in the homogeneous forest was attributed to biotic factors such as fruit production and a time-dependent growth trend.

• Effect of forest structure on drought response of forest canopy photosynthetic capacity (chapter 3 of this thesis)

Rijan Tamrakar, Mark B. Rayment, Fernando Moyano, and Alexander Knohl Manuscript to be submitted to *Biogeosciences*

We expanded our analysis from the first paper (chapter 2) and included 19 more sites across temperate region to understand the effect of structural diversity on carbon fluxes. We looked at photosynthetic capacity (GPP₁₀₀₀) instead of absolute fluxes in order to normalize the climate differences among the sites. We asked two questions in this paper, (a) Do structurally diverse forests have lower variation in annual GPP₁₀₀₀? (b) Are structurally diverse forests more resistant to drought events?

• A flexible forest soil water model (FWSM) in R

Rijan Tamrakar, Mark B. Rayment, Fernando Moyano, and Alexander Knohl (chapter 4 of this thesis)

Manuscript to be submitted to Environmental modelling and software

We have looked at annual carbon fluxes in chapter 2 and annual photosynthetic capacity in chapter 3. The signal of droughts might be lost at annual scale due to seasonality within a year. It is also important to understand how forest would respond to droughts at shorter time-scales (daily) and how these responses will be modulated by forest structure. However, an multi-layer soil model that can easily be used and is open access is still missing. Thus, we developed a flexible open source dynamic soil water model in R (forest soil water model, FWSM) which can also be translated to any other programming languages. In this chapter we describe a flexible open source soil water model for forests in R. We investigate how it performs in different fluxnet sites.

• Difference in carbon uptake and water use between a managed and an unmanaged beech forest in central Germany

Mathias Herbst, Martina Mund, **Rijan Tamrakar**, Alexander Knohl (Appendix A of this thesis)

Published in Forest ecology and management (HERBST et al., 2015)

This paper assessed the net atmospheric carbon dioxide exchange (NEE), total evapotranspiration and net primary production of two neighbouring beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) forests in central Germany differing in site management. Though the inter-annual variability was higher in managed, even-aged stand, the unmanaged forest was weaker sink of carbon dioxide during a dry year. The study discusses the relative importance of tree and structural (age, size) diversity, leaf area index and regenerative growth as well as the temporal frame and extent of single weather extremes for the forest–atmosphere exchange. I supported in the preparation, analysis and discussions of figures A.2 and A.4 (section A.5.2) and contributed to the writing.

• Stand age and species richness dampen inter-annual variation of ecosystemlevel photosynthetic capacity

Talie Musavi, Mirco Migliavacca, Markus Reichstein, Jens Kattge, Christian Wirth, T. Andrew Black, Ivan Janssens, Alexander Knohl, Denis Loustau, Olivier Roupsard, Andrej Varlagin, Serge Rambal, Alessandro Cescatti, Damiano Gianelle, Hiroaki Kondo, **Rijan Tamrakar** and Miguel D. Mahecha (Appendix B of this thesis) Published in *Nature ecology and evolution* (MUSAVI et al., 2017)

The study looked at the inter-annual variability (IAV) of photosynthetic capacity at light saturation, a key ecosystem functional property determining gross primary productivity. The study found that the older and species rich forest had reduced IAV of photosynthetic capacity at light saturation. In this paper, I provided data from the Hainich site and edits to the manuscript.

Finally, we conclude this thesis with a synopsis (chapter 5) - findings from three chapters and appendix chapters. Here, I also include broader discussion on the implications of forest structure on carbon fluxes and in particularly during droughts. Finally, I give an outlook on the future direction of research on effect of forest structure on drought response.

chapter 2

Implications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual carbon dioxide fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests

Authors: **Rijan Tamrakar**, Mark Rayment, Fernando Moyano, Martina Mund, Alexander Knohl

Published in 'Agriculture and Forest Meteorology' (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2018.08.027

2.1 Abstract

The effects of structural diversity on the carbon dioxide exchange (CO_2) of forests has become an important area of research for improving the predictability of future CO_2 budgets. We report the results of a paired eddy covariance tower study with 11 years of data on two forest sites of similar mean stand age, near-identical site conditions, and dominated by beech trees (Fague sylvatica), but with a very different stand structure (incl. age, diameter distribution, stocks of dead wood and species composition) because of different management regimes. Here we address the question of how management and related structural diversity may affect CO_2 fluxes, and tested the hypothesis that more structurally diverse stands are less sensitive to variations in abiotic and biotic drivers. Higher annual net ecosystem productivity (NEP) was observed in the managed, even-aged, and homogenous forest (585 \pm 57.8 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹), than in the unmanaged, uneven-aged, and structurally diverse forest (487 ± 144 g C m² yr⁻¹). About two-third of the difference in NEP between the sites was contributed by a higher annual gross primary productivity (GPP, 1627 ± 164 vs 1558 ± 118 g C m² yr⁻¹) and one-third by a lower annual ecosystem respiration (Reco, 1042 ± 60 vs 1071 ± 96 g C m² yr⁻¹) in the homogenous forest. Spring (April - May) and summer (June – July) were the two main seasons contributing to the overall annual differences between the sites, also, the sensitivities of seasonal NEP and GPP to environmental variables were stronger in the homogenous forest during those periods. Inter-annual variation of NEP was higher in the homogenous forest (coefficient of variation (CV) = 25%) compared to the heterogeneous forest (CV = 12%). At annual time scale, the higher variability of NEP in the homogenous forest is attributed to biotic factors such as fruit production and a time-dependent growth trend, outweighing differences in environmental sensitivities.

2.2 Introduction

The carbon uptake of forests is affected by changes in both abiotic and biotic factors (CHEN et al., 2015; CIAIS et al., 2005). The former includes temperature, radiation, water and nutrient availability, and their intra and inter-annual variability. Biotic factors include plant functional traits such as nutrient status, structure, phenology, etc., that govern photosynthesis and respiration process (JENSEN et al., 2017) as well as inter- and intra-specific competition. Identifying and under- standing the factors that contribute to the variability in net carbon dioxide (CO₂) uptake, i.e. net ecosystem productivity (NEP), between forest ecosystems and the atmosphere is crucial for understanding how forests will respond to and affect future climate (BALDOCCHI et al., 2001; LUO et al., 2015) as well as for answering questions relevant to forest management and ecology.

Many eddy covariance (EC) flux studies (e.g. BARR et al. 2007; DRAGONI et al. 2011; HUI et al. 2017; HUMPHREYS et al. 2011; JENSEN et al. 2017; KITAMURA et al. 2012; RICHARDSON et al. 2009; SHAO et al. 2015; SHAO et al. 2016; WU et al. 2013; YUAN et al. 2009) have attributed the inter-annual variability (IAV) of NEP variously to climatic variables, to phenological changes induced by climatic variables and to biotic changes, with RICHARDSON et al. (2009) contending that, on an annual scale, variation in NEP is more strongly dominated by changes in biotic factors than by climate. To date, most studies have focused on under- standing effects of climate and biotic changes on CO_2 fluxes at single sites (GRANIER et al., 2008; PILEGAARD et al., 2011; WILKINSON et al., 2012) or across contrasting ecosystem types (BALDOCCHI et al., 2005; CHU et al., 2016; JENSEN et al., 2017; MA et al., 2007; NOVICK et al., 2015; PEREIRA et al., 2007; SHAO et al., 2014; SHAO et al., 2015; SHAO et al., 2016; WU et al., 2012). Other studies have used multiple sites from across global and regional networks to understand the variability of CO_2 fluxes from different plant functional types and/or climatic zones (BEER et al., 2010; CHEN et al., 2015; LAW et al., 2002; MUSAVI et al., 2017). Such studies have been beneficial for understanding the underlying causes of variability in CO₂ uptake, but because flux stations are not closely located, there are typically very large differences in the environmental conditions be- tween sites, making it challenging to disentangle the effects of abiotic vs biotic factors. The short period of time analysed is also a limitation found in some studies (ANTHONI et al., 2004; HOMMELTENBERG et al., 2014; JENSEN et al., 2017). Only a few have investigated how structure and management scheme affect CO₂ fluxes (HERBST et al., 2015; MUSAVI et al., 2017) even though it is reasonable to suppose that these are important drivers of CO_2 fluxes and that they may interact with climate and biotic variables (LUYSSAERT, 2014). Here we present a case study that, in contrast, focuses on two forest sites that a) are characterized by similar site conditions, b) have a si- milar mean age, and c) are both dominated by beech trees (Faque sylvatica) but differ in management regime and structure. We thus tackle the question of how management and related structural diversity may affect CO_2 fluxes, and directly test the hypothesis that more structurally diverse stands are less sensitive to variations in abiotic and biotic dri- vers. This study builds on the work of HERBST et al. (2015), which was done at the same sites and showed their difference in carbon uptake and water use. We seek to identify the major drivers of seasonal and inter-annual variability of net ecosystem productivity (NEP), gross primary productivity (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (Reco) of a structurally diverse and a structurally-homogeneous temperate broadleaf forest. We test two hypotheses: 1) The annual NEP and GPP of the homogeneous forest is more sensitive to variation in climate variables compared to the hetero-geneous forest. A study utilizing tree rings has shown that pro-ductivity of diverse temperate beech forests exhibited higher temporal stability than monoculture forests mainly due to lower inter-annual variation as well as due to overvielding because of asynchronous behaviour of different tree species and their interactions (JUCKER et al., 2014). GROSSIORD et al. (2014c) observed higher water availability in mixed temperate beech forests than in single species forests during drought, which they speculate as result of niche partitioning and/or facilitation processes among the inter- acting species. 2) NEP and GPP of the homogeneous forest is more sensitive to in-trinsic species-determined characteristics such as fruit production. Synchronous fruit production, also known as masting, is a sink for plant resources that may compete with vegetative growth (OBESO, 2002) and a negative correlation between fruit production and ra- dial stem increment has been observed (DITTMAR et al., 2003; SELÅS et al., 2002). HERBST et al. (2015) reported higher fruit production in the homogenous forest and here we will also quantify the effect of fruit production on annual NEP and GPP.

2.3 Material and methods

2.3.1 Site description

Data were obtained from two forest sites, Hainich (DE-Hai) and Leinefelde (DE-Lnf), located in central Germany (Figure 2.1). The two sites are ca. 30 km apart both at an altitude of 450 m mean above sea level. Soil at both sites is composed of Triassic limestone covered with variable Pleistocene loess deposits. The climate is suboceanic-submontane with a long-term annual mean air temperature of ca. 8 °C. General site characteristics are given in Table 2.1. The phenology of both sites is similar, with the dormant season lasting typically from November to March and growing season lasting from April to October.



Figure 2.1: Map showing the location of the two study sites in the central Germany. Darker patches are forests and white dots show the positions of the eddy covariance flux towers at each site. Map of Germany in inset is not to scale.

Hainich: The Hainich site (DE-Hai) is an unmanaged forest with a heterogeneous structure, located in the central part of the Hainich National Park. Site details can be found in ANTHONI et al. (2004) and KNOHL et al. (2003). Until the end of the 19th century, it was managed as a coppice-with-standards system and was subjected to selective cutting until 1965. From 1965 to 1997, the area was used as a military training base and a large part of the forest was left untouched, with only single and very valuable trees being cut. The forest has never been clear felled and, as a result, it exhibits characteristics of

Characteristics	Hainich (DE-Hai)	Leinefelde (DE-Lnf)
Latitude	51°04'45,36"N	51°19'41,58"N
Longitude	10°27'07,20"E	10°22'04,08"E
Altitude [m]	440	450
Soil	Pleistocene loess deposits with dom-	Pleistocene loess deposits with
	inance of Cambisols	dominance of Luvisols
Instrumentation		
EC measuring height [m]	44	44
Displacement height [m]	22	22
Sonic anemometer	Gill Sonic Model R3	Gill Sonic Model R3
Infra-red gas analyser (IRGA)	Li6262	Li6262
Stand characteristics		
Primary species	Fagus sylvatica L (64)., Fraxinus ex-	Fagus sylvatica L. (single Quer-
	celsior L. (28), Acer pseudoplatanus	$cus \ petraea)$
	L (7). and other species	
Biomass $[t C ha^{-1}]$	212	237
Plant density $[\text{trees ha}^{-1}]$	334	224
Canopy height [m]	35	35
LAI $[m^2 m^2]$	5.1	4.2
Age [years]	Maximum up to 265, biomass	130 ± 8
	weighted average $= 140$	

Table 2.1: Instrumentation and stand characteristics for the research sites. Hainich

an unmanaged, old-growth forest with highly diverse horizontal and vertical structure, trees covering a wide range of age classes, up to a maximum of around 265 years, and large amounts of dead wood (both standing dead wood and coarse woody debris). The main tree species in the forest are beech (*Fagus sylvatica*, ca. 64% of tree biomass), ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*, ca. 28%), and sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus*, ca. 7%), with some single trees of European hornbean (*Carpinus betulus*), elm (*Ulmus glabra*), maple (*Acer platanoides*) and other deciduous species. The main ground vegetation in the forest includes *Allium ursinum*, *Mercurialis perennis* and *Anemone nemorosa* (MUND, 2004). The Hainich flux tower site is located on a gentle north facing slope (2–3 inclination) surrounded by forest for more than 3 km in the prevailing wind direction. The only change in the surface land use is a small clearing located about 800 m perpendicular to the prevailing wind, with only 5% contribution to the overall wind direction (KNOHL et al., 2003).

Leinefelde The Leinefelde site (DE-Lnf) is an even-aged, about 130 years old, pure beech forest that was established and thinned as part of a regular shelterwood system with a rotation period of about 120-140 years. In recent years the management starts to transfer the shelterwood system towards a system of target diameter harvesting. Crown thinning – thinning of dominant trees to reduce crowding within the main canopy – is carried out regularly every 5-10 years. The thinning activity in the footprint area of the flux tower is presented in Figure 2.10. The ground vegetation includes *Galium odoratum*, *Melica nutans*, *Milium effusum*, *Oxalis acetosella*, and *Stellaria holostea*. The eddy covariance flux tower has been in operation since April 2002. No measurements were carried out in this site from 2007 to 2009 due to access limitation.

2.3.2 Eddy covariance and meteorological measurements

Fluxes of carbon dioxide, water vapor, sensible heat, and momentum along with standard meteorological variables were measured at the two study sites. The two sites had identical eddy covariance instrumental setup and data acquisition techniques. The eddy covariance measurement system consisted of a three-dimensional sonic anemometer (Solent R3, Gill Instruments Ltd., Lymington, UK) and a fast response closed-path CO_2/H_2O infrared gas analyser in absolute mode (LI-6262, LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA). The tube connecting the gas inlet and gas analyser was 50 m. Data were collected on a field computer using the "EddySoft" software developed by O. Kolle from MPI-Biogeochemistry, Jena, Germany (Kolle and Rebmann, 2010). Detailed information about the instrumentation can be found in ANTHONI et al. (2004) and KNOHL et al. (2003). The turbulent fluxes were calculated using "EddyPro" software with same settings for both sites and all years. We followed AUBINET et al. (1999) and FOKEN et al. (2004) for quality control of the data collection and analyses. We used the "Fluxnet" online-tool (http://www.bgc-jena.mpg.de/bgi/index. php/Services/REddyProcWeb) and the REddyProc package in R (WUTZLER et al., 2018) based on REICHSTEIN et al. (2005) to obtain a continuous dataset of net ecosystem exchange and for partitioning this into gross primary production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (Reco). Standard meteorological data were measured at both the sites. ANTHONI et al. (2004) and KNOHL et al. (2003) describe the details of the meteorological variables and instrumentation. We used the BILJOU model to calculate a water availability index (WAI). Details of this model are available in GRANIER et al. (1999).

2.3.3 Fruit production data

Periodical fruit production is an important characteristic of beech forests. In this study, we included fruit production as a biotic variable that is assumed to affect annual carbon fluxes. The fruits (seed and pericarp) were collected in litter traps (DE-Hai 25, DE-Lnf 21 traps of 0.25 m^2) distributed within the main footprint, dried at 70 °C and weighed. The traps were closed plastic funnels with a small sieve at the bottom for retaining fruits while allowing drainage. The funnels were fixed on a pillar about 50 cm above the ground so that herbivores (mostly mice) were kept out.

2.3.4 Statistical analysis

Data from April 2002 to 2006 and from 2010 to 2016, the period with complete flux and meteorological data, was used to investigate the effect of meteorological variables on seasonal fluxes. We calculated zero-order correlations and slopes of the simple linear regressions between seasonal fluxes and meteorological variables. We also tested the differences of the sensitivities of seasonal CO_2 fluxes to meteorological variables between sites (LENTH, 2017).

At annual scale, we used data from 2003 to 2006 and 2010 to 2016 (no fruit production data was available for 2002). Paired T-tests were applied to test for significant differences in annual CO_2 fluxes and meteorological variables between the sites. For selecting which predictor explained annual NEP, GPP and Reco, we conducted stepwise multiple linear regression (MLR) using the Akaike Information Criteria (AIC) (FIELD et al., 2012). The predictor variables considered for the study were mean annual air temperature (T_{air}), soil

temperature (T_{soil}), global radiation (R_g), vapor pressure deficit (VPD), water availability index (WAI), spring air temperature, spring soil temperature, fruit production, growing season length, and time. The variable time was represented by calendar year. Thus, it integrates the effects of factors that vary and correlate with time, such as growth, effects of CO₂ fertilization (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2017), phenology (BALDOCCHI, 2018; FROELICH et al., 2015; GRANIER et al., 2008; PILEGAARD et al., 2011; URBANSKI et al., 2007), and changes in nutrient deposition (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2017). To create a model applicable to both sites, we defined a MLR model using all the variables selected as significant during the per-site fits and fitted it again, this time to the combined data from both sites. To estimate the relative effects of model predictor variables on response variables, we calculated the 'product measure' which distributes the overall model \mathbb{R}^2 to each of the predictors (NATHANS et al., 2012). Product measure is the product of a predictor's β -coefficient (standardized slope) in a MLR model and its zero-order correlation. We also conducted simple regressions of predictors against the model residuals, i.e. after having removed the effects of other predictor variables via multiple linear regression. R version 3.4.3 was used for analyses (R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM, 2018).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Meteorological characteristics

The two sites were meteorologically similar (Figure 2.2). Averaged yearly global radiation (R_g) from 2002 to 2016 was 122.4 \pm 6.5 W m⁻² (mean \pm sd) in DE-Hai and 124.0 \pm $7.2 \text{ W} \text{ m}^{-2}$ in DE-Lnf (Figure 2.2a). Mean annual temperature (T_{air}) during the study period was 8.34 ± 0.72 °C and 8.30 ± 0.7 °C for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. This similarity was consistent for all years with no statistically significant differences between the sites. The mean annual soil temperature (T_{soil}) was 7.61 \pm 0.36 °C and 8.23 \pm 0.38 °C for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. A systematically higher value of 0.62 °C was measured in DE-Lnf (p < 0.001), possibly resulting from differences in the measurement depth between the sites (5 vs 4 cm in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively, Figure 2.11). Mean annual vapor pressure deficit (VPD) was 3.45 ± 0.56 hPa and 3.28 ± 0.41 hPa at DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively, with no statistical difference between the sites. Mean annual precipitation - based on a single pluviometer per site - was significantly lower (p < 0.001) in DE-Lnf (601 ± 154 mm) than in DE-Hai (744 ± 152 mm). Although DE-Lnf received less rainfall, the mean annual water availability index (WAI) was similar between the sites in most years, with average values of 0.86 and 0.84 in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. We didn't observe temporal trend in any meteorological variables (Table 2.4).

2.4.2 Fruit production (masting) in the study sites

Figure 2.3 shows the fruit production (masting) data for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf from 1999 to 2016. Data for 2001 and 2002 was not available due to technical issues. The average fruit production for the entire period was $73.2 \pm 77.9 \text{ g C m}^2 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and $91.2 \pm 113.1 \text{ g C m}^2 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. We define masting years as those when fruit production is more than 50 g C m² yr⁻¹. Masting years occurred every two or three years. Average fruit production during such years was $151 \pm 46.3 \text{ g C m}^2 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ and 197 $\pm 91.8 \text{ g C m}^2 \text{ yr}^{-1}$ for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively, with the former being 76 % of



the latter. The significant differences between DE-Lnf und DE-Hai are restricted to the extraordinarily high mast years (fruit production $> 200 \text{ g C m}^{-2}$).

Figure 2.2: Mean annual values of (a) global radiation (R_g) and air temperature (T_{air}); (b) soil temperature (T_{soil}) and vapor pressure deficit (VPD); and (c) water availability index (WAI) and rainfall are shown from 2002 to 2016. T_{soil} was measured at 5 cm for DE-Hai and 4 cm for DE-Lnf.

2.4.3 Cumulative net ecosystem productivity (NEP)

Figure 2.4 shows gap-filled cumulative net ecosystem productivity (NEP) data calculated from eddy covariance measurements of fluxes. Positive values correspond to a cumulative net uptake of CO_2 by the vegetation (atmospheric sink) and negative values a net loss (atmospheric source). At the beginning of each year, both forests are sources of CO_2 . The



Figure 2.3: Total annual fruit production (g C m² yr⁻¹) in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf from 1999 to 2016. No data was recorded in 2001 and 2002.

average day of the year (doy) at which the net daily NEP switches from source to sink (i.e. shortly after leaf-out when the rate of change in the cumulative NEP goes from negative to positive) was 125 and 121 for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively (Table 2.5). But this was observed as early as doy 111 in DE-Hai and 112 in DE-Lnf in 2014, and as late as doy 134 in DE-Hai in 2010 and doy 130 in DE-Lnf in 2013. The forests continued to act as an overall C sink in average for 164 days and 168 days for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. This



Figure 2.4: Cumulative net ecosystem productivity for (a) DE-Hai and (b) DE-Lnf. The solid lines indicate masting years and the dashed lines indicate remaining years. The vertical grey bars indicate the time of leaf out and leaf fall. The positive values of NEP indicate a cumulative carbon uptake by the ecosystem.

growing season length was significantly correlated with mean annual temperature (Figure 2.12). Longer growing season length and earlier start of growing season corresponded to higher annual carbon fluxes (Figure 2.13c, f, i).

Most of the variation in annual cumulative NEP occurred between the period of leaf out and leaf fall. The inter-annual variability in NEP during the growing season was larger in DE-Lnf compared to DE-Hai. On average, NEP in masting years was lower than in other years, with this difference being particularly visible in DE-Lnf (black solid lines in Figure 2.4b). The lowest cumulative NEP for both sites was measured in 2004, a year characterized by high fruit production but not the highest value observed during the study period.



Figure 2.5: (a) The average annual NEP cycle, bar represents 95% confidence interval at 5% significance level and (b) standard deviation of weekly NEP. The grey horizontal bars show the range of the leaf out and leaf fall days of the two sites.

2.4.4 Seasonal variability of the CO_2 fluxes

Both sites have a similar average annual cycle of NEP (Figure 2.5a). Each point corresponds to the mean across years of weekly sums of NEP. Both forests reached the highest carbon uptake rate between doy 165 and 175. DE-Lnf showed a higher positive NEP at the start of the growing season, and DE-Hai was a stronger carbon source (black solid lines in Figure 2.5) from November to December.

Tabl (mear (mear and N	e 2.2: Zer t of month ID (Noven	o-order dy value 1ber – I	correla ss) for J Jecembe	ttion coe JFM (Ja er) in D	efficients muary - E-Hai aı	betwee March) nd DE-1	en seaso , AM (/ Lnf. Bol	nal carb April – M ld numb	on flux Aay), J. ers are	es (NEF J (June- statistic	, GPP ε July), J eal signif	and Rec A (Aug icant va	co) and ust), SC alues at	meteoro (Septe $p < 0.0$	ological mber – 15.	variables October)
Season	site	T_{air}			$\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{soil}}$			R_{g}			VPD			WAI		
		NEP	GPP	Reco	NEP	дрр	Reco	NEP	брр	Reco	NEP	дрр	Reco	NEP	дрр	Reco
JFM	DE-Hai	-0.51		0.45	-0.52		0.58	-0.45		0.34	-0.55		0.41			
	DE-Lnf	-0.57		0.78	-0.49		0.71	-0.47		0.6	-0.66		0.8			
AM	DE-Hai	0.85	0.88	0.82	0.87	0.91	0.85	0.6	0.53	0.34	0.42	0.33	0.12			
	DE-Lnf	0.8	0.85	0.82	0.84	0.9	0.87	0.63	0.59	0.38	0.37	0.35	0.23			
LL LL	DE-Hai	0.22	0.38	0.34	0.27	0.25	0.1	0.27	0.51	0.48	0.11	0.32	0.36	0	-0.07	-0.1
	DE-Lnf	0.11	0.24	0.37	-0.15	-0.04	0.2	0.57	0.54	0.21	0.16	0.23	0.24	-0.1	0	0.18
A	DE-Hai	-0.36	-0.27	-0.02	-0.36	-0.24	0.06	-0.38	-0.33	-0.15	-0.5	-0.49	-0.35	0.65	0.68	0.54
	DE-Lnf	-0.27	-0.24	0.06	-0.41	-0.34	0.13	-0.17	-0.17	-0.02	-0.23	-0.35	-0.3	0.08	0.37	0.65
SO	DE-Hai	0.75	0.83	0.74	0.79	0.86	0.73	0.87	0.88	0.55	0.65	0.69	0.53	-0.32	-0.33	-0.23
	DE-Lnf	0.62	0.7	0.81	0.7	0.77	0.86	0.76	0.8	0.75	0.46	0.52	0.59	-0.19	-0.18	-0.12
ND	DE-Hai	-0.76		0.79	-0.75		0.74	-0.78		0.79	-0.67		0.76			
	DE-Lnf	-0.69		0.75	-0.72		0.76	-0.61		0.64	-0.52		0.63			

Oct	
oer –	
eml)
Sept	¢
0	
), S	
gust	-
(Aug	
Ā	
ıly),	
J.	-
June	
С Г	
y), J	
Maj	
- -	
Apr	-
N	ĥ
), A	F
arch	F F
- M	-
ury -	•
anua	F
[]	٩
JFN	
for .	
(es)	4
valu	
hly	-
ont	
of m	1
an (1.1
(me	ĺ
	(mean of monthly values) for JFM (January - March), AM (April – May), JJ (June- July), A (August), SO (September – Oct


Figure 2.6: Slopes (B) between seasonal CO₂ fluxes (NEP - column 1, GPP - column 2 and Reco – column 3) and meteorological variables (mean of monthly values) for JFM (January - March), AM (April - May), JJ (June - July), A (August), SO (September – October) and ND (November - December). The larger circles and squares indicate slopes, which are significantly different from zero. *** indicate statistical significant difference of slopes between two sites at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1 at bottom of each figure (if any). The first letter of each month is used in the timescale.

Figure 2.5b shows the standard deviation of weekly NEP across years. The standard deviation of the early weeks of the year was low at both sites, and increased with the start of the growing season. A higher standard deviation in NEP was observed in DE-Lnf (dashed lines in Figure 2.5b) over the entire growing season. In DE-Hai (black solid lines in Figure 2.5b), the highest standard deviation was observed between doy 215 and 230. During the last days of the year, DE-Hai exhibited a higher standard deviation compared to DE-Lnf. For further analysis, we separated the year into different seasons, winter months (November – December: ND, January - March: JFM), spring (April – May: AM), summer (June- July: JJ), August (A) and fall (September – October: SO), to account for the different drivers and dynamcs of NEP in these periods. August was treated separately from the main growing season as it is a particularly dry month and large variability observed in this period (see Figure 2.5b and Table 2.2).

2.4.5 Meteorological factors controlling seasonal variability in CO_2 fluxes

For each site, Table 2.2 (correlation coefficients) and Figure 2.6 (absolute slopes) show the effect of measured meteorological factors on CO_2 fluxes for different seasons of the year (see section 2.4.4). In winter, NEP was correlated with T_{air} , T_{soil} , R_g , and VPD at both sites with stronger correlation in ND than JFM (Table 2.2). In ND, NEP was significantly sensitive (higher absolute slopes) to T_{air} , T_{soil} and VPD in DE-Hai than in DE-Lnf (Figure 2.6).

With the arrival of spring (April May, AM), T_{soil} became the most important factor controlling spring NEP, GPP and Reco in both sites, followed in importance by T_{air} , and R_g . A 1 °C change in spring T_{soil} changed the NEP by 28.07 ± 6.92 and 38.74 ± 11.19 mathrmg C m⁻² month⁻¹ in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. NEP was driven mainly by GPP, as seen by comparing $B_{TsoilGPP}$ (slope between T_{soil} and GPP, Figure 2.6e) and $B_{TsoilReco}$ (slope between T_{soil} and Reco, Figure 2.6f) for this period. NEP and GPP of DE-Lnf was more sensitive to T_{soil} than DE-Hai with significantly higher B_{Tsoil} NEP (Figure 2.6d) and B_{Tsoil} GPP (Figure 2.6e).

In summer (June – July, JJ), R_g remained a significant factor while other relationships weakened. In DE-Hai, R_g showed a weak relationship with NEP but significantly correlated with both GPP and Reco, while in DE-Lnf it was significantly correlated with NEP and GPP. The sensitivity of NEP and GPP to R_g was higher in DE-Lnf compared to DE-Hai. A change in 1 W m⁻² of R_g increased NEP by 0.74 \pm 0.47 (p < 0.01) g C m² month⁻¹ in DE-Lnf and about 0.23 \pm 0.37 (p = 0.11) g C m² month⁻¹ in DE-Hai and the difference between the sites is significant (p < 0.1). In August (A), only the soil water availability index (WAI) correlated significantly with CO₂ fluxes, specifically with NEP, GPP and Reco in DE-Hai and only with Reco in DE-Lnf. In fall (September – October, SO), T_{air}, T_{soil}, R_g and VPD, again became significantly correlated with NEP, GPP and Reco in both sites, with high correlation values for the first three and slightly lower ones for VPD.

2.4.6 Seasonal differences in CO_2 fluxes between the two sites

In addition to slopes, we also looked at differences of average seasonal sums of NEP, GPP and Reco between sites (Figure 2.7). Significantly higher NEPs observed in DE-Lnf than in DE-Hai in JFM and ND (5.48 and 17.79 g C m⁻² month⁻¹, Figure 2.7a) was due to lower

Reco in DE-Lnf (Figure 2.7c). DE-Lnf also acted as a stronger carbon sink in the spring (26 g C m⁻² month⁻¹) which was mostly due to higher GPP of 24 g C m⁻² month⁻¹. In JJ, difference between NEP in two sites were insignificant because both GPP and Reco in DE-Lnf were significantly higher by 19.08 g C m⁻² month⁻¹ and 10.94 g C m⁻² month⁻¹, respectively. During August, NEP and GPP were similar in both sites, however, a higher Reco was observed in DE-Lnf (10.04 g C m⁻² month⁻¹). In the fall, NEP, GPP and Reco were lower in DE-Lnf but differences were insignificant.



Figure 2.7: Difference in sum of (a) NEP, (b) GPP and (c) Reco between the two sites for JFM (January - March), AM (April – May), JJ (June- July), A (August), SO (September – October) and ND (November – December). The Yaxis represents X = XDE-Lnf – XDE-Hai (X being seasonal NEP, GPP or Reco). Bars represent 95% confidence interval. The dashed line marks the zero line (indicates no difference between the sites). *** indicate statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1.

2.4.7 Annual estimates of NEP, GPP and Reco

Annual gap-filled NEP, GPP and Reco for both sites are presented in Figure 2.8. Mean Annual NEP was 487 ± 57.8 (mean \pm SD for the mean of all years) and 585 ± 144

 $g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. A paired t-test showed that difference between the sites was significant (98 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, p < 0.05). We observed the largest differences in NEP between the two sites from 2010 (Table 2.6). Annual NEP was significantly more variable in DE-Lnf (Levene's test with p < 0.05), with coefficients of variation (CV) being 12 % and 25 % in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. A significant temporal trend of NEP was observed only for DE-Lnf, with an increase of 21.8 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ (p < 0.05). The mean of annual GPP values at DE-Hai and DE-Lnf was 1559 ± 118 and 1627 ± 164 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ respectively, with the difference being statistically significant (p = 0.07). Like NEP, significantly higher annual GPP was again observed in DE-Lnf from 2010 (Table 2.6). The variability in annual GPP was not significantly different between the two sites, with coefficients of variation (CV) equalling 7.5 % and 10 % in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. As for annual NEP, no temporal trend in annual GPP was observed in DE-Hai, whereas a significant trend of 25.5 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ (p < 0.05) was observed in DE-Lnf. The mean annual ecosystem respiration (Reco) was 1071 ± 96 and 1042 ± 60 $g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}$ in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively with no significant difference between sites. In contrast to annual NEP and GPP, annual Reco was lower in DE-Lnf with no significant difference. Annual Reco showed a positive temporal trend at both sites but it was statistically insignificant (Table 2.4).



Figure 2.8: Annual sums of GPP, Reco and NEP from 2003 to 2016. Data from 2007 to 2009 was not measured in DE-Lnf.

2.4.8 Factors contributing to annual variability of NEP, GPP and Reco

Together, fruit production (FP), time (see the section 2.3.4) and mean annual soil temperature (T_{soil}) explained ca. 65 % and 92 % of the variation in annual NEP in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively (Table 2.3). In DE-Hai, T_{soil} was the most important factor, followed by FP (negative correlation). In the case of DE-Lnf, time and FP explained most of the variation. Results were similar for annual GPP, with a total R^2 of 0.62 and 0.88 in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively. T_{soil} was the only significant variable for DE-Hai,

explaining most of the variation in GPP. In DE-Lnf, time was the strongest predictor variable, followed by T_{soil} and FP (negative correlation). A significant relationship between annual Reco was found only for DE-Lnf with T_{soil} as the only significant variable. Figure 2.9 shows the relationship between each of the three significant driving variables (T_{soil} , FP, time) and the three flux quantities (NEP, GPP, Reco) in terms of the residual variance remaining after the effects of the other two driving variables (e.g. FP and time, in the case of T_{soil}) have been removed. This analysis increased the amount of variation in NEP and GPP explained by T_{soil} . We tested the difference between the slopes of two sites obtained in Figure 2.9 (Table 2.7). The sensitivities of NEP on T_{soil} were similar between the sites when the effect of fruit production and time is removed. The result was similar for GPP. Similarly, fruit production was significantly correlated with residuals of NEP after removing effect of T_{soil} and time (Figure 2.9b) in both sites. We observed that residuals of GPP decreased with increased fruit production, but significant only for DE-Lnf and with a more than twice as large slope (Figure 2.9e and Table 2.7). Slope between residuals of annual Reco and fruit production was not significantly different from zero for both sites but had a positive slope for DE-Lnf. Only in DE-Lnf, we observed positive slope between time and residuals of NEP after removing the effect of T_{soil} and FP (2.9c and Table 2.7). We also observed higher slope of residuals of GPP (Figure 2.9f) compared to residuals of Reco (Figure 2.9i) to time. In DE-Hai, positive slope between time and residuals of GPP was negated by Reco, thus showing no effect in residuals of NEP.

		DE Hai			DF Lnf		
	D	DD-Hai	a			a	. .
Flux	Predictors	R2	Coefficients	Var	R2	Coefficients	Var
NEP		0.65			0.92		
	Tsoil +		110.48 *	0.49		79.94 (*)	0.07
	FP +		-0.34 (*)	0.15		-0.74 ***	0.34
	Time		-0.99	0		22.30 ***	0.51
GPP		0.62			0.88		
	Tsoil +		208.08 *	0.49		189.95 *	0.28
	FP +		-0.23	0		-0.60 **	0.13
	Time		8.93	0.13		22.57 *	0.46
Reco		0.45			0.79		
	Tsoil +		97.61	0.19		109.90 **	0.65
	FP +		0.02	0		0.14	0.14
	Time		9.92	0.25		0.27	0

Table 2.3: Major factors contributing to the variation of annual NEP, GPP and Reco. Var is the contribution of each predictor to total R^2 calculated with the product measure metric.

*** significant at p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; (*) at p < 0.1



Figure 2.9: Simple linear regressions between residuals of different carbon fluxes after removing effect of fruit production and time (1st column, a, d, g), T_{soil} and time (2nd column, b, e, h) or T_{soil} and fruit production (3rd column, c, f, i). Here time is represented by number plus 2000 for clean graph. The solid lines represent linear regression lines and dashed lines confidence interval at 5 % significance level. *** indicate statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1.

2.5 Discussions

2.5.1 Meteorological controls of seasonal CO_2 fluxes

We observed stronger sensitivity of winter Reco to T_{soil} (Figure 2.6) resulting in higher Reco in DE-Hai than in DE-Lnf, thus, higher winter NEP in DE-Lnf (Figure 2.7). Higher ecosystem respiration is most likely driven by higher stocks of decaying dead wood and by higher rates of leaf litter decomposition caused by higher leaf litter quality (proportion of litter from ash and maple trees) and a higher biological activity in the soil (MUND, 2004). In spring, NEP, GPP and Reco strongly correlated with T_{air} and T_{soil} with higher correlation values for T_{soil} in both sites. The change of NEP with T_{soil} was mostly driven by the sensitivity of GPP to T_{soil}. Similar results were also observed in Borden forest, Canada, during the spring time (Froelich et al., 2015). Spring temperature is very important for leaf unfolding and we found that the growing season started earlier when spring air temperatures were higher (Figure 2.14). Also, warm soil means favourable growth conditions for roots (ALVAREZ-URIA et al., 2007), improving nutrient and water uptake and leading to increased photosynthesis. Along with GPP, Reco also increases with increased soil temperature, due to the increased activities of tree roots and microbes (DAVIDSON et al., 1998; GONZALEZ-MELER et al., 2013). DE-Lnf was a significantly stronger sink during spring, primarily driven by GPP (Figure 2.7). We further observed higher sensitivity of GPP to T_{soil} in DE-Lnf than in DE-Hai (p < 0.1). This could be explained by an earlier physiological activity in beech than in ash (COLE et al., 2017). DE-Lnf is a beech monoculture comprising mostly vital trees at their optimal age (optimal regarding wood growth and fruit production) whereas DE-Hai has 28% ash trees and includes many small, young, suppressed, very old, semi-dead and dead trees. In summer (June - July), R_g was the most important abiotic environmental factor controlling carbon fluxes of both sites. DE-Lnf was a stronger sink with higher GPP and Reco because it is full of optimally growing trees that may have capitalised the radiation more than DE-Hai. Similarly, the stronger sensitivity of summer GPP and Reco to R_g of DE-Lnf can be attributed to optimally growing trees of similar size and age that react to weather conditions in same direction and magnitude. August is of interest for DE-Hai where soil water availability (WAI) influences its CO_2 fluxes. DE-Hai is more affected than DE-Lnf by water availability because of ash trees that are still active when WAI drops below a critical value (e.g. 2003). Trees close their stomata as the soil water availability reduces to prevent water loss (CHAVES et al., 2002) also decreasing photosynthesis and respiration.

2.5.2 Annual CO_2 fluxes and its inter-annual variability

Before comparing DE-Lnf with DE-Hai, it is useful to discuss site management and history. DE-Lnf is an example of a managed even-aged forest that was established and thinned as part of a regular shelterwood system with a rotation period of about 120-140 years. In recent years the management starts to transfer the shelterwood system towards a system of target diameter harvesting. Currently, DE-Lnf represents a mature forest at its optimum phase. If parts of the forest were not certified for seed production, and if the eddy tower were not there, the forest might have been thinned more heavily. This means under a different thinning regime or at another point in time living biomass and/or NEP might

be different. For a comparison of managed, even-aged forests with unmanaged forests a chronosequence of several even-aged stands covering the entire rotation period would be needed. We thus note that the heterogeneous stand is not being compared with the average managed beech forest in the region, but rather with a mature and productive stand. This must be considered before concluding on the general impact of management on carbon sequestration in forest ecosystems. Both the sites were strong carbon sinks despite one site being in an advanced stage of growth with trees as old as 265 years. The ranges of annual NEP were comparable with Oak Ridge forest in Tennessee, US (577 \pm 63 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, WILSON et al. 2001), Ozarks forest in Missouri, US (479 \pm 65 63 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, Shao et al. 2014), and Oak woodland forests, UK (486 \pm 115 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ , WILKINSON et al. 2012) but slightly higher than average annual NEP for temperate forests (350 \pm 100 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, Table 2.8). Average annual GPP and Reco of both sites also fell within the range average annual GPP (1506 \pm 214 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹) and Reco $(1181 \pm 158 \text{ g C m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1})$ of temperate deciduous forests. A previous study of the same sites using seven years of data (HERBST et al., 2015) reported small but non-significant difference between the sites for NEP. However, by including four more recent years we found a significant difference in NEP between the two sites. The absolute difference in mean annual NEP (98 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹) results from a higher mean annual GPP of 69 g C m-2vr-1 (2/3 of NEP) plus a lower mean annual Reco of 29 g C m⁻² vr⁻¹ (1/3 of NEP) in DE-Lnf. The higher mean annual values of NEP in DE-Lnf is due to higher annual NEP from 2010 than DE-Hai. From 2010, significantly higher GPP and lower Reco in DE-Lnf resulted in higher NEP. The higher carbon uptake in DE-Lnf was determined by the activities during winter, spring and summer (section 4.1). We observed lower coefficient of variation (CV) of annual NEP for both the sites compared to average CV of annual NEP of temperate forests. Average CV of annual NEP for temperate forests is 35% (sd $= \pm 100 \text{ g C m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1}$, BALDOCCHI 2018 and Table 2.8) with the highest CV of 66 % observed in the Borden forest (FROELICH et al., 2015) and Sorø forest (PILEGAARD et al., 2011). Interestingly, the CV of annual NEP in DE-Hai was the lowest among reported results for temperate deciduous forests and remained similar even after adding four years of data. Also, the CV of annual GPP and Reco of both sites were lower than the average for temperate deciduous forests. Like annual NEP, CV of annual GPP in DE-Hai was lowest among all the temperate deciduous broadleaved forests following the results of MUSAVI et al., 2017 that reported older and diverse forests had less variation in saturated gross primary productivity (GPPsat). Between our sites, the managed, homogeneous forest showed a higher CV in NEP and GPP than the unmanaged, heterogeneous forest. Long-term studies conducted in temperate deciduous forests have identified many factors contributing to site-specific inter-annual variation of NEP. Some studies have found that growing season length explains inter-annual variation in NEP: the Borden forest in Canada (FROELICH et al., 2015), Sorø forest in Denmark (PILEGAARD et al., 2011), Hesse forest (GRANIER et al., 2008), Morgan-Monroe State Forest in Indiana (DRAGONI et al., 2011). In our case, we observed positive correlation between growing season length and NEP and GPP (Figure 2.13e, f and g), and at the same time positive correlation between growing season length and temperatures (Figure 2.12). Among T_{air} and T_{soil} , we found stronger relationship of T_{soil} with NEP and GPP (Figure 2.15 and Figure 2.16), this could have led

to selection of T_{soil} in multiple linear model selection using AIC criteria. At an annual scale, we found that sensitivities of T_{soil} to NEP and GPP were similar based on residual analysis conducted after removing effect of fruit production and time. Other two important factors that explained annual fluxes were fruit production and time. We will discuss them separately in section 4.3 and 4.4.

2.5.3 Effect of fruit production on CO_2 fluxes

Fruit production (FP) was negatively correlated with NEP at both sites (Figure 2.17). The negative slope of NEP vs fruit production was mostly the result of a reduction of GPP in high fruit production years, i.e. photosynthesis decreased with increasing fruit production. Many studies reported that tree ring growth was reduced in years of high fruit production (e.g. HOLMSGAARD 1955; MUND et al. 2010). Different mechanisms have been reported for this reduced growth in trees, including reduced photosynthetic rates in reproductive branches due to N or P depletion in those branches (SALA et al., 2012), smaller leaves (INNES, 1992), reduced leaf area (FERRETTI et al., 1998), lower number of leaves during the mast year (HAN et al., 2008) which could be due to diminished shoot growth and increased foliar bud mortality (ISHIHARA et al., 2009) as foliar buds are replaced by seeds (INNES, 1994). It is important to note that the effect was stronger in DE-Lnf - a homogeneous forests with trees in a similar fruit-producing age class (150 -170 years) (HERBST et al., 2015). On the other hand, DE-Hai has a heterogeneous structure with different species and a wide range of tree age from 0 to 265 years. Thus, beech fruit production does not occur in all trees (Figure 2.3).

2.5.4 Effect of time on CO_2 fluxes

Many studies report that CO₂ fluxes in temperate forests have been increasing (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al. 2017; FROELICH et al. 2015; GRANIER et al. 2008; PILEGAARD et al. 2011, etc). A significant increasing temporal trend in CO_2 uptake has also been observed in ca. 80 year-old managed beech forest in Sorø, Denmark (-23 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, PILEGAARD et al. 2011), ca. 40 year-old managed beech forest in Hesse, France (-43 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, GRANIER et al. 2008) and ca. 95 year-old managed maple, red oak and white oak Harvard forest in US (-16 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹, URBANSKI et al. 2007). We observed a similar temporal trend in NEP in DE-Lnf, a managed homogeneous forest, which was not visible when HERBST et al. (2015) reported 7 years' data. The NEP of DE-Hai was reported to be - 494 g C m⁻² and - 490 g C m⁻² for 2000 and 2001, respectively by KNOHL et al. (2003) and the capacity remained in the same range for all 12 years described here, exhibiting no significant temporal trend. However, we observed positive trends in annual GPP and Reco at DE-Hai which might have cancelled resulting in no trend in NEP. The normal temporal trend in forest productivity is to follow a sigmoidal growth curve as individuals age. Overlaid on this, however, are the impacts of increasing atmospheric CO_2 concentration, decreasing sulphur deposition (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2017), increasing nitrogen deposition, as well as management activities such as thinning. Here we used time as a variable because it is hard to disentangle these effects. Thus, our observed temporal trend in DE-Lnf needs a careful interpretation because the trend appears to reflect an increase in CO₂ uptake starting from 2012 (Figure 2.8), and there was no significant temporal trend in any of the

observed meteorological variables that could explain this increase (Table 2.4). We observed a positive trend in growing season length (0.75 days per year, p < 0.05) which explained about 19 % variability in NEP (p = 0.16) but not as high as it has been reported for Hesse (GRANIER et al., 2008), Sorø (PILEGAARD et al., 2011), Borden forest (FROELICH et al., 2015), and Morgan Monroe state forest (DRAGONI et al., 2011). As an alternate hypothesis, we note that thinning operations were carried out in the main flux footprint area of DE-Lnf, and we speculate that because thinning has the effect of increasing productivity in the remaining trees, this might have impacted NEP subsequently. About 2850 g C m⁻² of biomass was thinned from the footprint area from 2002 to 2006 (Figure 2.10) with the largest thinning carried out in 2004 (782 g C m⁻²). For comparison, NEP in the period 2010 – 2016 was, in average, 171 g C m⁻² yr⁻¹ higher than in the period 2003 – 2006 (Table 2.6), amounting to 1197 g C m⁻² of additional carbon in this period. Thus, it is likely that management is a strong driver of inter-annual variability in productivity, with the changes we observed being a response to thinning extended over several years. We note that Sorø was thinned about 20 % every 10 years (PILEGAARD et al., 2011) and Hesse was thinned every five years (GRANIER et al., 2008), yet these authors did not report any significant effect of thinning on CO_2 fluxes. This could be due to the effects of thinning being seen only gradually over the following years as trees adjust to the new conditions, thus making the connection between C fluxes and thinning difficult to perceive or quantify.

2.6 Conclusions

We compared two temperate deciduous forest types with similar site and meteorological conditions but with different structure in terms of diameter distribution, age and species composition. We found that the homogeneous forest had a higher mean annual NEP than the heterogeneous forest due to lower respiration rates in winter and higher carbon uptake rates in spring and summer. CO_2 uptake by the homogeneous forest has increased in recent vears playing a key role in determining differences between the forests. We identified an overall time-effect but could not disentangle possible contributing factors such as increasing atmospheric CO_2 concentrations or effects of silvicultural management. In the introduction section, we put forward two hypotheses. Regarding hypothesis one, i.e. higher sensitivity of carbon fluxes of homogenous forests to abiotic environmental variables, we concluded that the homogenous forest showed a stronger sensitivity to abiotic environmental variables during spring (T_{soil}) and summer (R_g) causing inter-annual differences between sites. At annual scale, however, the sensitivities of CO_2 fluxes to abiotic environment variables are similar due to stronger control by biotic factors. In case of the second hypothesis, i.e. a higher negative sensitivity of CO_2 fluxes of the homogenous forest to fruit production, we see that the NEP of the homogenous forest showed a stronger sensitivity to fruit production due to a higher negative sensitivity of GPP and higher positive sensitivity of Reco to fruit production. The relationships are weak; thus, we suggest that more data are required to confirm the hypothesis. Even though both forests are of same average age, structures of these forests vary. This leads to different responses of the CO_2 fluxes to abiotic and biotic factors. Thus, it is necessary that we include structural information along with species traits (fruiting characteristics) and management activities to be able to predict the CO_2 fluxes in response to future climate.

2.7 Supplementary materials



Figure 2.10: Annual footprint weighted thinning in eddy flux footprint area (calculated using Kljun et al., 2015) of DE-Lnf from 1995 to 2016. The highest thinning of 995 g C m-2 was conducted in 2005 from the footprint area.



Figure 2.11: Linear regression between mean annual T_{soil} of DE-Lnf and DE-Hai. Dashed line represents a line with slope 1. Systematic difference between sites is due to difference in measurement depths (5 vs 4 cm in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf, respectively).

Table 2.4: Average Annual values (mean and sd) and the temporal trend during the study period for all dependent and selected predictor variables for both sites. Units for GSS (growing season start day), and GSE (growing season end day) is doy yr-1 where doy indicates Julian day of the year. Trend is the temporal trend and * indicates the statistically significant values at 5% significance level.

Variables	Units	DE-Hai		DE-Lnf	
		mean \pm sd	trend	mean \pm sd	trend
Rg	${ m W~m^{-2}}$	122 ± 6.5	0.18	124 ± 7.2	0.62
T_{air}	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	8.34 ± 0.72	0.03	8.3 ± 0.7	0.05
$T_{\rm soil}$	$^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	7.61 ± 0.36	0.01	$8.23 {\pm} 0.38$	0.02
VPD	hPa	$3.45 \pm \ 0.56$	0.02	$3.28 {\pm} 0.48$	0
Rain	mm	744 ± 152	-6.76	601 ± 154	-9.12
WAI	-	0.86 ± 0.09	-0.01	$0.84{\pm}0.1$	0
NEP	${ m g}~{ m C}~{ m m}^{-2}~{ m yr}^{-1}$	487 ± 57.8	-3.14	585 ± 144	21.8^{*}
GPP	${ m g}~{ m C}~{ m m}^{-2}~{ m yr}^{-1}$	$1558{\pm}~118$	4.25	1627 ± 164	25.5^{*}
Reco	${ m g}~{ m C}~{ m m}^{-2}~{ m yr}^{-1}$	$1071\pm~96$	0.28	$1042\pm\ 60$	0.08
GSS	doy	125 ± 7	-0.42	121 ± 5	-0.29
GSE	doy	289 ± 4	-0.35	288 ± 5	0.45
GSL	day	164 ± 7	0.07	168 ± 6	0.75^{*}

Table 2.5: Growing season start day (GSS), end day (GSE) and length (GSL) for DE-Hai and DE-Lnf during the study period.

Year	DE-Hai			DE-Lnf		
	GSS (doy)	GSE (doy)	GSL (days)	GSS (doy)	GSE (doy)	GSL (days)
2003	125	292	167	123	290	167
2004	123	288	165	121	281	160
2005	125	293	168	122	291	169
2006	127	294	167	126	294	168
2010	134	283	149	123	283	160
2011	117	288	171	114	285	171
2012	129	289	160	124	290	166
2013	131	288	157	130	292	162
2014	111	284	173	112	288	176
2015	114	284	170	117	293	176
2016	130	292	162	117	292	175
Average	125	289	164	121	289	168
Sd	7	4	7	5	4	6



Figure 2.12: Relationship between T_{air} and T_{soil} with growing season matrix. GSS is growing season start day indicated by day of the year (doy), GSE is growing season end day indicated by day of the year (doy) and GSL is growing season length indicated by number of days. CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regression lines and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.



Figure 2.13: Simple linear regression between NEP, GPP and Reco with growing season start day (GSS), growing season end day (GSE) and growing season length day (GSL). CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regression lines and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.

period	Flux	DE-Hai (mean \pm sd)	DE-Lnf (mean \pm sd)	$\mathrm{Diff}_{\mathrm{Lnf}-\mathrm{Hai}}$
			$[g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}1]$	$[{ m g~C~m^{-2}~yr^{-1}}]$
	NEP	506 ± 84	476 ± 122	30
2003-2006	GPP	1542 ± 76	1517 ± 128	25
	Reco	1035 ± 50	1040 ± 25	2
	NEP	476 ± 41	647 ± 121	171^{**}
2010-2016	GPP	1568 ± 142	1689 ± 156	121**
	Reco	1092 ± 112	1042 ± 76	-50

Table 2.6: Mean annual fluxes for two periods (2003-2006 and 2010-2016) and differences between two sites. Differences between sites were tested using paired t-test.

Table 2.7: Difference between the two sites with respect to slopes between each of the three significant driving variables (T_{soil} , FP, time) and the three flux quantities (NEP, GPP, Reco) in terms of the residual variance remaining after the effects of the other two driving variables (e.g. FP and time, in the case of T_{soil}) have been removed.

		Slope difference	
CO_2 flux	Variable	(DE-Hai – DE-Lnf)	\mathbf{SE}
NEP	T_{soil}	32.6	44.5
GPP	$T_{\rm soil}$	26.6	79.6
Reco	T_{soil}	-5.9	63.4
NEP	FP	0.4^{*}	0.2
GPP	FP	0.3	0.3
Reco	FP	-0.1	0.3
NEP	Time	-21.2**	4.3
GPP	Time	-11.9(*)	7
Reco	Time	9.3(*)	5.5



Figure 2.14: Relationship of growing season start day (GSS) and growing season length (GSL) with spring air (AM T_{air}) and soil temperature (AM T_{soil}). CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regressions and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.



Figure 2.15: Regression between annual NEP and annual mean of meteorological variables (except for rain which was summed). CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regressions and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.



Figure 2.16: Regression between annual GPP and annual mean of meteorological variables (except for rain which was summed). CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regressions and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.



Figure 2.17: Linear regression between residual of NEP, GPP and Reco after removing the effect of time and fruit production (FP). CI is 95% confidence interval of slope and rsq the coefficient of determination of linear regression, and sig its significance (*** indicates statistical significance at p < 0.001; ** at p < 0.01; * at p < 0.05; and (*) at p < 0.1). The solid lines represent linear regression lines and dashed lines 95% confidence interval.

Table 2.8: Temperate broad-leaved deciduous forests with long term eddy covariance measurements. The table was modified after BALDOCCHI (2018). CV is coefficient of variation (standard deviation divided by mean).

			NEP		GPP		Reco		
Site	Country	n	mean \pm sd	CV	mean \pm sd	CV	mean \pm sd	CV	Reference
			$[g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}]$		$[g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}]$		$[g C m^{-2} yr^{-1}]$		
Borden	Canada	18	177 ± 116	0.66	1373 ± 164	0.12	1196 ± 188	0.16	FROELICH et al.
									(2015)
Soroe	Denmark	13	156 ± 103	0.66	1727 ± 136	0.08	1570 ± 97	0.06	Pilegaard et al.
									(2011)
Hesse	France	10	386 ± 171	0.44	1397 ± 192	0.14	1011 ± 137	0.14	GRANIER et al. (2008)
Takayama	Japan	9	237 ± 98	0.41	1110 ± 409	0.37	829 ± 264	0.32	SAIGUSA et al. (2005)
Straights In-	UK	12	486 ± 115	0.24	1993 ± 275	0.14	1548 ± 192	0.12	Pilegaard et al.
closure									(2011)
Morgan-	US	13	351 ± 81	0.23	1452 ± 118	0.08	1098 ± 82	0.07	Sulman et al. (2016)
Monroe									
Harvard	US	13	245 ± 100	0.41	1400 ± 164	0.12	1153 ± 105	0.09	Urbanski et al.
Forest, Peter-									(2007)
sham									
Ozarks	US	5	479 ± 65	0.14	1125 ± 164	0.15	646 ± 121	0.19	Shao et al. (2014)
Duke Forest,	US	8	402 ± 96	0.24	1982 ± 300	0.15	1580 ± 237	0.15	NOVICK et al. (2015)
Durham									
Oak Ridge	US	5	577 ± 63	0.11	$Na \pm Na$	Na	$Na \pm Na$	Na	WILSON et al. (2001)
Average			350 ± 100	0.35	1506 ± 214	0.15	1181 ± 158	0.14	

CHAPTER 3

Effect of forest structure on drought response of ecosytem-level photosynthetic capacity

Manuscript to be submitted to 'Biogeosciences'

3.1 Abstract

Understanding the effect of forest stand structure on the temporal stability of ecosystem functions and resistance during droughts is key to understanding how forests may respond to climate change. Whilst many studies have looked at the effect of species, few have studied the effect of horizontal and vertical structural diversity. Here, we look at the effect of nine structural parameters (including species richness) on the temporal stability of ecosystem-level light-saturated photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{1000}) and its resistance to changes in water availability during droughts, with the aim of answering two questions, (a) Do structurally diverse forests have lower variation in annual GPP_{1000} ? (b) structurally diverse forests more resistant to drought events? We found that unmanaged forests and forests managed as high forests with higher basal areas, which also tend to be older and more diverse in size, had more stable annual GPP_{1000} . Conversely, no structural parameters were found that explained GPP_{1000} anomalies during drought years. Instead, differences between sites in anomalies in GPP_{1000} were mostly explained by growing season air temperature. With relatively few flux sites having robust data on structural parameters, the statistical power of this type of analysis is limited, but we hope that with the availability of more canopy structural data from sites with long-term flux measurements we will be better able to understand the effect of structure on forest ecosystem functions.

3.2 Introduction

Forest structure – associated with the distribution of trees in space (both horizontally and vertically) and their variability in size – influences the local environmental conditions within stand (e.g. distribution of light and precipitation) affecting ecosystem functioning (e.g. ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity). The changes in ecosystem functioning again modify the forest structure (see Figure 1 in PRETZSCH et al. 2016). Forest structure plays thus an important role in determining ecosystem functioning and stand dynamics. Stand structural attributes like density, size distributions, size variation (of diameter and heights), spatial variation, age composition, species richness, canopy structure, etc. (MCELHINNY et al., 2005; POMMERENING, 2002; Río et al., 2016; SEIDL et al., 2017) are used to quantify stand structure. There exist numerous indices to quantify stand structure either using a single stand structural attribute or a combination of them (see review by Río et al., 2016). Several advantages of structurally heterogeneous forests have been listed by SCHALL et al. (2018), like, increase in productivity, promotion of biodiversity, resistance and resilience against disturbances and equally profitable as structurally less heterogeneous forests. Hence, understanding the effect of forest stand structure on ecosystem productivity (FIRN et al., 2007; GAMFELDT et al., 2013; LEI et al., 2009; LIANG et al., 2016; MITTELBACH et al., 2001; MORIN et al., 2011; ZHANG et al., 2012) and stability (JUCKER et al., 2014; MORIN et al., 2014) has been an important area of research in the recent years.

In many cases, stand structure is the result of management regime, for e.g., old growth forests with high heterogeneity results from cessation of management and young forests with low heterogeneity from clear cut. POMMERENING et al. (2013) highlighted that management activities like thinnings led to a high number of pairs of large and small trees close to each other.

Most studies have focused on the effect of tree species diversity (e.g. GAMFELDT et al., 2013; LIANG et al., 2016; ZHANG et al., 2012, etc) on ecosystem functions and few on other indices of stand structure (LEI et al., 2009; LEXERØD et al., 2006; LONG et al., 2010). In the case of temperate forests, where limited numbers of tree species grow (SCHULZE et al., 2016), understanding the effect of structural indices like age distribution, size distribution or canopy complexity may be key to understand the variability in stress response. The effect of structural diversity on ecosystem functions and its resistance or resilience to droughts have been less studied. But there are indications that increasing stand canopy complexity through a diverse age distribution improves the productivity of forest ecosystem (HARDIMAN et al., 2013). The forest structural indices based on diameter and height distribution had stronger positive effect on productivity than indices based on species diversity (DĂNESCU et al., 2016). LEI et al. (2009) have argued that structurally diverse could enhance resource use through niche complementaries, given the presence of different horizontal and vertical layers, both at the canopy and soil.

The biotic and abiotic factors that drive inter-annual variability of terrestrial CO_2 exchange (CHEN et al., 2015; CIAIS et al., 2005) is important for understanding how forests will respond to future climate and improve the predictability of global CO_2 budgets (BALDOCCHI et al., 2001; LUO et al., 2015). Biotic factors – functional traits of ecosystems such as nutrient status, phenology, maximum photosynthetic capacity etc., that govern photosynthesis and respiration process (JENSEN et al., 2017) – have been shown to explain the inter-annual variability of CO_2 fluxes (MA et al., 2011; RICHARDSON et al., 2007). Maximum annual photosynthetic capacity of an ecosystem (GPP_{1000p}) – a biotic factor reflecting maximum ecosystem-level photosynthesis, is defined as the value of gross primary productivity (GPP) at saturating light under non-stressed conditions (MUSAVI et al., 2017). GPP_{1000p} , estimate of 90th percentile of daily maximum photosynthetic capacity, is a key variable in understanding the inter-annual variation in CO_2 (MUSAVI et al., 2015). GPP_{1000p} highly correlates not only with annual GPP (XIA et al., 2015) but also with net CO_2 flux of ecosystems (REICHSTEIN et al., 2014). The magnitude of inter-annual variability in GPP_{1000p} considerably varies across ecosystem (MUSAVI et al., 2016). MUSAVI et al. (2017) showed that the magnitude of inter-annual variability in GPP_{1000p} is strongly influenced by the age of the forest ecosystem – age is defined as the average tree age of the stand or the age of the stand since the last major disturbance that caused stand replacement. They reported lower magnitude of inter-annual variability GPP_{1000p} – indicating ecosystem functioning was not very sensitive to climatic variability – in older and diverse forests compared to younger forests. However, they do not offer a mechanistic explanation of their finding. Niche complementarity is driven by the forest structure and not just by age or species number. For example, light use among individual trees in a forest depends on tree architecture (YACHI et al., 2007). The niche partition of the light resource and the space in the forests are reflected by the correlation of the position and size of the tree canopy with light capture (ISHII et al., 2013).

In recent years climate warming has increased the frequency and severity of drought and heat-wave events. For the decade of 2006 to 2015, the observed global mean surface temperature was 0.87 °C (0.75 °C to 0.99 °C) higher than the average over the period of 1850 to 1900 and it is expected to reach 1.5 °C between 2030 to 2052 (IPCC, 2018). This increase in average surface temperature also means an increase in extreme events (IPCC, 2012). SCHLEUSSNER et al. (2017) showed an increase in the number of hot days and warm nights from the period of 1960 - 1979 to 1991 - 2010. Some of the heat extremes in the last years (COUMOU et al., 2013; HANSEN et al., 2012) include the European heat-waves of 2003 (CIAIS et al., 2005), 2006 (REBETEZ et al., 2009), and 2018, and the Russian heat-wave in 2010 (BARRIOPEDRO et al., 2011). BARRIOPEDRO et al. (2011) predicted a likelihood of an increase of extreme heatwaves by five to tenfold in Europe by the mid-21st century. These heatwaves are also intrinsically linked with drought, for example in 2003, the annual precipitation was 50 % below average. Model results predict an increase in dryness in temperate regions of the US and Europe in the future (GREVE et al., 2015).

Under the drought conditions, the photosynthetic capacity of forests decrease due to combined effects of stomatal, mesophyll and biochemical limitations (LIMOUSIN et al., 2010; STPAUL et al., 2012; ZHOU et al., 2015; ZHOU et al., 2014). However, the response varies with climate, species, forest types and structure (GROSSIORD et al., 2014c; JUCKER et al., 2016). In temperate regions, the mixing of different tree species has shown to increase resistance and resilience of ecosystem functions to drought due to differentiated functions or asynchrony of various species (FORRESTER et al., 2010; LEBOURGEOIS et al., 2013; PRETZSCH et al., 2013; Río et al., 2017). ANDEREGG et al. (2018) showed that the presence of diverse hydraulic traits decreases the drought sensitivity of forest ecosystems. In a forest with a mixture of beech and oak trees, the shallower rooting beech was relieved from drought stress by the hydraulic lift of water caused by the deep rooting oak (PRETZSCH et al., 2013; ZAPATER et al., 2011). A meta-analysis by GRIESS et al. (2011) showed that the mixing tree species dampened the lagged effect of drought (like secondary damages from insects, fungi and wind-throw). This means that on top of any positive effects of mixing on stress release and growth of trees, the reported avoidance or mitigation of secondary stress effects by species mixing can further improve the performance of mixed compared with pure stands. However, in Mediterranean and mountain climates, the mixing of tree species did not improve the resistance of forest ecosystems to drought (GROSSIORD et al., 2014a; GROSSIORD et al., 2014d) and was negative in the case of a Boreal ecosystem (GROSSIORD et al., 2014d). FORRESTER et al. (2016) also concluded that a reduction of drought stress in mixed-species forests is not a general pattern and might vary between sites even for a given species combination. Thus, we need to take into account environment differences while looking at the effect of forest structure or species mixing on forest ecosystem functions, like, GPP_{1000p} or its anomalies.

In this paper, we go further than MUSAVI et al. (2017) and look at the effects of diameterbased indices of forest structure on the GPP_{1000p} . We are also interested in the effect of water limitation on ecosystem, thus we also calculated annual photosynthetic capacity of an ecosystem with the effect of hydrometeorological anomalies, represented by GPP_{1000m} , calculated as mean of all daily maximum photosynthetic capacity within a year. The lower magnitude of inter-annual variability of GPP_{1000m} for an ecosystem indicated a very stable ecosystem functioning even during water limitation. Furthermore, we also investigated how the anomalies of GPP_{1000p} and GPP_{1000m} during the droughts differ among different forests with varying structure. We examined how diameter based indices, tree species diversity, stand age and management affect the temporal stability of an ecosystem function (maximum photosynthetic capacity) and its resistance during droughts. We have tested two hypotheses in this paper:

(a) temporal stability of GPP_{1000} is higher in structurally diverse forests.

(b) resistance of GPP_{1000} during droughts is higher in structurally diverse forests.



Figure 3.1: Map of the forest sites with flux tower used in this study. There were altogether 21 forest sites from temperate region. We included sites with inventory data and with at least 5 years of carbon dioxide flux data.

3.3 Material and methods

3.3.1 Sites

We requested inventory data from around 60 temperate eddy covariance flux sites. Finally, we had inventory data and carbon flux data from 21 temperate forest sites (Figure 3.1) with at least five years of flux data and that had forest inventory data. Details of the sites are given in Table 3.1. Flux data were retrieved from the ICOS 2019 (7 sites) and fluxnet 2015 database (14 sites) from https://fluxnet.fluxdata.org/data/fluxnet2015-dataset/. There were nine deciduous broad-leaved forests (DBF), six evergreen forests (ENF), five mixed forests (MF), and one evergreen broad-leaved forest (EBF). Sites also represented a wide range of climatic zones. Sites were located between a latitude of 39.32 to 61.85 decimal degrees. IT-Ro1 had the shortest data on carbon flux from 2000 to 2008 and BE-Vie had the longest data from 1996 to 2018. Structure of a forest is usually the result of human intervention. We also collected data on history of management of each site (Table 3.8). Nine of the sites were unmanaged and twelve sites were managed. Out of 12 managed sites, three were managed as coppice forests (ManagedC) and nine as high forests (ManagedH).

3.3.2 Forest structure indices

We calculated nine stand structural indices from forest inventory data (Table 3.2). Age here refers to the age of forest stand since the last major disturbance that caused stand

Table 3.1: List of sites. We included data from different forest types (FT), DBF - deciduous broad-leaved forests, ENF - evergreen needle-leaved forests, EBF - evergreen broad-leaved forests, and MF - mixed forests. Sites also represented wide climatic zones, Bor - Boreal, Tmp - temperate, TmpC - temperate-continental with hot or warm summers, Sba - sub-artic and STM - sub-tropical Mediterranean. Forests were also classified based on management regime, Unmanaged, ManagedH - managed as high forests, ManagedC - managed as coppice forests.

Site	\mathbf{FT}	Zone	Lat	Lon	Age	Years	Mgmt	References
BE-Vie	MF	Tmp	50.31	6.00	109	1996-2018	ManagedH	HURDEBISE et al. (2017)
CH-Dav	\mathbf{MF}	Tmp	46.82	9.86	244	1997 - 2018	ManagedH	ZWEIFEL et al. (2010)
CH-Lae	\mathbf{MF}	Tmp	47.48	8.37	175	2004 - 2018	ManagedH	Etzold et al. (2011)
CZ-BK1	ENF	TmpC	49.50	18.54	34	2004 - 2018	ManagedH	Sedlák et al. (2010)
DE-Hai	DBF	Tmp	51.08	10.45	260	2000-2018	Unmanaged	KNOHL et al. (2003)
DE-Lnf	DBF	Tmp	51.33	10.37	145	2002 - 2012	ManagedH	HERBST et al. (2015)
FI-Hyy	ENF	Bor	61.85	24.29	53	1996-2018	ManagedH	VESALA et al. (2005)
FR-Fon	DBF	Tmp	48.48	2.78	152	2005 - 2014	Unmanaged	Otto et al. (2014)
FR-Pue	EBF	STM	43.74	3.60	74	2000-2014	ManagedC	Allard et al. (2008)
IT-Ren	ENF	Tmp	46.59	11.43	98	1998-2013	ManagedH	PAPALE et al. (2015)
IT-Ro1	DBF	STM	42.41	11.93	16	2000-2008	ManagedC	PAPALE et al. (2015)
IT-Ro2	DBF	STM	42.39	11.92	24	2002 - 2012	ManagedC	HURDEBISE et al. (2017)
RU-Fyo	ENF	TmpC	56.46	32.92	195	1998-2018	Unmanaged	MILYUKOVA et al. (2002)
US-Ha1	DBF	TmpC	42.54	-72.17	92	1991 - 2012	Unmanaged	Urbanski et al. (2007)
US-Me2	ENF	STM	44.45	-121.56	100	2002 - 2014	Unmanaged	Schwarz et al. (2004)
US-MMS	DBF	STM	39.32	-86.41	83	1999-2014	ManagedH	Ehman et al. (2002)
US-NR1	ENF	SbA	40.03	-105.55	103	1998-2014	Unmanaged	Monson et al. (2002)
US-PFa	\mathbf{MF}	TmpC	45.95	-90.27	47	1995 - 2014	ManagedH	DAVIS et al. (2003)
US-Syv	\mathbf{MF}	TmpC	46.24	-89.35	175	2001-2014	Unmanaged	Desai et al. (2005)
US-UMB	DBF	TmpC	45.56	-84.71	89	2000-2014	Unmanaged	Gough et al. (2007)
US-WCr	DBF	TmpC	45.81	-90.08	75	1999-2014	Unmanaged	Desai et al. (2005)

replacement normalized at the year 2015 - the year of release of fluxnet data. Further, we calculated the log of age. DBH is the mean tree diameter at breast height, but only counting those above 10 cm. BA is the average basal area per unit hectare of all trees above 7 cm DBH. We collected data for the average height of the canopy trees from the literature.

The Shannon Size index (ShnSz), the Simpson size index (SimSz), and the shape parameter of the Weibull function (ShWb) were calculated from the diameter distribution (e.g. 3.2). The Shannon size (ShnSz) and the Simpson size (SimSz) diversity indices were calculated using eq. 3.1 and 3.2, respectively using Rpackage 'vegan' (OKSANEN et al., 2019).

$$ShnSz = -\sum_{i=1}^{R} p_i \, lnp_i \tag{3.1}$$

$$SimSz = \frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{R} p_i^2}$$
 (3.2)

 p_i in both equations is the proportion of trees in each diameter class, lnp_i is the natural

log of p_i and R is the number of diameter size classes. We used a diameter size class width of 5 cm for our analysis. Higher values of ShnSz and SimSz indicate trees distributed in many different size classes and lower values indicated the trees concentrated in few diameter size classes.

Structural parameters	Description	Units
Age	Age of forest stand since the last major disturbance that	years
	caused stand replacement normalized at the year 2015	
logAge	Log of age	-
BA	Total basal area	$\mathrm{m}^2~\mathrm{ha}^{-1}$
DBH	Diameter at breast height	cm
Height	The average height of canopy trees	m
ShnSz	Shannon size diversity index	-
SimSz	Simpson size diversity index	-
ShpWb	Shape Weibull parameter of the diameter distribution	-
SpNo	Number of species that makes up to 95 $\%$ of basal area	-

Table 3.2: List of structural variables used.



Figure 3.2: An example diameter distribution shown for (a) DE-Hai, an unevenly structured forest (ESF) and (b) CZ-Bk1, an evenly structured forest (ESF). The blue line represents the fitted Weibull function. 'Shape' is the shape parameter of the fitted Weibull function.

We calculated the shape parameter (k) of the Weibull function (eq. 3.3) fitted to the diameter distribution (the blue line in Figure 3.2). λ is the scale parameter of the Weibull function.

$$y = \frac{k}{\lambda} \left(\frac{x}{\lambda}\right)^{k-1} exp^{\left(-\frac{x}{\lambda}\right)^{k}}$$
(3.3)

The sites were categorized as (a) unevenly structured forests (UESF) if the values of k were around one indicating a higher frequency of trees in smaller diameter size classes and a decreasing frequency of trees with increasing diameter size class (DE-Hai in Figure 3.2a), and (b) evenly structured forests (ESF) if the values were greater than one indicating uniform forests with trees concentrated in few diameter classes (CZ-Bk1 in Figure 3.2b).

Finally, species number (SpNo) is the number of tree species which add up to 95 % of basal area.

3.3.3 Environmental data

We used average annual and growing season (May - September) values of five environmental variables, namely air temperature (TA), global radiation (R_g), vapour pressure deficit (VPD), precipitation (P), and standardized precipitation and evapotranspiration index (SPEI). We obtained the data for the first four environmental variables from the fluxnet 2015 and ICOS 2019 databases. We downloaded the SPEI data for each site from SPEIbase, a new global database that covers the period 1901–2015 at a 0.5-degree resolution (BEGUERÍA et al., 2017). SPEI is the climatic water balance (precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration) over different timescales (from monthly to 24 monthly) expressed as a standardized Gaussian variate with a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one (BEGUERÍA et al., 2010) at a location. We used the R-codes provided by BEGUERÍA (2017) to extract the SPEI values for each site.

To present the environmental condition of the sites we estimated the mean and standard deviation of annual and growing season values across years for all environmental variables. The mean and standard deviation of annual values across years for each environmental variable is indicated by subscript mean and sd (for e.g. TA_{mean} and TA_{sd}), respectively. Similarly, the mean and values of growing season across years is indicated by GS_{mean} and GS_{sd} (for e.g. TA_{GSmean} and TA_{GSsd}), respectively. We included growing season values because photosynthesis mostly occur during this period of the year. Therefore, there were altogether 20 different environmental indicators for each site.

3.3.4 Annual light-saturated gross primary productivity (GPP_{1000})

First we investigated daily values of net ecosystem exchange (NEE) for all sites and removed all the periods when the data had problems.

Second, we quantified daily GPP_{1000} by fitting rectangular hyperbolic light-response curve (LRC) including the effect of vapour pressure deficit as suggested by LASSLOP et al. (2010) (eq. 3.4 and eq. 3.5).

$$NEE = \frac{\alpha \beta R_g}{\alpha + \beta} + \gamma \tag{3.4}$$

$$\beta = \begin{cases} \beta_0 \ exp(-k(VPD - VPD_0)) & \text{if } VPD > VPD_0\\ \beta_0 & \text{if } VPD < VPD_0 \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

where NEE is net ecosystem exchange ($\mu \mod m^{-2} \operatorname{yr}^{-1}$), α is the canopy light utilization

efficiency and represents the initial slope of the light–response curve, β (μ mol m⁻² yr⁻¹) is the maximum CO₂ uptake rate of the canopy at light saturation, γ (μ mol m⁻² yr⁻¹) is the ecosystem respiration and R_g is the downward shortwave radiation (W m⁻²). The effect of high VPD on the LRC was included by replacing β by an exponentially decreasing function as shown in eq. 3.4. We fixed the value of VPD_0 to 10 hPa as in (LASSLOP et al., 2010).

We estimated α , β_0 , k and γ using 5 days of not gap-filled daytime ($R_g > 4 \text{ W m}^2$) half-hourly data selected with a moving window approach. We used the R package 'FME' for fitting the LRC (SOETAERT et al., 2016). We then computed the GPP (the first part of eq. 3.4) at 1,000 W m² of R_g (corresponding to PAR of 2,110 μ mol m⁻² yr⁻¹) and 10 hPa of VPD, which is daily GPP₁₀₀₀. This GPP₁₀₀₀ was assigned to the day in the middle of the 5-day window. We did not use parameters of model fits with R² lower than 0.6. We calculated GPP₁₀₀₀ from May to September to include the most photosynthetically active period for all forest types. We calculated two types of annual GPP₁₀₀₀, GPP_{1000p} and GPP_{1000m}. GPP_{1000m} is the mean of all daily values of GPP₁₀₀₀ which includes effect of drought events if any occurred (see Figure 3.3). Similarly, GPP_{1000m} is 90th percentile of all daily values of GPP₁₀₀₀ which excludes any hydrometeorological anomalies, thus is the maximum photosynthetic capacity of the forests.

3.3.5 Drought estimation

We used the standardized precipitation–evapotranspiration index (SPEI) to identify and quantify drought events across flux tower sites at the annual scale. SPEI values are available for monthly to 24 monthly timescales, represented by a number after SPEI. For e.g. SPEI12



Figure 3.3: An example of timeseries for light-saturated GPP (GPP₁₀₀₀) in DE-Hai for 2017. The black dashed line represents the annual GPP_{1000p}, 90th percentile, and the red dashed line GPP_{1000m}, the mean of all values.

values represent SPEI value for a period accumulated over 12 months. In our case, we required annual SPEI spanning from January to December which is SPEI12 for December (hereafter, SPEI12).

Negative values of SPEI indicate drier conditions. For our study, we defined drought years as those when SPEI12 values lie below the lower 10 percentile of 115 years long SPEI data i.e. value less than or equal to -1.28. We present an example of DE-Hai in Figure 3.4. Here, SPEI12 in 2003 is -1.28 which means an annual drought (shown by the value of 12 and the water balance is accumulated from January 2003 to December 2003) with the probability of occurring once a decade has occurred. Altogether there were 24 events of droughts identified in 21 sites (2nd row in Table 3.9).

3.3.6 Statistical analysis

We used software R-3.5.1 (R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM, 2018) for the analysis. The R codes and data for this chapter are available in https://doi.org/10.25625/K07YTE.

Coefficient of variation of GPP_{1000}

In order to better compare the temporal variability of forest ecosystem function, we calculated the coefficient of variation (CV) of GPP_{1000p} ($\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000p}$) and GPP_{1000m} ($\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000m}$) for each site, i.e. the standard deviation divided by the mean across years (eq. 3.6), thus obtaining a normalized measure for all sites. Additionally, we conducted an analysis using the standard deviation of GPP_{1000} across all years. Table 3.9 gives mean and standard deviation of different carbon dioxide fluxes across different years.

Ten of the sites showed temporal trends in GPP_{1000p} or GPP_{1000m} (for e.g. see Figure 3.5 and last column in Table 3.9), likely due to tree growth or increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2017). Thus, we also the calculated



Figure 3.4: Annual standardized precipitation and evapotranspiration index (SPEI12) values for DE-Hai from 2000 to 2015. The positive values indicate wetter years and negative drier years. SPEI12 values at or below -1.28, the red dashed line, indicate drought events as defined for this study and have a return period of ten years on average.

coefficient of variation after removing any significant trends (p < 0.05). As an example for sites with and without annual trend, we have plotted annual values of GPP_{1000m} for US-MMS (without trend) and US-UMB (with trend) in Figure 3.5. We observed significant temporal trend in GPP_{1000m} of 0.35 μ mol m⁻² yr⁻¹ in US-UMB (dashed line in the Figure 3.5). In such case, we detrended the data represented by the dotted line in the same figure.

Thus, there were four variation of CV of GPP_{1000} :- $\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000\text{mWT}}$ - from mean with trend; $\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000\text{mWoT}}$ - mean without trend; $\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000\text{pWT}}$ - percentile with trend; $\text{CV}_{\text{GPP}1000\text{pWoT}}$ - percentile without trend. We also calculated the coefficient of variation of growing season gross primary productivity (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (Reco).



Figure 3.5: Example of annual $\text{GPP}_{1000\text{m}}$ for US-MMS and US-UMB. The straight lines represent annual trend for US-UMB for which the temporal trend is significant. Detrended $\text{GPP}_{1000\text{m}}$ is also shown for US-UMB. ** is significant at p = 0.01.

Anomalies of GPP_{1000}

For understanding the resistance of forest ecosystems to drought, we calculated the anomalies of GPP_{1000p} and GPP_{1000m} for dry years as shown in eq. 3.7, where GPP_{1000i} is the GPP₁₀₀₀ for an ith dry year of a site and mean_{GPP1000} is the mean across years for the same site. Like CV of GPP_{1000p} , we also calculated anomalies after removing long term trends. Thus, there were also four variations of anomalies of GPP_{1000} , $\text{Ano}_{\text{GPP1000mWT}}$ - from mean with trend; $\text{Ano}_{\text{GPP1000mWT}}$ - from mean without trend; $\text{Ano}_{\text{GPP1000pWT}}$ - from percentile with trend; and $\text{Ano}_{\text{GPP1000pWT}}$ - from percentile without trend.

$$Anomaly_{GPP1000} = \frac{GPP_{1000i} - mean_{GPP1000}}{mean_{GPP1000}}$$
(3.7)

Step-wise regression with meteorological and structural variables

We calculated the Pearson correlation of each $CV_{GPP1000}$ and Anomaly_{GPP1000} with meteorological and structural variables. For each case, we then chose only the variables which were significant at the 0.05 level and management regime for including in a stepwise regression, which was performed without any interaction effect. All continuous predictors were standardized with mean and sd 1 before stepwise regression. Models were evaluated by sequential comparison (forward and backward selection) based on Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and maximum likelihood likelihood (ML) estimation, using the stepAIC function in R (R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM, 2018). We then calculated the variation inflation factor (VIF) for each explanatory variable selected by stepwise regression, using the vif function from car package (FoX et al., 2019). High values of VIF of an explanatory variable indicated a high correlation with other explanatory variables in the multiple linear regression. The final model was then established by discarding the variables with VIF values higher than 2. The model result was also plotted with effect of single environmental variable and structure or management.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Structural characteristics of sites

Table 3.3 shows the values of the structural parameters for all forest sites. The youngest forest was IT-Ro1, forest regenerating after clear cut via coppicing in December 1999. The site with oldest trees was DE-Hai, an unmanaged deciduous forest. BA was smallest in IT-Ro2 (a young forest managed as coppice-with-standards) and largest in US-NR1 (an unmanaged forest). FR-Pue, an evergreen broad-leaved coppice forest, and BE-Vie, a managed mixed forest, had the smallest and largest DBH, respectively. Tree height was lowest in FR-Pue and highest in DE-Hai and DE-Lnf. The coppice forests (FR-Pue, IT-Ro1 and IT-Ro2) had the lowest values ShnSz and SimSz, whereas BE-Vie had the highest. US-MMS and US-PFa have the highest species diversity, and seven sites have only one species. Based on ShWb values, ten forests were categorised as unevenly structured forests (UESF) and remaining as evenly structured forests (ESF).

Table 3.3: Values of nine structural parameters for all sites.Mean and sd are the mean and standard deviation across sites, respectively. Based on the Shape of Weibull function (ShWb) forests are categorised as unevenly structured forests (UESF) or evenly structured forests (ESF) forests.

Site	Age	logAge	BA	DBH	Height	ShnSz	SimSz	SpNo	ShWb
-	(Years)	-	$(m^2 ha^{-1})$	(cm)	(m)	-	-	-	-
BE-Vie	109	4.69	37.3	44.15	33	2.72	0.93	5	UESF
CH-Dav	244	5.5	49.31	25.4	25	2.1	0.86	1	ESF
CH-Lae	175	5.16	37.5	28.7	31	2.46	0.9	8	UESF
CZ-BK1	34	3.53	26.4	14.54	14	0.96	0.56	1	ESF
DE-Hai	260	5.56	37.84	33.45	35	2.62	0.92	3	UESF
DE-Lnf	145	4.98	36.03	44.06	35	1.77	0.79	1	ESF
FI-Hyy	53	3.97	25.73	17.33	14	1.55	0.77	3	ESF
FR-Fon	152	5.02	49.5	33.2	30	2.61	0.88	2	UESF
FR-Pue	74	4.3	27.16	10.24	6	0.86	0.54	1	ESF
IT-Ren	98	4.58	32	20.56	29	2.1	0.83	3	UESF
IT-Ro1	16	2.77	23.69	11.81	18	1.18	0.63	1	ESF
IT-Ro2	24	3.18	11.73	11.97	16	1.33	0.66	1	UESF
RU-Fyo	195	5.27	30.5	24.29	28	1.95	0.84	2	ESF
US-Ha1	92	4.52	37.31	25.61	23	2.06	0.85	9	UESF
US-Me2	100	4.61	41.27	31.82	18	1.7	0.76	1	ESF
US-MMS	83	4.42	41.23	33.1	31	2.46	0.9	14	ESF
US-NR1	103	4.63	54.77	14.76	12	1.56	0.75	3	UESF
US-PFa	47	3.85	22.02	19.87	20	1.68	0.76	14	UESF
US-Syv	175	5.16	23.29	25.6	27	2.31	0.88	4	UESF
US-UMB	89	4.49	24.87	19.24	26	1.95	0.83	7	UESF
US-WCr	75	4.32	31.82	19.84	24	1.86	0.83	4	ESF
Mean	111.57	4.5	33.39	24.26	23.57	1.89	0.79	4.19	-
Sd	68.05	0.73	10.47	9.81	8.15	0.54	0.11	4.03	-

Figure 3.6 shows the histogram (diagonal plots) of six selected structural parameters and correlation between them except for ShWb. We plotted boxplots for ShWb against other variables (the last row of Figure 3.6). Distributions of most of the structural parameters were non-uniform and skewed (diagonal plots in Figure 3.6). Study sites belonged to a wide range of ages (16-260) with 90 % sites below 200 years. In the case of BA, the sites were mostly between 20 to 40 m² ha⁻¹. The DBH of sites were uniformly distributed between 10 to 35 cm and two sites with DBH higher than 40 cm. The SimSz values of sites were mostly between 0.7 and 0.9. Ten sites i.e. about 47 % of total sites had a maximum of 2 species.

Age, BA, DBH and SimSz are significantly correlated with each other (figures on the left side of diagonal plots of Figure 3.6 and corresponding correlation values on the right side of the diagonal plots). For example, the correlation between SimSz and DBH is 0.71 (p < 0.001) meaning that the forests with thicker stems also have trees distributed in more size classes. SpNo did not correlate with any other structural parameter. The boxplots of ShWb with other structural parameter showed that unevenly structured and evenly forests did not differ (last column of Figure 3.6) in age, BA, DBH, SimSz or SpNo, though the median values were always slightly higher for unevenly structured forests.



Figure 3.6: Chart showing histogram (barpot in the case of ShWb) and relationship between different structural parameters. Only six are included to increase the clarity of the figure. Histograms of each structural parameter are on the diagonal, with scatter plots between variables on one side and the respective correlation coefficients on the opposite side. The last row is presented as boxplot for categorical variable ShWb (UESF - unevenly structured forests). The stars represent the level of significance: *** for p=0.001, ** for p=0.01, and * for p=0.05. The line in the scatter plots is the linear relationship of significant correlations.



Figure 3.7: Effect of forest management on different structural parameters. The values on the bottom of first plot are the number of forests in each management regime. The different letters on top of each plot represent significant difference (at p < 0.05) between sites categorized by management regime.

The forest structure results from human intervention mostly via silvicultural operations. Figure 3.7 shows the effect of forest management on different structural parameters. Most of the structural parameters were lower for coppice forests (FR-Pue, IT-Ro1 and IT-Ro2) compared to forest managed as high forests and unmanaged forests. logAge, DBH, height, ShnSz and SimSz were significantly lower. The structural parameters for managed and unmanaged forests however did not differ.

3.4.2 Factors explaining inter-site variability in $CV_{GPP1000}$

Table 3.4: Zero-order correlation of environmental and structural variables with $CV_{GPP1000}$ calculated from mean and percentile with (WT) and without trend (WoT). *** is significant at p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, and * p < 0.05.

	Correlation of						
Variables	CV _{GPI}	P1000m	CV_{GP}	P1000p			
	WT	WoT	WT	WoT			
Environmental parameters							
TA _{mean}	0.41	0.51^{*}	0.26	0.27			
R_{gmean}	0.37	0.34	0.41	0.4			
VPD_{mean}	0.46^{*}	0.49^{*}	0.45^{*}	0.39			
P_{mean}	0.18	0.18	0.12	0.03			
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{mean}}$	-0.41	-0.39	-0.39	-0.36			
TA _{GSmean}	0.38	0.46^{*}	0.27	0.28			
$ m R_{gGSmean}$	0.42	0.37	0.45^{*}	0.41			
VPD_{GSmean}	0.43^{*}	0.44^{*}	0.42	0.35			
$\mathrm{P}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	-0.06	-0.11	-0.06	-0.07			
$SPEI_{GSmean}$	-0.41	-0.31	-0.45*	-0.39			
TA _{sd}	0.17	0.16	0.14	0.25			
R_{gsd}	0.52^{*}	0.33	0.39	0.34			
VPD_{sd}	0.37	0.34	0.21	0.29			
P_{sd}	0.52^{***}	0.44^{*}	0.46^{*}	0.41			
$SPEI_{sd}$	0.06	-0.07	0.16	0			
TA _{GSsd}	-0.16	-0.15	-0.19	-0.16			
R_{gGSsd}	0.25	0.13	0.2	0.16			
$\rm VPD_{GSsd}$	0.22	0.25	0.08	0.14			
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{GSsd}}$	0.61^{***}	0.61^{***}	0.58^{***}	0.61^{***}			
$SPEI_{GSsd}$	0.06	0	0.04	-0.08			
Structural parameters							
Age	-0.26	-0.23	-0.29	-0.27			
logAge	-0.35	-0.35	-0.33	-0.37			
BA	-0.57***	-0.48*	-0.5*	-0.47*			
DBH	-0.44*	-0.44*	-0.54***	-0.5*			
$\mathrm{DBH}_{\mathrm{sd}}$	-0.18	-0.18	-0.3	-0.26			
Height	-0.35	-0.33	-0.52***	-0.4			
ShnSz	-0.43*	-0.43*	-0.54***	-0.45*			
SimSz	-0.47*	-0.47*	-0.56***	-0.44*			
SpNo	-0.15	-0.1	-0.16	-0.07			

Table 3.4 lists the zero-order correlation of $CV_{GPP1000mWT}$, $CV_{GPP1000mWoT}$, $CV_{GPP1000pWT}$ and $CV_{GPP1000pWoT}$ with environmental and structural variables. Among environmental variables, the standard deviation of growing season rainfall sum (P_{GSsd}) showed the strongest significant correlation and in the case of structural variables, BA, DBH, ShnSz and SimSz correlated in similar magnitude with all metrics of $CV_{GPP1000}$. The positive correlation of $CV_{GPP1000}$ with P_{GSsd} means that sites with a higher inter-annual variation in their growing season rainfall have higher variability in GPP₁₀₀₀. On the other hand, the BA, DBH, ShnSz and SimSz were negatively correlated with $CV_{GPP1000}$ meaning denser forests with thick stems and higher size diversity showed less variability in GPP_{1000} .

We also looked at the correlation of standard deviation of annual GPP₁₀₀₀ (Sd_{GPP1000}) with environmental and structural variables (Table 3.10). Sd_{GPP1000} correlated positively with the standard deviation of growing season rainfall (P_{GSsd}) and negatively with basal area (BA) for CV_{GPP1000}. Furthermore, we also looked at the correlation of coefficient of variation of GPP (CV_{GPP}) and Reco (CV_{Reco}) with all structural and environmental parameters (Table 3.11). CV_{GPP} correlated with P_{GSsd}, and Simpson size diversity index (SimSz).

Table 3.5: Stepwise regression coefficients for four metrics of $CV_{GPP1000}$ with environmental and structural parameters. Predictor estimates were normalized with mean 0 and standard deviation 1, hence their magnitude is proportional to the effect size. Note that the intercept (a) indicates the response of unmanaged forests, while managedH indicates forests managed as high forests and managedC as coppice. *** is significant at p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05 and (*) p < 0.1.

Model	Fixed effects	\mathbb{R}^2	$adjR^2$	Estimate \pm se
$1.CV_{GPP1000mWT} =$	a +	0.66	0.58	-0.25 ± 0.23
	b Managed H $+$			0.14 ± 0.32
	c ManagedC $+$			$1.32 \pm 0.54^{*}$
	d P_{GSsd} +			$0.33 \pm 0.17(*)$
	e BA +			-0.24 ± 0.17
$2.\mathrm{CV}_{\mathrm{GPP1000mWoT}}$ =	a +	0.71	0.64	$-0.4 \pm 0.21(*)$
	b Managed H $+$			0.26 ± 0.3
	c ManagedC $+$			$2.04 \pm 0.49^{***}$
	$d P_{GSsd} +$			$0.47 \pm 0.19^*$
	$e P_{sd} +$			-0.25 ± 0.2
$3.CV_{GPP1000pWT} =$	a +	0.61	0.51	-0.29 ± 0.25
	b Managed H $+$			0.29 ± 0.34
	c ManagedC $+$			$1.13 \pm 0.59(*)$
	d P_{GSsd} +			$0.35 \pm 0.18(*)$
	e Height $+$			-0.29 ± 0.19
$4.CV_{GPP1000pWoT} =$	a +	0.56	0.48	-0.37 ± 0.25
	b Managed H $+$			0.36 ± 0.35
	c ManagedC $+$			$1.52 \pm 0.54^{*}$
	d P_{GSsd} +			$0.36 \pm 0.18(*)$

Table 3.5 shows the result of stepwise regression of four metrics of $CV_{GPP1000}$ with environmental and structural variables. Model 1 and 2 use $CV_{GPP1000p}$ with and without trend, respectively. Similarly, model 3 and 4 use $CV_{GPP1000p}$ with and without trend, respectively. P_{GSsd} and management regime were selected as predictors in all four models. The effect of unmanaged stand on $CV_{GPP1000}$ (intercepts in Table 3.5) was negative indicating that inter-annual variation of GPP_{1000} was lowest in unmanaged stands (also see Figure 3.8). The higher $CV_{1GPP000}$ was observed in forests growing in climates with higher variation in growing season rainfall (Figure 3.8). The coppice forests (ManagedC) had significantly higher $CV_{1GPP000}$ compared to the forests managed as high forests and unmanaged forests in every case (Figure 3.8). The unmanaged forests had the lowest $CV_{1GPP000}$ but did not differ from forests managed as high forests.


Figure 3.8: Effect of different forest management regimes on four metrics of $CV_{GPP1000m}$. Lines correspond to the predicted response based on mixed-effects models presented in Table 3.5) and shaded areas indicate the 95 % confidence interval. The remaining predictors estimate were fixed at their mean values.

3.4.3 Factors affecting GPP_{1000} anomalies during droughts

Like in section 3.4.2, we looked at the zero-order correlation of environmental and structural variables with the four metrics of GPP₁₀₀₀ anomaly (Ano_{GPP1000}, Table 3.6). The negative anomaly means large drought effect. The correlation was significant with two structural parameters (BA and logAge) and numerous environmental variables (also see Figure 3.10). We observed the highest correlation (0.67 - 0.74) with mean growing season air temperature (TA_{GSmean}) among environmental variables and with the basal area (0.60 - 0.67) among structural variables. A positive correlation generally denotes a less negative Ano_{GPP1000} with an increase in the explanatory variable. For example, the positive relationship between basal area and Ano_{GPP1000} indicates that a higher basal area correlates with a less pronounced decrease in GPP₁₀₀₀. The positive significant relationship between logAge and Ano_{GPP1000} is driven by coppice forests (leftmost plot in Figure 3.10). The relationship is however opposite for unmanaged forests.

We also looked at the correlation of GPP and Reco anomalies with all independent variables. GPP anomalies strongly correlated with the basal area (0.52), the standard deviation of annual and the growing season radiation (-0.52 and -0.53), and mean growing season temperature (-0.46) as shown in Table 3.12.

Table 3.7 shows the results of stepwise regressions of four $Ano_{GPP1000}$ metrics. Results show that the mean growing season air temperature (TA_{GSmean}) is the most important variable. Other explanatory variables differed from model to model. In the case of model 1, management was selected as an explanatory variable. The intercept in model 1 indicates the effect of unmanaged forest. The effect is negative indicating that reduction in $GPP_{1000mWT}$ was more pronounced in unmanaged forests during droughts (Figure 3.9). However, when the effects of any other predictors is not considered, we observed more negative values of $Ano_{GPP1000}$ in coppice forests during drought events compared to unmanaged forests (the last plot in Figure 3.10).

Variables	Correlation of				
variables	Ano _{GPP1000m}		Ano _{GI}	PP1000P	
	WT	WoT	WT	WoT	
Environmental parameters					
TA _{mean}	-0.59***	-0.62***	-0.69***	-0.66***	
R_{gmean}	-0.15	-0.14	-0.31	-0.26	
VPD_{mean}	-0.49*	-0.51^{***}	-0.55***	-0.5***	
P_{mean}	0.1	0.03	-0.12	-0.17	
$SPEI_{mean}$	0.15	0.23	0.13	0.17	
TA _{GSmean}	-0.67***	-0.7***	-0.74***	-0.7***	
$R_{gGSmean}$	-0.35	-0.34	-0.48*	-0.41*	
$\mathrm{VPD}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	-0.51^{***}	-0.54***	-0.54***	-0.5***	
$\mathrm{P}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	0.46^{*}	0.46^{*}	0.32	0.27	
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	0.38	0.48^{*}	0.26	0.32	
TA _{sd}	-0.19	-0.16	-0.24	-0.23	
R_{gsd}	-0.66***	-0.64***	-0.66***	-0.61***	
$\rm VPD_{sd}$	-0.63***	-0.68***	-0.62***	-0.65***	
P_{sd}	-0.11	-0.21	-0.3	-0.35	
$SPEI_{sd}$	0.2	0.2	0.21	0.21	
TA _{GSsd}	-0.31	-0.24	-0.3	-0.24	
R_{gGSsd}	-0.63***	-0.62***	-0.64***	-0.61***	
$\rm VPD_{GSsd}$	-0.64***	-0.7***	-0.56***	-0.58***	
P_{GSsd}	0.05	-0.01	-0.13	-0.16	
$SPEI_{GSsd}$	-0.26	-0.24	-0.31	-0.29	
Structural parameters					
Age	0.36	0.37	0.38	0.37	
logAge	0.42^{*}	0.47^{*}	0.46^{*}	0.49^{*}	
BA	0.67^{***}	0.66^{***}	0.63^{***}	0.6^{***}	
DBH	0.19	0.23	0.28	0.28	
$\mathrm{DBH}_{\mathrm{sd}}$	-0.11	-0.05	-0.18	-0.14	
Height	0.07	0.15	0.14	0.16	
ShnSz	0.11	0.19	0.13	0.16	
SimSz	0.17	0.26	0.2	0.24	
ShWb	0.32	0.24	0.4	0.31	

Table 3.6: Zero-order correlation of environmental and structural variables with Ano_{GPP1000} calculated from mean and percentile with (WT) and without trend (WoT). *** is significant at p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, and * p < 0.05.

While structural parameters were not selected in stepwise regression, Table 3.4) shows positive correlations between Ano_{GPP1000} and age, logAge and BA, with BA being the strongest. However, the relationship between logAge and Ano_{GPP1000} is caused by a very young site and two old sites (on the leftmost plot of Figure 3.10), and most of the remaining points forms a cloud without any distinct pattern. The effect of basal area looks convincing (the middle plot of Figure 3.10) however, we see that BA and TA_{GSmean} have reciprocal effects (size of the dots in the figure).

Table 3.7: Stepwise regression coefficients for four metrics of $Ano_{GPP1000}$ with environmental and structural parameters. Predictor estimates were normalized with mean 0 and standard deviation 1, hence their magnitude is proportional to the effect size. Note that the intercept a in model 1 indicates the response of unmanaged forests, while managedH indicates forests managed as high forests and managedC as coppice. *** is significant at p < 0.001, ** p < 0.01, * p < 0.05 and (*) p < 0.1.

Model		\mathbb{R}^2	$adjR^2$	Estimate \pm se
1.Ano _{GPP1000mWT} =	a +	0.78	0.71	-0.31 ± 0.19
	$b TA_{GSmean} +$			$-0.49 \pm 0.16^{**}$
	$c R_{gsd} +$			$-0.59 \pm 0.13^{***}$
	f P_{GSmean} +			0.25 ± 0.17
	d Managed H $+$			0.41 ± 0.32
	e Managed C $+$			$0.73 \pm 0.42(*)$
2.Ano _{GPP1000mWoT} =	a +	0.73	0.69	0 ± 0.11
	b TA _{GSmean} +			$-0.38 \pm 0.14^{*}$
	$c R_{gGSsd} +$			$-0.49 \pm 0.13^{***}$
	d $P_{\rm GSmean}$ +			$0.33 \pm 0.13^{*}$
$3.Ano_{GPP1000pWT} =$	a +	0.75	0.71	0 ± 0.11
	b TA _{GSmean} $+$			$-0.47 \pm 0.13^{**}$
	$ m c~R_{gGSmean}$ +			$-0.25 \pm 0.12(*)$
	d R_{gGSsd} +			$-0.45 \pm 0.12^{**}$
4.Ano _{GPP1000pWoT} =	a +	0.66	0.61	0 ± 0.13
	b TA _{GSmean} +			$-0.46 \pm 0.15^{**}$
	c R_{gGSsd} +			$-0.42 \pm 0.14^{**}$
	d $R_{gGSmean}$ +			-0.2 ± 0.14



Figure 3.9: Effect of different forest management regimes on four metrics of $Ano_{GPP1000m}$. Lines correspond to the predicted response based on models presented in Table 3.7 (we added management as an additional predictor when it was not selected) and shaded areas indicate the 95 % confidence interval. The remaining predictors estimate were fixed at their mean values.



Figure 3.10: The first and second plot shows the relationship of logAge and basal area (BA) with $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$. The size of the dots corresponded with the growing season mean temperature (TA_{GSmean}). The last plot shows the effect of management on $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$ without removing effect of any other predictor variables. The different letters on the top of the last plot indicates the significant differences at p < 0.05.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Temporal stability of GPP_{1000}

We found that forests from climates with low variability in growing season rainfall and unmanaged forests had stable GPP_{1000} i.e. lower inter-annual variation in GPP_{1000} . Our results differ from those of (MUSAVI et al., 2017) which showed higher stability in older



Figure 3.11: Relationship between age and $CV_{GPP1000}$ using a subset of sites from MUSAVI et al. (2017) but using an extended time period. fit1 is the line as published by MUSAVI et al. (2017), fit2 is a subset of data from fit1 for which extended data was available and fit3 uses longer time series data. and species diverse forests. They showed that stand age was the strongest predictor of CV_{GPP1000p}. Forest age itself results from human intervention or cessation of human intervention mostly via silvicultural operations, the unmanaged forests are older than managed forests and significantly older than coppice forests (Figure 3.7). On the other hand, the relationship between age and $CV_{GPP1000p}$ strengthens or weakens based on the number of sites and length of data available. We had fewer sites (50 v 21) but a longer time series for each site. Figure 3.11 shows the change in the strength of the relationship between stand age and $CV_{GPP1000}$ when using fewer sites (blue) and longer time-series data (red). When taking a subset of 17 sites, the relationship improved from \mathbb{R}^2 of 0.38 to 0.41 (from black to blue). However, when longer time series of those same sites were used, \mathbb{R}^2 decreased from 0.41 to 0.26 (from blue to red). We used different sites than those used in their paper (due to inventory data availability), our relationship was in the same direction but weaker. Additionally, we see the effect of variability in growing season rainfall on $CV_{GPP1000p}$ because GPP_{1000} is normalized for radiation and vapour pressure deficit but without taking into account effect of water limitation (see eq. 3.4). The change in rainfall amount during growing season thus affect the photosynthetic capacity (see Table 3.13).

BA, logAge, ShnSz and SimSz negatively correlated with $CV_{GPP1000}$ indicating lower inter-annual variation in GPP_{1000} and thus more stable GPP_{1000} . EHBRECHT et al. (2017) showed that structurally more forests had lower daily fluctuations in temperature and vapour pressure deficit which could be the result of higher enhanced stand transpiration in such forests (FORRESTER, 2015; GEBAUER et al., 2012). Thus, more stable climate conditions in the structurally complex could have contributed to more stable GPP_{1000} .

The management regime had significant effect on these structural parameters (Figure 3.7). (SCHALL et al., 2018) also showed that forest management controlled forest structure. Coppice forests usually had lower values for all different structural parameters because they are usually recently created via clear cut. These forests also show higher interannual variation in GPP₁₀₀₀ (Figure 3.8) indicating that their functioning sensitive to environmental conditions. On the other hand, we note that the unmanaged forests and managed high forests (ManagedH) are older, have higher DBH and size diversity. In terms of structural diversity managed high forests (ManagedH) and unmanaged forests are not different (Figure 3.7).

With time, the forest adapts to their habitat by widening their size distribution, increasing the inequality of tree sizes, extending the canopy space occupation, increasing stand density and diversifying the boundaries between crowns of different species (PRETZSCH et al., 2016). Larger trees also have higher root mass (BOLTE et al., 2004; DREXHAGE et al., 1999) that facilitates absorbing nutrients and soil water. Since the forests with the higher basal area also have more diverse sizes of trees, we can assume a higher variation in root distribution as well as in canopy distribution. The higher variation in root distribution will increase the complementary use of nutrients and water. Similarly, higher horizontal differentiation can lead to better use of light resources. Thus, the ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity (GPP₁₀₀₀) was more stable in unmanaged forests than which structurally diverse forests which are also

3.5.2 Effect of forest structure on GPP_{1000} anomalies

The stepwise regression results showed that $Ano_{GPP1000}$ was mostly driven by environmental conditions, TA_{mean} being the most important. The sites with lower temperatures have shown positive anomalies during droughts meaning that, under drier conditions, these forests actually increase their CO2 uptake. Environmental and site conditions have been reported to modulate the relationship between forest productivity and species diversity (JUCKER et al., 2016; POTTER et al., 2014).

Though the regression analysis did not choose logAge and BA as a predictor variable, simple correlation showed that BA and logAge significantly correlated with $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$, with more positive $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$ in the forests with higher basal area. MAUSOLF et al. (2018) reported that forests that are unmanaged for more than 50 years were less sensitive to spring drought compared to managed forests. Older forests could have deeper and heterogeneously distributed roots. One of the most effective strategies for plants to deal with drought is to have deep, ramified and dense root system as it provides trees with access to larger soil water reserves (BRÉDA et al., 2006). Since, in our case effect of TA_{mean} and BA are reciprocal, we can not confirm that forests with higher basal area have lower values of GPP₁₀₀₀ during droughts.

We have looked at the direct effect of droughts on forest ecosystems, i.e. we have analysed the disturbances in ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity during the year when droughts have occurred. Ten drought events did not affect GPP_{1000} , we speculate that these droughts could have occurred without temperature stress. The effect of drought is strong when drought co-occurred with temperature stress (CIAIS et al., 2005; VON BUTTLAR et al., 2018). Light use efficiency of temperate forests were less or non sensitive to droughts (STOCKER et al., 2018). But the GPP_{1000} of coppice forests in Sub-tropical Mediterranean region (IT-Ro2 and FR-Pue) show strong response to drought and listed as drought sensitive forests by STOCKER et al. (2018).

Also the effect of management on $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$ during droughts was not clear though management was selected in case of $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$ only. The coppice forests had more positive $Ano_{GPP1000mWT}$ compared to other management regimes. The coppice forests in our case were from the relatively warmer regions (indicated by dots in Figure 3.10). Thus we arrive to this result after removing the effect of climate which was stronger than management. The effect of droughts on GPP_{1000} was higher in unmanaged forests than managed high forests but statistically insignificant (Figure 3.10 when we did not remove effect any other factor. The managed forests are regularly thinned, the thinning has shown to increase the resistance against drought in the forests (MAGRUDER et al., 2013; SOHN et al., 2016). It hint us towards the point that forests management, particularly appropriate thinning activities, can decrease the effect of drought on forests. More studies can aid us in comfirming this, studies including droughts in 2018 and 2019 in Europe will give us further hint.

3.5.3 Limitations of the study

The main question addressed here is if the response of photosynthetic C fluxes to climate variation and drought is affected by the structural characteristics of forests. An ideal situation to understand the effect of structural parameters on any functional parameter of forests (e.g. GPP_{1000}) would be to have uniformly distributed sites over a wide range of structural parameter values, i.e. an equal number of sites in each structural parameter classes. For example, the effect of age on GPP_{1000} can be best understood if we have an equal number of forests in a wide range of age classes. In our case, our sites were not equally distributed across structural parameter classes. Similarly, this study is limited by the lower number of samples but high number of predictors. Regressions using this kind of data (independent variable concentrated in some parameter classes) could be biased or otherwise unreliable.

3.5.4 Outlook

Here, we have used only the structural parameter calculated from single structural attributes. However, to classify different forest along the axes of stand structures we need to have indices that combine multiple structural attributes (GOSSNER et al., 2014; SCHALL et al., 2018). Use of these more complex stand structural indices to understand the relationship between stand structure and forest resistance/resilience could be an interesting area of research in future. Recently, new and promising methods have been developed to characterize three-dimensional forest structure, such as terrestrial laser scanning (TSL)(EHBRECHT et al., 2016). Using the structural data from these techniques can further hint us on the effect of forest structure on resilient and resilience of forest ecosystem functions.

3.6 Conclusions

Our findings suggests that in addition to the effects of structural and environmental parameters on the stability of ecosystem functioning, inclusion of management activities is necessary. Here, we find that management regimes dominates the structural indices. Regarding our two hypotheses presented in the introduction section, we could confirm our first hypothesis. The unmanaged forests which had more diverse stand structure had higher temporal stability of ecosystem functioning (here measured in the response of inter-annual variation of GPP_{1000}). Whereas we could not confirm second hypothesis regarding the higher resistant of photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{1000}) of diverse forests during drought. However, we observe the indication that forests with higher basal area were more resistant during droughts.

3.7 Competing interests

We declare that we have no conflict of interest.

3.8 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Erasmus Mundus Joint Doctorate Programme Forest and Nature for Society (EMJD FONASO) and University of Goettingen Scholarship for funding this research. We are grateful to all the PIs for providing inventory data.

3.9 Supplementary materials

	Table 6.6. Erici management instory of the sites.	
Site	Management Regime	Reference
BE-Vie	Forest was thinned at the beginning of 2001, in mid-2003 and at the end of 2004.	HURDEBISE et al. (2017)
CH-Dav	From 1987 to 2008, only seven of 500 trees on the 0.6 ha long-term ecosystem monitoring plot were removed from the site, mostly following a severe storm in 1990. In October 2006, an area of 1750 m^2 within the north-east part of the eddy covariance (EC) footprint was harvested.	ZWEIFEL et al. (2010)
CH-Lae	The southern part of the EC footprint has been managed accord- ing to the forest stewardship council (FSC) since 1998 and the northern part is left unmanaged as a nature reserve since 2001	ETZOLD et al. (2011)
CZ-BK1	Norway spruce planted in 1981.	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
DE-Hai	The old-growth beech forest.	KNOHL et al. (2003)
DE-Lnf	The pure beech forest and thinned under regular shelterwood system with a rotation period of about 120-140 years.	TAMRAKAR et al. (2018)
FI-Hyy	Scots pine planted in 1962 and thinned in early 2002.	ILVESNIEMI et al. (2009) and VESALA et al. (2005)
FR-Fon	Forest stand located in protected reserve.	KOOP et al. (1987) and OTTO et al. (2014)
FR-Pue	This forest has been managed as a coppice for centuries and the last clear cut was performed in 1942.	ALLARD et al. (2008) and PITA et al. (2013)
IT-Ren	The site is of natural origin and is used for wood production.	PAPALE et al. (2015)
IT-Ro1	The site is in the initial developmental stages after the forest cut via coppicing in December 1999	PAPALE et al. (2015)
IT-Ro2	The forest is managed as coppice-with-standards with a rotation cycle ranging 15-20 years and arranged in 15 sequentially aged compartments.	HURDEBISE et al. (2017)
RU-Fyo	The site is located in reserve without any commercial disturbance since 1960s.	Milyukova et al. (2002)
US-Ha1	Some selective harvesting in site was done 300 m to the S-SE but not in a direction sampled by EC tower.	Urbanski et al. (2007)
US-Me2	The site was clear-cut in 1914 and then allowed to regenerate naturally.	Schwarz et al. (2004)
US- MMS	The forest is a secondary successional broadleaf forest. Timber has been harvested around EC tower based on selection and seed tree methods on a 20–25 years rotation for several decades	Ehman et al. (2002)
US-NR1	The sub-alpine forest is recovering from early twentieth century logging.	Monson et al. (2002)
US-PFa	The parts of forest has been thinned and clear-cut within the past few decades.	Davis et al. (2003)
US-Syv	It is unmanaged old-growth site which has never been logged.	Desai et al. (2005)
US- UMB	The stand was disturbed by harvest and fire once in the early 20th century and was not disturb later.	GOUGH et al. (2007)
US-WCr	The site is mature upland forest. The forests were harvested extensively in early 1990s.	Desai et al. (2005)

Table 3.8: Brief management history of the sites.

Site	Dry years	NEE	GPP	Reco	GPP ₁₀₀₀	T _{GPP100}
_	_	${ m g~C~m^{-2}~yr^{-1}}$	$\mathrm{g~C~m^{-2}~yr^{-1}}$	$\mathrm{g~C~m^{-2}~yr^{-1}}$	$- \text{ mol m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1}$	$- \text{ mol m}^{-2} \text{ yr}^{-1}$
BE-Vie	2003	-477 ± 157	1816 ± 186	1385 ± 242	27.41 ± 2.41	0.26^{***}
CH-Dav	2003, 2015	-78 ± 183	1055 ± 92	853 ± 157	16.91 ± 2.08	-0.1
CH-Lae	2015	-673 ± 395	1867 ± 177	1678 ± 315	32.19 ± 3.12	0.4^{*}
CZ-BK1	2015	-858 ± 120	1914 ± 155	968 ± 169	29.18 ± 2.68	0.45^{**}
DE-Hai	2003	-544 ± 84	1541 ± 143	1153 ± 104	29.3 ± 2.92	-0.19
DE-Lnf	2003	-597 ± 167	1659 ± 107	1127 ± 78	29.21 ± 2.6	0.03
FI-Hyy		-227 ± 55	1106 ± 109	924 ± 92	21.15 ± 1.5	0.18^{***}
FR-Fon	2005	-633 ± 91	1678 ± 178	1026 ± 242	30.15 ± 1.51	0.01
FR-Pue	2005, 2006, 2012	-232 ± 86	1224 ± 257	970 ± 240	14.65 ± 2.96	-0.33
IT-Ren	2005	-678 ± 143	1503 ± 248	991 ± 243	24.42 ± 3.3	0.59^{**}
IT-Ro1		-226 ± 194	1646 ± 122	1352 ± 178	21.53 ± 2.59	0.87
IT-Ro2	2007, 2012	-682 ± 258	1631 ± 163	1011 ± 195	23.29 ± 4.38	-0.31
RU-Fyo	2002	105 ± 127	1351 ± 133	1413 ± 102	23.86 ± 1.54	0.11^{*}
US-Ha1		-226 ± 208	1551 ± 232	1274 ± 268	26.72 ± 2.54	0.21^{*}
US-Me2	2002, 2013	-550 ± 265	1656 ± 152	1190 ± 271	19.93 ± 1.82	0.37^{**}
US-MMS	1999	$-427~\pm~73$	1644 ± 114	1231 ± 133	28.79 ± 1.97	-0.07
US-NR1	2002, 2012	-170 ± 29	910 ± 49	766 ± 55	16.1 ± 0.82	0.01
US-PFa	2006	-12 ± 114	903 ± 236	810 ± 149	20.39 ± 2.59	0.04
US-Syv	2006	-74 ± 113	1184 ± 266	947 ± 146	21.59 ± 2.53	0.64^{**}
US-UMB	2000	-269 ± 65	1319 ± 138	1071 ± 114	25.86 ± 2.19	0.35^{**}
US-WCr	2006	-260 ± 153	1272 ± 139	1043 ± 171	25.58 ± 3.15	0.13

Table 3.9: Dry years, and annual mean \pm sd values of different fluxes (NEE, GPP, Reco, GPP_{1000p} and trend of GPP_{1000p} - T_{GPP100}) for sites.

	Correlation of				
Variables	Sd _{GPF}	21000m	$\mathrm{Sd}_{\mathrm{GPP}}$	1000p	
	WT	WoT	WT	WoT	
Environmental parameters					
TA _{mean}	0.43*	0.56^{***}	0.33	0.43^{*}	
R_{gmean}	0.12	0.15	0.3	0.3	
VPD_{mean}	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.34	
P_{mean}	0.27	0.17	0.22	0.06	
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{mean}}$	-0.31	-0.29	-0.34	-0.3	
TA _{GSmean}	0.4	0.52^{*}	0.39	0.46^{*}	
$R_{gGSmean}$	0.2	0.2	0.37	0.34	
$\mathrm{VPD}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	0.18	0.26	0.29	0.31	
P_{GSmean}	0.11	-0.05	0.07	-0.09	
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	-0.3	-0.22	-0.45*	-0.32	
TA _{sd}	0.35	0.34	0.38	0.41	
R_{gsd}	0.57^{***}	0.31	0.51^{*}	0.32	
VPD_{sd}	0.49^{*}	0.44^{*}	0.36	0.35	
P_{sd}	0.43^{*}	0.33	0.46^{*}	0.3	
$\rm SPEI_{sd}$	-0.2	-0.34	-0.07	-0.28	
TA _{GSsd}	0.05	0.06	-0.04	0.02	
R_{gGSsd}	0.31	0.18	0.33	0.2	
$\rm VPD_{GSsd}$	0.29	0.33	0.16	0.23	
P_{GSsd}	0.46^{*}	0.47^{*}	0.55^{***}	0.48^{*}	
$SPEI_{GSsd}$	0	-0.12	0	-0.17	
Structural parameters					
Age	-0.2	-0.11	-0.35	-0.28	
$\log Age$	-0.31	-0.27	-0.42	-0.39	
BA	-0.61^{***}	-0.44*	-0.66***	-0.52^{*}	
DBH	-0.17	-0.16	-0.45*	-0.38	
$\mathrm{DBH}_{\mathrm{sd}}$	-0.01	-0.01	-0.21	-0.17	
Height	0.06	0.04	-0.28	-0.19	
ShnSz	-0.14	-0.15	-0.42	-0.33	
SimSz	-0.21	-0.2	-0.44*	-0.33	
SpNo	-0.03	0.02	-0.07	0.01	

Table 3.10: The zero-order correlation of environmental and structural variables with $Sd_{GPP1000}$ calculated from mean and 90th percentile with and without trend. *** is significant at p = 0.001, ** p = 0.01, and * p = 0.05.

	Correlation of					
Variables	GPP		F	leco		
	WT	WoT	WT	WoT		
Environmental parameters						
TA _{mean}	0.41	0.55^{***}	0.29	0.19		
R_{gmean}	0.19	0.2	0.26	0.18		
VPD_{mean}	0.38	0.47^{*}	0.19	0.01		
P_{mean}	0.23	0.21	0.31	0.34		
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{mean}}$	-0.41	-0.39	-0.23	-0.11		
$\mathrm{TA}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	0.37	0.44*	0.19	0.08		
$R_{gGSmean}$	0.28	0.28	0.3	0.17		
$\mathrm{VPD}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	0.4	0.46^{*}	0.16	-0.04		
P_{GSmean}	-0.02	-0.14	0.15	0.29		
$\mathrm{SPEI}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	-0.38	-0.23	-0.09	0.06		
TA _{sd}	0.11	-0.09	0.09	0.09		
R_{gsd}	0.43^{*}	0.38	0.05	0.02		
$\rm VPD_{sd}$	0.2	0.25	0.03	0.08		
P_{sd}	0.38	0.39	0.19	0.15		
$\rm SPEI_{sd}$	0.1	0.02	0.05	-0.02		
TA _{GSsd}	-0.23	-0.24	-0.2	-0.14		
R_{gGSsd}	0.19	0.24	-0.01	0.03		
$\rm VPD_{GSsd}$	0.15	0.27	-0.1	-0.09		
P_{GSsd}	0.45^{*}	0.48^{*}	0.2	0.15		
$SPEI_{GSsd}$	0.18	0.07	0.18	0.18		
Structural parameters						
Age	-0.3	-0.17	-0.06	0.01		
$\log Age$	-0.35	-0.26	-0.07	-0.04		
BA	-0.54***	-0.39	0.03	0.13		
DBH	-0.44*	-0.36	-0.16	-0.1		
$\mathrm{DBH}_{\mathrm{sd}}$	-0.1	0	0.47^{*}	0.56^{***}		
Height	-0.42	-0.32	-0.17	0		
ShnSz	-0.47*	-0.38	0	0.13		
SimSz	-0.58***	-0.49*	-0.16	0.01		
SpNo	-0.18	-0.34	-0.07	-0.09		

Table 3.11: The zero-order correlation of environmental and structural variable with mean annual GPP and Reco calculated with and without trend. *** is significant at p = 0.001, ** p = 0.01, and * p = 0.05.

Variables	Correlation of				
variables	Anogpp		And	PReco	
	WT	WoT	WT	WoT	
Environmental parameters					
TA _{mean}	-0.3	-0.33	-0.06	-0.05	
R_{gmean}	-0.32	-0.22	-0.06	0.07	
VPD_{mean}	-0.44*	-0.39	-0.07	0.02	
$\mathrm{P}_{\mathrm{mean}}$	0.03	-0.15	-0.15	-0.34	
$SPEI_{mean}$	0.02	0.13	-0.15	-0.15	
TA _{GSmean}	-0.46*	-0.45*	-0.18	-0.18	
$R_{gGSmean}$	-0.43*	-0.34	-0.09	0.05	
$\mathrm{VPD}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	-0.44*	-0.41*	-0.06	0.02	
P_{GSmean}	0.28	0.19	-0.1	-0.27	
$SPEI_{GSmean}$	0.34	0.43^{*}	0.05	0.09	
TA _{sd}	-0.08	-0.07	-0.22	-0.24	
R_{gsd}	-0.53***	-0.51***	-0.35	-0.32	
VPD_{sd}	-0.45*	-0.49***	-0.19	-0.25	
P_{sd}	-0.21	-0.35	-0.17	-0.29	
$SPEI_{sd}$	-0.14	-0.11	-0.02	-0.08	
TA _{GSsd}	-0.18	-0.16	-0.3	-0.24	
R_{gGSsd}	-0.51***	-0.54***	-0.35	-0.37	
$\rm VPD_{GSsd}$	-0.41*	-0.46*	-0.13	-0.16	
$\mathrm{P}_{\mathrm{GSsd}}$	-0.09	-0.14	-0.13	-0.25	
$SPEI_{GSsd}$	-0.36	-0.33	-0.16	-0.3	
Structural parameters					
Age	0.37	0.38	0.2	0.21	
logAge	0.38	0.43^{*}	0.19	0.26	
ВА	0.53^{***}	0.51^{***}	0.32	0.37	
DBH	0.33	0.34	0.11	0.19	
$\mathrm{DBH}_{\mathrm{sd}}$	0.11	0.17	0.19	0.27	
Height	0.24	0.29	0.01	0.05	
ShnSz	0.24	0.31	0.06	0.15	
SimSz	0.24	0.33	0.03	0.14	
SpNo	-0.03	0.02	-0.18	-0.15	

Table 3.12: The zero-order correlation of GPP and Reco anomalies of dry years with environmental and structural variables. Anomalies were also estimated with trend and after removing trend. *** is significant at p = 0.001, ** p = 0.01, and * p = 0.05.

site	$\mathrm{GPP}_{1000\mathrm{m}}\mathrm{VsTA}_{\mathrm{GSmean}}$	$GPP_{1000p}VsTA_{GSmean}$
BE-Vie	0.43	0.45
CH-Dav	0.45	0.39
CH-Lae	0.32	0.38
CZ-BK1	0.45	0.50
DE-Hai	0.57	0.36
DE-Lnf	0.38	0.45
FI-Hyy	0.37	0.28
FR-Fon	0.53	0.37
FR-Pue	0.64	0.65
IT-Ren	0.37	0.37
IT-Ro1	0.58	0.53
IT-Ro2	0.71	0.43
RU-Fyo	0.34	0.35
US-Ha1	0.43	0.41
US-Me2	0.62	0.48
US-MMS	0.59	0.52
US-NR1	0.35	0.37
US-PFa	0.52	0.32
US-Syv	0.53	0.52
US-UMB	0.35	0.43
US-WCr	0.52	0.42

Table 3.13: The distance correlation values of $\text{GPP}_{1000\text{m}}$ and $\text{GPP}_{1000\text{p}}$ with yearly growing season rainfall (TA_{GSmean}.

chapter 4

A flexible forest soil water model (FWSM) in ${\sf R}$

Manuscript to be submitted to 'Environmental modelling and software'

4.1 Abstract

Soil water availability is one of the most important determinants of vegetation characteristics. To estimate soil water in forest soils, a new model (forest soil water model - FSWM), suitable for a range of forest soils, is developed in the R environment. This new open-source model incorporates the Gash model for interception, the Ritchie model for soil evaporation and the Richards equation for soil water movement. Model performance, evaluated against soil water measurements at 12 sites, was good for deciduous broadleaf forests ($R^2 = 0.68$), moderate for mixed forests ($R^2 = 0.57$) and evergreen needle leaf forests ($R^2 = 0.45$). Performance when simulating evapotranspiration was better, with R^2 from values 0.52 to 0.88. FSWM is also flexible for simulating soil horizons with different depths and helps when comparing modeled with observed values at different soil depths. The above characteristics make FSWM a flexible and freely available tool for the ecosystem and hydrological research.

4.2 Introduction

Soil water availability is one of the most important determinants of vegetation characteristics (CLARK et al., 2016; STEPHENSON, 2002), including vegetation health (HU et al., 2017; LANTSCHNER et al., 2019; LIU et al., 2018), and productivity (HUANG et al., 2012; REICHSTEIN et al., 2007; WANG et al., 2016). The increasing frequency of drought events in recent years (SPINONI et al., 2019) has increased interest within the scientific community towards better understanding the associated impacts on terrestrial ecosystems.

Various drought indices have been proposed to quantify droughts (see review by SPEICH, 2019). Some indices use precipitation data alone (e.g. the standardized precipitation index - SPI by MCKEE et al., 1993; the standardized precipitation and evapotranspiration index - SPEI by VICENTE-SERRANO et al., 2010) while other use physiological parameters along with meteorological variables (e.g. the water stress integral - WSI by MYERS, 1988). Soil water in forests can be calculated either from sub-modules of process-based land surface models, as found in FORCLIM (BUGMANN et al., 1998), FOREST-BGC (RUNNING et al., 1988), SPA (WILLIAMS et al., 1996), FORSKA (PRENTICE et al., 1992), SIERRA (MOUILLOT et al., 2001), LPJ-DGVM (SITCH et al., 2003), CASTANEA (DAVI et al., 2005b), CoupModel (JANSSON et al., 2011), and others, or from soil water balance models like Site Water Balance - SWB (GRIER et al., 1977), the Simple Water Balance Model - SWBM (ORTH et al., 2013), SPLASH (DAVIS et al., 2017), BILJOU (GRANIER et al., 1999), SWUF (PAUL et al., 2003), and others. Process-based land surface models usually involve a large number of parameters and the estimation of these parameters requires detailed field and experimental data. If soil water content or drought indices are required, water balance models using simple soil and stand parameters and climatic data are often adequate (GRANIER et al., 1999).

JONG et al. (1996) categorized water balance models into budget models, semi-dynamic models and dynamic models and pointed out the main advantages and disadvantages of each. Most simple budget models consider the soil profile as a bucket into which water flows until it is full and surplus water is then either runoff or drainage beneath the root zone (DAVIS et al., 2017). The advanced budget models have the soil profile divided into

multiple layers (O'LEARY et al., 1985). In the case of semi-dynamic models, the rate of water movement of each layer varies as a function of infiltration amount, the relative water content, percolation coefficient, drainage rate coefficients, etc. (GRANIER et al., 1999; PAUL et al., 2003). In dynamic models, the physical factors governing water movement in soil – for example, the soil water potential, the differential water capacify, the hydraulic conductivity, etc. of each soil layer – control infiltration and redistribution of water (JONG et al., 1996).

STOCKER et al. (2018) used three different water budget models (SPLASH, SWBM and ET-driven bucket) and two different water holding capacities to quantify soil water content of many different ecosystem types. Their results showed that in most of the temperate forests analyzed (eg. Hainich, Tharandt, Soroe, Loobos, Hyytiala, etc) soil moisture had little to no influence on light use efficiency (LUE). Contrary to that, GRANIER et al. (2007), using the semi-dynamic soil water model (BILJOU), showed that soil moisture for the same temperate sites had a strong influence on gross primary productivity (GPP) in the heat-wave of 2003. We note that STOCKER et al. (2018) used longer-term data including 2003. Such inconsistencies in reported drought effects can arise from a number of factors, such as errors in the calculation of soil moisture indices, differences in the temporal data coverage (only one year in the case of GRANIER et al. (2007)), different types of models, and different functional properties of forest stands. Such uncertainties can make it difficult to address ecological questions about the sensitivity of functional properties (e.g. LUE) of temperate forests to drought or to derive meaningful drought indices.

One approach is to use semi-dynamic or dynamic models that allow calculating water dynamics of entire soil profiles over multiple years, spatial and temporal levels at which direct measurements are rarely available (and in any case prone to large errors). The resulting data can be more effectively used to test if functional properties of temperate forests have been more or less affected by soil moisture content in a given period. These models can utilize site-specific soil parameters and vegetation characteristics to quantify forest soil moisture indices.

Although there are many models (as listed above) that calculate soil water dynamics using a variety of approaches, it is difficult to find soil water models that are open source, easily accessible and practical to implement. The latter requires models that are standalone, meaning they are independent and can be run with a minimal set of vegetation, soil and climate data. Models also do not always have the structural flexibility to simulate different soil vertical resolutions, thus making them more easily comparable to the variety of site-level moisture data available.

The BILJOU model (GRANIER et al., 1999), a semi-dynamic model, is a useful tool for such purposes because it requires simple soil and stand parameters, in addition to climatic data. BILJOU can be run for single years using the online platform https://appgeodb.nancy.inra.fr/biljou/. There are a few disadvantages of this model. First, running the model for multiple years in such a platform is impractical and quickly becomes tedious and time-demanding. Second, the model code is closed source, making it impossible to know precisely how calculations are performed or to modify the code if changes in parameter values or processes are desired. Thus, we recognized the need to build a model using a familiar and accessible platform, for which we chose R (R DEVELOPMENT CORE

TEAM, 2018). Making the code open-source facilitates the improvement and further development of the model by the research community.

Here we present the forest soil water model (FSWM) that runs at a daily time scale. Our model is based on the same general principles underlying BILJOU (GRANIER et al., 1999) while improving a number of processes and adding functionality for the quantification of soil water in temperate forests. These improvements include (1) the use of soil texture data, to estimate field capacity, wilting point and hydraulic conductivity (SAXTON et al., 2006); (2) the use of net radiation whenever possible instead of solar radiation; (3) an optional function to calculate root distribution in different soil layers (GALE et al., 1987); (4) the Ritchie formulation for soil evaporation (RITCHIE, 1972); (5) the Gash model of interception (GASH et al., 1995); and (6) the Richards equation to calculated soil water movement (RICHARDS, 1931).

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Model description

FSWM runs at a daily scale and calculates transpiration, interception, throughfall, soil evaporation, soil moisture and drought indices – relative extractable water (REW) at a daily scale and annual drought index (ADI) at an annual scale – using the input data shown in Table 4.1. Soil can be represented in multiple layers. Saturation point, field capacity, wilting point, and hydraulic conductivity of different soil layers are calculated using soil texture data following SAXTON et al. (2006). Field capacity, however, can also be given as input data by estimating it from the measured long-term soil moisture data. Changes in daily soil water content (Δ) SW, eq. 4.1) are calculated as the balance between total rainfall (P), interception (I), transpiration (T), soil evapotranspiration (E) and drainage (D). The model assume no run-off. Symbols and parameters used in the model are listed in Table 4.2 and 4.3, respectively.

$$\Delta SW = P - I - T - E - D \tag{4.1}$$

Distribution of roots

We used the model presented by GALE (1987) for the vertical distribution of root. In this model, lower values of the parameter β represent higher abundance of roots on the shallower soil layers. Jackson et al. (1996) listed β values for different ecosystems between 0.914 and 0.975 ($\beta = 0.976$ and 0.966 for temperate coniferous and deciduous forests, respectively). Whenever data for root mass in different soil layers is available, we can calculate site-specific β values.

$$Y = 1 - \beta^d \tag{4.2}$$

Here, Y is the cumulative root fraction from the surface to any depth (d) in centimeters.

Symbols	Description
Site data	
Ele	site elevation [m]
\mathbf{FT}	forest type – Deciduous, Evergreen or Mixed
Lat	latitude [decimal degrees]
Site	name of the site
TRD	total rooting depth [cm]
M_{H}	wind speed measurement height [m]
Data for each soil layer	
BD	bulk density $[g \text{ cm}^{-3}]$
Clay	$clay [g g^{-1}]$
DL	depth of layer lower boundary [cm]
DU	depth of layer upper boundary [cm]
DUL	the volumetric water content of drained soil $[v v^{-1}]$ (optional)
Gravel	gravel $[g g^{-1}]$
\mathbf{RF}	root fraction (optional)
Sand	sand $[g g^{-1}]$
SOM	soil organic matter content $[g g^{-1}]$
Phenological data	
GSE	Julian day when the all the leaves fall
GSS	Julian day when the first leaves appear
Lai	maximum leaf area index for the year $[m^2 m^{-2}]$
Climatic data	
Р	daily sum of rainfall [mm]
R_{g}	daily short-wave radiation $[Mj m^{-2} day^{-1}]$ (if R_n not available)
$\mathrm{RH}_{\mathrm{max}}$	maximum daily relative humidity [%]
$ m RH_{min}$	minimum daily relative humidity [%]
R _n	daily net radiation $[Mj m^{-2} day^{-1}]$
T_{max}	maximum daily temperature [°C]
$\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{mean}}$	mean daily temperature [°C]
$\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{min}}$	minimum daily temperature [°C]
WS_{MH}	wind speed at measurement height [m]

Table 4.1: List of inputs required for the model, site data, soil layer data, phenological, and climatic data.

Temporal variation of leaf area index (LAI) and light reaching the ground

Forests in the model can be either evergreen, deciduous or mixed. For evergreen forests, we maintain a constant LAI over the year. For deciduous forests, LAI is 0 during the non-leaved period and linearly increases after the start of leaf-out over the course of 45 days, after which it reaches a maximum. Based on our experience in a deciduous unmanaged Hainich forest, Germany, the underground vegetation starts growing nearly two weeks before the tree leaves start coming out and tree leaves took around thirty days to come out completely. For mixed forests, LAI is divided into an evergreen and a deciduous fraction, with the dynamics of each fraction being as described for each forest type. LAI for the evergreen part is constant over the entire year and we follow the same principle for the deciduous part as in the deciduous forest. LAI remains maximum for both deciduous and

Symbols	Description
С	canopy cover (0 to 1)
D	sub-surface drainage $[mm day^{-1}]$
Δ	slope of the saturation vapour pressure curve [kPa °C]
Dep	depth of the soil layer [cm]
dz_i	thickness of soil layer i [mm]
Е	soil evaporation $[mm day^{-1}]$
\mathbf{FC}	field capacity [mm]
γ	psychrommetric constant [kPa °C]
Ι	rainfall interception $[mm day^{-1}]$
Κ	empirical unsaturated hydraulic conductivity function $[mm \ s^{-1}]$
LAI	leaf area index $[m^2 m^{-2}]$
λ	latent heat of vaporization $[MJ kg^{-1}]$
L_{g}	proportion of light at canopy
$\tilde{L_g}$	proportion of light reaching ground
P	daily sum of rainfall $[mm day^{-1}]$
PET	potential evapotranspiration $[mm day^{-1}]$
P_s	canopy saturating rainfall [mm]
ψ	empirical soil hydraulic capillary head function [mm]
r	ratio of TR _{max} to PET
REW	relative extractable water
Т	transpiration $[mm day^{-1}]$
t	time [s]
$ heta_i$	volumetric soil water content of layer i $[m^3 m^{-3}]$
$\mathrm{TR}_{\mathrm{max}}$	transpiration without water stress $[mm day^{-1}]$
WP	Wilting point [mm]
WS_{2m}	wind speed at 2 m height $[m s^{-1}]$
Y	cumulative root fraction
Z	vertical coordinate (positive downward) [mm]

Table 4.2: Symbols of variables used in the model.

mixed forest until leaves start falling in autumn. LAI starts to decrease 45 days before all the leaves shed.

The proportion of light reaching the ground (L_g) is estimated with the Beer-Lambert function using a light extinction coefficient (k) and LAI as shown in eq. 4.3. The fraction of light intercepted by the canopy is the remaining fraction (eq. 4.4) and also considered as canopy cover (C).

$$L_g = e^{-k*LAI} \tag{4.3}$$

$$L_c = C = 1 - L_q \tag{4.4}$$

Canopy interception

We used the Gash model (GASH et al., 1995) for quantifying canopy interception (I) where daily rainfall is considered to fall in a single event. First, the minimum amount of rainfall required to saturate the canopy (P_s) is calculated based on canopy storage (S), rate of evaporation during the rainfall event (ER) and canopy cover (C) (eq. 4.5). Canopy storage

Parameter	Description	Value	Reference
β	Root distribution parameter	0.92 - 0.97	JACKSON et al., 1996
CSC	Canopy water storage capacity	$0.10 - 1 \text{ [mm LAI}^{-1} \text{]}$	BITTNER et al., 2010;
			CÁCERES et al., 2015;
			KLAASSEN et al., 1998
\mathbf{ER}	The ratio of the evaporation	0.05 - 0.25	BITTNER et al., 2010;
	rate to rainfall rate during the		CÁCERES et al., 2015
	rainfall event		
g	Desorptivity values	2-8 $[mm day^{-1/2}]$	Kustas, 2016; Paul et
0			al., 2003
k	Light extinction coefficient	0.5	

Table 4.3: Symbols of parameters and their values used in model.

on a particular day is calculated as the product of canopy storage capacity (CSC) and LAI. Intercepted water is then calculated as shown in eq. 4.6.

$$P_s = \frac{S}{C ER} \ln(1 - ER) \tag{4.5}$$

$$I = \begin{cases} C P_s + C ER(P - P_s) & \text{if } P > P_s \\ C P & \text{if } P <= P_s \end{cases}$$

$$(4.6)$$

Transpiration

Transpiration is a function of PET, LAI and relative extractable water (REW). The model first calculates the potential evapotranspiration (PET) with the Penman-Monteith equation (ZOTARELLI et al., 2010) requiring daily net radiation (R_n), mean temperature (T_{mean}), vapour pressure deficit (VPD), and wind speed at 2 m height (WS_{2m}) as shown in eq. 4.7. If (R_n) is not available it is estimated from the global radiation (R_g). WS_{2m} is calculated using eq. 4.8.

$$PET = \frac{0.408\Delta R_n + \gamma \frac{900}{Tmean+273} WS_{2m} VPD}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + 0.34 WS_{2m})}$$
(4.7)

$$WS_{2m} = WS_{MH} \frac{4.87}{\ln(67.8 M_H - 5.42)} \tag{4.8}$$

Secondly, the model estimates r, the ratio of maximum stand transpiration (transpiration without water limitation - TR_{max}) to PET as the function of LAI (eq. 4.9). A soil water limitation to transpiration is estimated by calculating REW, which is the ratio of available water (available soil water -SW minus wilting point - WP) to maximum available water (field capacity - FC minus wilting point - WP) for plants (eq. 4.10). Actual transpiration (T) is then calculated as the product of r and PET when soil water is not limited or as a function dependent on r, REW and PET when soil water is limited (eq. 4.11).

$$r = \frac{TR_{max}}{PET} = \begin{cases} 0.75 & \text{if LAI} >= 6\\ 0.125 \ LAI & \text{if LAI} < 6 \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

$$REW = \frac{SW - WP}{FC - WP} \tag{4.10}$$

$$T = \begin{cases} r \ PET & \text{if REW} > 0.4\\ PET \ \frac{r \ REW + 0.15 \ (0.4 - REW)}{0.4} & \text{if REW} <= 0.4 \end{cases}$$
(4.11)

Understorey evapotranspiration

Understorey evapotranspiration is the minimum between soil water supply (S_{soil}) from the topsoil layer and potential soil evaporation. S_{soil} is based on Ritchie (1972). First, the time required to evaporate the water deficit (i.e. the difference between field capacity (FC1) and soil water (SW1) - t_{def}), from the topsoil layer is calculated (eq. 4.13) and is dependent on desorptivity parameter (γ). Then, the soil water supply is calculated (eq. 4.14).

$$E_{soil} = min\left(S_{soil}, PET_s\right) \tag{4.12}$$

$$t_{def} = \left[\frac{FC_1 - SW_1}{\gamma}\right]^2 \tag{4.13}$$

$$S_{soil} = \gamma \left(\sqrt{t_{def} + 1} - \sqrt{t_{def}} \right) \tag{4.14}$$

Potential evaporation from the understorey PET_s is calculated using the same formulation as for the canopy (eq. 4.7). The net radiation reaching the ground was estimated as the product of fraction light reaching the ground (eq. 4.3) and net radiation at the canopy R_n . Wind speed under the canopy was estimated from eq. 4.15. During the non-leaved period, the R_n reaching the ground was assumed to be 0.3 as used by BITTNER et al. (2010).

$$WS_{2m} = WS_{MH} \exp\left[a\left(\frac{2}{M_H} - 1\right)\right]$$
(4.15)

Water movement in soil

The model divides the soil into at least two layers: the top layer (0-10 cm) from where soil evaporation occurs and bottom layer(s). The number of soil layers (nsl) depends on the soil details available. The Richards equation (RICHARDS, 1931) is applied for vertical water flow through unsaturated porous medium to estimate the change in soil moisture in each soil layer (eq. 4.16). The unsaturated conductivity (K_{θ}) and tension (ψ_{θ}) at soil moisture (θ) is quantified following Saxton and Rawls (2006), and linearized about change in volumetric soil water content (d_{θ}). A tridiagonal system of equations is used to solve d_{θ} , as implemented in the R package LimSolve(SOETAERT et al., 2016). The solution conserves water as shown in eq. 4.17.

$$\frac{d\theta}{dt} = \frac{d}{dz} \left[-K_{\theta} \; \frac{d(\psi_{\theta} + z)}{dz} \right] \tag{4.16}$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \theta_1 \cdot dz_1 + \dots + \theta_{nsl} \, dz_{nsl} \end{bmatrix}_{n+1} = \begin{bmatrix} \theta_1 \, dz_1 + \dots + \theta_{nsl} \, dz_{nsl} \end{bmatrix}_n + (q_{infl} - q_E - q_T - q_D) \, dt$$
(4.17)

where, θ_i is volumetric soil water content of layer i [m³ m⁻³] d_z is thickness of ith soil layer [mm] n is the number of the timestep (day of the year in our case) q_{infl} is the infiltration rate (mm s⁻¹) q_E is the soil evaporation rate(mm s⁻¹) q_T is the transpiration rate (mm s⁻¹) q_D is the drainage rate (mm s⁻¹) dt is the number of seconds in a timestep (86400 seconds in our case)

The lower and upper boundaries for daily soil water content are given by wilting point (WP) and field capacity (FC), respectively. As a more reliable alternative to pedotransfer functions, FC can be directly taken from long-term measurement of soil moisture that captures maximum field values. Temperate forests typically show periods of stable high soil water levels, indicating a well-drained maximum (see Fig. 4.3). This value, also known as the drained upper limit (DUL), can be used as FC. WP, on the other hand, was estimated using the soil texture data following SAXTON et al. (2006). Water exceeding FC is percolated from a soil layer down to lower layers. Any excess water in the last soil layer is lost as sub-surface drainage.

Drought indices

REW is the index for daily drought. At the annual scale, we calculate annual drought days (ADD) and annual drought intensity as drought index (ADI). ADD is calculated as the numbers of days when REW is below 0.4 (based on threshold value given by GRANIER et al., 1999) and ADI as:

$$ADI = \frac{\sum max[\frac{0.4 - REW}{0.4}, \ 0]}{365}$$
(4.18)

where ADI is dimensionless and ranges between 0 (when daily REW is always above 0.4) and 1 (when daily REW is 0 in all days of a year).

4.3.2 Data

We compiled data from twelve forest sites within the fluxnet2015 eddy covariance data set (FLUXNET, 2017). Data consisted of daily climate (temperature, humidity, precipitation, radiation), latent energy fluxes, soil moisture and soil texture of four deciduous broad-leaved forests (DBF), four evergreen needle-leaved forests (ENF) and four mixed forests (MF)(Table

4.4). Soil data (sand, clay, bulk density, gravel, soil organic material) were obtained from fluxnet2015, euroflux (http://www.europe-fluxdata.eu/) and from relevant literature. Data and model for this chapter are available at https://doi.org/10.25625/3DVVVN.

Site	Forest Type	Latitude	Elevation	Reference
DE-Hai	DBF	51.08	431	KNOHL et al. (2003)
DE-Lnf	DBF	51.33	450	HERBST et al. (2015)
DK-Sor	DBF	55.49	40	PILEGAARD et al. (2001)
US-MMS	DBF	39.32	293	SCHMID et al. (2000)
DE-Tha	ENF	50.96	295	GRÜNWALD et al. (2007)
IT-Lav	ENF	45.96	1319	PAPALE et al. (2015)
NL-Loo	ENF	52.17	26	Schelhaas et al. (2004)
US-Me2	ENF	44.45	1234	IRVINE et al. (2004)
BE-Bra	MF	51.31	16	JANSSENS et al. (1999)
BE-Vie	MF	50.31	495	AUBINET et al. (2001)
CH-Lae	MF	47.48	674	ETZOLD et al. (2011)
US-Syv	MF	46.24	533	DESAI et al. (2005)

Lable 4.4. Dice used in this study	Table 4.4:	Sites	used	$_{\mathrm{in}}$	this	study
------------------------------------	------------	-------	------	------------------	------	-------

4.3.3 Model parameterizations

Four model parameters namely deabsorbity (γ), canopy storage capacity (CSC), rate of canopy evaporation to rainfall rate (ER) and the root distribution coefficient (β) were optimized by minimizing the difference between modelled evapotranspiration and evapotranspiration calculated from the observed corrected latent energy (details on latent energy correction is detailed in FLUXNET, 2017). Parameters were separately optimized for each forest type by selecting four years of one randomly selected site from each forest type (DBF:DE-Hai, ENF:DE-Tha and MF:BE-Bra). Optimization was carried out with the R package FME (SOETAERT et al., 2016).

4.3.4 Model evaluation

We evaluated the model results with soil moisture and corrected evapotranspiration data from the 12 fluxnet sites, excluding the data used to estimate the parameters discussed in section 4.3.3. For evapotranspiration comparison, we used only the days with more than 80 % non-filled half-hourly observed evapotranspiration data.

4.4 Results and discussions

4.4.1 Field capacity (FC) and wilting point (WP)

Using FC from field soil moisture measurements instead of approximating it with a pedotransfer function improved the model performance in all sites except in BE-Bra (Figure 4.1). The highest improvement was observed in US-Me2 (38 % increase in \mathbb{R}^2). \mathbb{R}^2 of deciduous forests increased in average ca. 9 %. Different studies have used different soil water potential to estimate FC (e.g. KÄTTERER et al., 2006; LE BAS et al., 1997; WHITE, 2006, etc.). Here we used a soil water potential of -33 Kpa and pedotransfer functions developed by SAXTON et al. (2006) for approximating FC from soil texture (RICHARDS,

1944). NEMES et al. (2011) showed that FC estimated from -33 kPa can differ from the field measured FC.

Similarly, optimizing the texture (clay and sand %) improved the model performance significantly in DBF sites (lower panels of Fig. 4.1). Texture vary spatially within a forest. In Figure 4.16, we show the texture reported in three different papers at DE-Hai (BITTNER et al., 2010; GUCKLAND et al., 2009; KUTSCH et al., 2010). Even though KUTSCH et al. (2010) measured the soil texture in plots approximately three kilometers west of plots measured by BITTNER et al. (2010) and GUCKLAND et al. (2009), the values of clay content vary considerably over short distances.



Figure 4.1: Improvement in performance by using FC from field measurements (top row) and by optimizing soil texture (bottom row).

4.4.2 Model parameterizations

Optimized values of parameters β , CSC, ER and g are presented in Table 4.5. β for DBF and ENF are lower than suggested by JACKSON et al. (1996). However, the β values are similar to estimates by BITTNER et al. (2010) based on fine roots measurement.

CSC values were within the range estimated by different studies. BITTNER et al. (2010) estimated CSC between 0.06 to 0.21 mm LAI^{-1} during the foliated period and 0.08 to 0.13 mm LAI^{-1} during the non-foliated period for a beech forest. LINK et al. (2004) reviewed values of CSC and found them to lie between 0.1 to 0.22 for needle-leaved forests. However, estimated CSC values are lower than estimated by CÁCERES et al. (2015) for all forest types.

Our estimates for ER (0.1 for all forest types) were similar to CÁCERES et al. (2015). They estimated ER equal to 0.2 in winter and 0.05 in summer. The parameters CSC and ER are highly correlated in all forest types (Table 4.9).

The desoptivity coefficients (g) values were within the range of other studies. KUSTAS (2016) reports the value of g between 2.11 to 8 for different soil types. Here, we did not parameterize the value of g for different seasons although a seasonal dependency has been reported (JACKSON et al., 1976).

Table 4.5: Optimized values of root distribution parameter (β), canopy water storage capacity (CSC,mm LAI⁻¹), the ratio of the evaporation rate to rainfall rate during the rainfall event (ER), and desorptivity values (g, mm day^{-1/2}).

Parameter	Estimate	Std. Error	t value	$\Pr(> t)$	
DBF					
β	0.93	0.11	8.85	0.00	
$CSC \ [mm \ LAI^{-1}]$	0.11	0.01	8.19	0.00	
ER	0.10	0.02	6.54	0.00	
$g \left[mm day^{-1/2} \right]$	3.05	0.14	21.76	0.00	
ENF					
β	0.94	0.13	7.06	0.00	
$CSC [mm LAI^{-1}]$	0.25	0.02	11.19	0.00	
ER	0.10	0.02	5.63	0.00	
$g \left[mm day^{-1/2} \right]$	3.32	0.24	13.87	0.00	
MF					
β	0.97	0.06	17.01	0.00	
$CSC \text{ [mm LAI^{-1}]}$	0.10	0.02	4.81	0.00	
ER	0.10	0.02	4.54	0.00	
g [mm day $^{-1/2}$]	2.79	0.59	4.70	0.00	

4.4.3 Model evaluation

Table 4.6 shows the model performance against measured soil water for all sites. The timeseries of modelled and observed soil moisture data for all sites are presented in Appendix 4.6.1.

For DBF sites, the average R^2 was 0.69 with the highest R^2 in the managed beech forest site DE-Lnf and the lowest in DK-Sor after optimizing soil texture. The observed soil moisture time series for DK-Sor (Figure 4.5) shows numerous erratic periods (for e.g. 2007-2010 and 2016-2018). In the case of US-MMS, the new model performed better than for DK-Sor based on the top soil moisture data only (Figure 4.6).

Model performance was average for evergreen needle-leaved forests, with a mean \mathbb{R}^2 of 0.45, with the lowest values for NL-Loo. The timeseries of observed data for NL-Loo (Figure 4.9), a sandy site, shows unrealistic constant values (ca. 0.06) from mid 2000 to mid 2002 (flat lines in top layer) and mid 2004 to 2007. Model performance in IT-Lav, though slightly better compared to NL-Loo, was poor. The observed and modelled data better matched for deeper depth than the top depth (Figure 4.8) and observed top soil data differed strongly between 2004-2008 and 2009-2015. In the case of DE-Tha, only data for top soil is available with high inter-annual variation (Figure 4.7).

In the case of mixed forests, model performance was good for two sites (BE-Bra and CH-Lae) and poor for US-Syv. Soil moisture for only the top 10 cm is reported for US-Syv and shows unrealistic constant values from 2009 to 2011. Additionally, the observed soil moisture is higher from 2012 to 2015. There were also errors in the soil moisture data in BE-Vie starting from 2007 (Figure 4.12).

We have found data issues in numerous sites making our evaluation results poor. On top of that if data is only available for top soil, the results are poor. Measurement by soil moisture sensors are more prone to errors in upper soil layer than bottom layers (MITTELBACH et al., 2012). Similarly, the soil measurements become more uncertain with time.

Site	\mathbf{FT}	\mathbf{R}^2	RMSE	Slope	Intercept	Count
DE-Hai	DBF	0.75	0.04	1.05	-0.03	5104
DE-Lnf	DBF	0.84	0.03	0.92	0.03	5344
DK-Sor	DBF	0.54	0.04	0.82	0.04	2557
US-MMS	DBF	0.64	0.06	0.96	0.03	5844
DE-Tha	ENF	0.43	0.08	0.69	0.12	7978
IT-Lav	ENF	0.37	0.03	0.53	0.20	3944
NL-Loo	\mathbf{ENF}	0.29	0.05	3.26	-0.13	2557
US-Me2	\mathbf{ENF}	0.72	0.07	1.14	0.00	4748
BE-Bra	\mathbf{MF}	0.82	0.04	0.83	0.06	1461
BE-Vie	\mathbf{MF}	0.52	0.02	1.16	-0.04	2723
CH-Lae	\mathbf{MF}	0.60	0.04	1.13	0.00	2192
US-Syv	\mathbf{MF}	0.33	0.06	1.46	-0.05	2616

Table 4.6: Performance of FSWM tested against measured soil moisture.

The model performed better when evaluated against measured evapotranspiration data than soil moisture data (Table 4.7). We observed \mathbb{R}^2 values between 0.52 to 0.87 with the highest values in DBF sites followed by MF and ENF. The slope between modelled and observed evapotranspiration for two DBF sites (DE-Hai and DE-Lnf) was close to one but lower for the other two sites (DK-Sor and US-MMS). The slope was around one for most ENF sites. For MF, the slope was lower with an average of 0.80.

Underestimation of evapotranspiration, reflected in a slope that is lower than one, can be due to an underestimation of PET, low values of LAI or REW, as in our model transpiration is a function of PET, LAI and REW. Here, we have used the FAO-56 Penman-Monteith equation to evaluate potential evapotranspiration. An earlier version of BILJOU used the Penman equation (GRANIER et al., 1999), and CÁCERES et al. (2015) used a formulation given by PRENTICE et al. (1992). The choice of the equation makes large differences in potential evapotranspiration (XU et al., 2002). We used the Priestly-Taylor formulation (PRIESTLEY et al., 1972) to see if the evapotranspiration data for four sites with low predicted values improved (Figure 4.15). The slope improved by about 10 % (0.76 to 0.90 in DK-Sor, 0.74 to 0.88 in US-MMS, 0.83 to 0.94 in BE-Bra and 0.79 to 0.85 in BE-Vie) with small changes in RMSE.

In Figure 4.2, we compared the FWSM model results for DE-Hai with results from the online BILJOU Model (UMR EEF, 1999). BILJOU model was run using the same parameter values for soil as used in FWSM. It was only possible to check the results of

Site	FT	\mathbf{R}^2	RMSE	Slope	Intercept	Count
DE-Hai	DBF	0.87	0.48	0.95	0.05	4193
DE-Lnf	DBF	0.88	0.45	0.94	0.06	2777
DK-Sor	DBF	0.82	0.67	0.76	0.16	5032
US-MMS	DBF	0.87	0.81	0.74	0.31	5633
DE-Tha	ENF	0.76	0.56	0.87	0.19	8033
IT-Lav	ENF	0.61	0.76	1.09	-0.45	3905
NL-Loo	ENF	0.52	1.00	0.91	-0.24	6392
US-Me2	ENF	0.67	0.70	1.02	-0.13	4246
BE-Bra	\mathbf{MF}	0.76	0.55	0.83	0.22	5995
BE-Vie	\mathbf{MF}	0.83	0.56	0.79	0.18	6027
CH-Lae	\mathbf{MF}	0.72	1.06	0.77	-0.13	5479
US-Syv	\mathbf{MF}	0.80	0.61	0.79	0.16	1843

 Table 4.7: Evaluating the model against measured evapotranspiration data.

the BILJOU Model against evapotranspiration as this model does not return results for individual soil layers. The performance of both models was very similar. Our model, however, had a slightly higher \mathbb{R}^2 and lower RMSE. Major differences in two models were the interception (Gash model instead of Rutter model), soil evaporation (Ritchie model instead of simple dependence on topsoil REW) and root water movement (used Richards equation instead of simply distributing the infiltration to different soil layers).



Figure 4.2: Evaluating the results of FWSM against BILJOU Model. ET_B (black triangles) and ET_F (red squares) represent values of evapotranspiration values from FWSM and BILJOU model respectively.

4.4.4 Average annual values of different ET components

Here, we report the average annual ET components namely transpiration, interception, and soil evapotranspiration (Table 4.8). Transpiration was about 40 %, 45 % and 36 % of the total gross rainfall in DBF, ENF and MF, respectively. Interception was about 9 %, 15 % and 11 % of the gross rainfall in DBF, ENF and MF, respectively. Soil evaporation was very similar to interception with 10 %, 8 % and 9 % of total gross rainfall in DBF, ENF and MF. The interception for DE-Hai in our case is much lower than that reported by BITTNER et al. (2010) for the same site, where they reported interception values of 21 to 41 % for different plots during 2005-2007. However, they did not include the canopy interception as part of evapotranspiration while comparing it with eddy flux tower data from the same site. Since interception is evaporated back to the atmosphere, their total sum of evapotranspiration is much larger than the evapotranspiration measurement. Our results for DE-Hai was closer to the results from the online BILJOU model (Table 4.10).

Table 4.8: Annual rainfall (mean \pm sd) and different evapotranspiration components (mean \pm sd) namely transpiration (TR), interception (In), soil evaporation (Esoil) for all study sites.

Site	\mathbf{FT}	Rain \pm sd	$\mathrm{TR}\pm\mathrm{sd}$	In \pm sd	Esoil \pm sd
(-)	(-)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)
DE-Hai	DBF	689 ± 170	292 ± 23	62 ± 13	71 ± 9
DE-Lnf	DBF	614 ± 157	296 ± 15	69 ± 12	62 ± 3
DK-Sor	DBF	837 ± 299	260 ± 24	63 ± 12	74 ± 9
US-MMS	DBF	1083 ± 194	427 ± 31	69 ± 8	119 ± 11
DE-Tha	ENF	820 ± 137	284 ± 32	130 ± 16	67 ± 5
IT-Lav	ENF	1283 ± 300	238 ± 13	130 ± 26	122 ± 3
NL-Loo	ENF	829 ± 214	329 ± 49	147 ± 29	26 ± 2
US-Me2	ENF	486 ± 158	416 ± 23	84 ± 18	47 ± 4
BE-Bra	\mathbf{MF}	819 ± 134	249 ± 30	88 ± 12	74 ± 9
BE-Vie	\mathbf{MF}	952 ± 201	263 ± 22	89 ± 11	64 ± 4
CH-Lae	\mathbf{MF}	832 ± 120	388 ± 22	93 ± 10	60 ± 3
US-Syv	MF	665 ± 174	265 ± 26	78 ± 14	88 ± 11

4.5 Conclusions

Soil water availability is one of the most important determinants of vegetation characteristics. To estimate soil water dynamics in forest soils, the forest soil water model or FSWM, suitable for a wide range of forest soils, was developed in R. This new open-source model improves over similar models (such as the BILJOU model) by incorporating the Gash model for interception, the Ritchie model for soil evaporation and the Richards equation for soil water movement. Model users can directly input texture data to the model instead of providing available soil water in each layer. We have included pedotransfer functions given by SAXTON et al. (2006). Model performance was variable, being better in deciduous broad-leaved forests and worse in needle-leaved forests. It is likely that some of this poor fit is the result of poorly constrained soil moisture data at some of the Fluxnet sites. However, we are also not confident about the soil data available in the fluxnet site as there are straight lines or very low soil water content.

4.6 Supplementary materials

4.6.1 Model evaluation other sites



Figure 4.3: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for three layers at DE-Hai site. In 2017, the precipitation data was unrealistic with numerous zero values this led to very low soil moisture prediction.



Figure 4.4: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for three layers at DE-Lnf site. The observation and modelled values fit quite well for this site.



Figure 4.5: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for two layers at DK-Sor site. We observed some unrealistic values for this site in both layers (for example the flat line from mid 2007 to end of 2010 in 0-10 cm layer).



Figure 4.6: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for top layer at US-MMS site. The site reported the data only for top layer.



Figure 4.7: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for top layer at DE-Tha site. The site reported the data only for top layer.



Figure 4.8: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for two layers at IT-Lav site.



Figure 4.9: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for two layers at NL-Loo site. The values are unrealistic for some periods for this site (for example the values from mid 2000 to end of 2002.



Figure 4.10: The observed and modelled soil moisture data US-Me2 site.


Figure 4.11: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for two layers at BE-Bra site. The measurement data were available only from 2015.



Figure 4.12: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for three layers at BE-Vie site. The reported data were unrealistic for this site from 2006 to 2014.



Figure 4.13: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for three layers at CH-Lae site.



Figure 4.14: The observed and modelled soil moisture data for a layer at US-Syv site.

4.6.2 Model Parameter correlation

Table 4.9: Model parameter correlation					
DBF					
	RDb	CSC	\mathbf{ER}	gamma	
RDb	1.00	0.06	-0.02	-0.25	
CSC	0.06	1.00	-0.73	-0.01	
\mathbf{ER}	-0.02	-0.73	1.00	-0.00	
gamma	-0.25	-0.01	-0.00	1.00	
MF					
RDb	1.00	0.07	-0.10	-0.72	
CSC	0.07	1.00	-0.65	-0.02	
\mathbf{ER}	-0.10	-0.65	1.00	0.05	
gamma	-0.72	-0.02	0.05	1.00	
ENF					
RDb	1.00	-0.01	-0.04	-0.69	
CSC	-0.01	1.00	-0.66	-0.07	
\mathbf{ER}	-0.04	-0.66	1.00	-0.01	
gamma	-0.69	-0.07	-0.10	1.00	



4.6.3 Using Priestley Taylor formulation of evapotranspiration

Figure 4.15: Modelled evapotranspiration (ET_M) versus observed evapotranspiration (ET_O) for randomly selected four sites using Priestley Taylor formulation of evapotranspiration. The solid line represent 1:1 line and the dotted line represent the linear regression line between ET_M and ET_O .

4.6.4 Evapotranspiration component for DE-Hai from BILJOU model

Table 4.10: Average evapotranspiration components namely transpiration (TR), interception (IN) and soil evaporation (Esoil) from BILJOU for 2003 - 2018.

Site	Year	TR	IN	Esoil
(-)	(-)	(mm)	(mm)	(mm)
DE-Hai	2003	370	78	35
DE-Hai	2004	313	111	36
DE-Hai	2005	330	104	42
DE-Hai	2006	355	102	34
DE-Hai	2007	310	119	45
DE-Hai	2008	330	95	33
DE-Hai	2009	298	120	43
DE-Hai	2010	352	102	37
DE-Hai	2011	374	101	42
DE-Hai	2012	374	112	35
DE-Hai	2013	346	106	36
DE-Hai	2014	300	122	39
DE-Hai	2015	355	94	39
DE-Hai	2016	370	84	38
DE-Hai	2017	291	55	32
DE-Hai	2018	343	59	37

4.6.5 Variation of texture in DE-Hai



Figure 4.16: Soil clay data for DE-Hai from three different studies (BITTNER et al., 2010; GUCKLAND et al., 2009; KUTSCH et al., 2010). The results from KUTSCH et al. (2010) is different from other two studies.

chapter 5

Synopsis

Climate change poses a threat to many forest ecosystems (SEIDL et al., 2017; STEVENS-RUMANN et al., 2018). Warmer and drier conditions may increase fire, drought and insect disturbances, while warmer and wetter conditions may intensify disturbances from wind and pathogens (SEIDL et al., 2017). It has been suggested (FELTON et al., 2016; HARDIMAN et al., 2011; PUETTMANN et al., 2015; PUKKALA, 2016; YOUSEFPOUR et al., 2016) that creating heterogeneous forest stand structures through different management approaches can enhance forest stability, adaptability and resilience. Forest structure can be diversified either by mixing different tree species and/or increasing horizontal and vertical heterogeneity. It is important to understand how such changes in forest structure might impact forest ecosystem functions during both normal and stressful conditions. Many studies have focused on the effect of tree species diversity on forest stand productivity (JACTEL et al., 2018; LIANG et al., 2016; PRETZSCH et al., 2015; ZHANG et al., 2012, etc), ecosystem services (tree biomass production, soil carbon storage, berry production and game production potential – GAMFELDT et al., 2013; RUIZ-BENITO et al., 2014), and forest resistance to natural disturbances (GROSSIORD et al., 2014c; JACTEL et al., 2017; JACTEL et al., 2007; LEBOURGEOIS et al., 2013; MERLIN et al., 2015; SILVA PEDRO et al., 2015, etc). Few studies, however, have examined the effect of other forest structural characteristics such as stem size heterogeneity, crown structure, age-related diversity, tree height diversity, etc. Some of the studies that have looked at the effect of forest structural characteristics (other than tree species diversity) on different ecosystem functions (e.g. timber volume, timber volume growth, basal area increment, above-ground carbon storage, etc) are listed in Table 1.1. Apart from a study by MUSAVI et al. (2017), none of the studies used widely available eddy covariance tower data from Fluxnet (https://fluxnet.fluxdata.org/data/fluxnet2015-dataset/). Of all of these studies, only two have looked at the implication of structural attribute on ecosystem functions during drought (BELLO et al., 2019b; MERLIN et al., 2015).

We took the opportunity to capitalise on the data available from fluxnet and amalgamate these with forest inventory data. With this rich dataset, we aimed to understand how forest structure influences annual and seasonal carbon dioxide fluxes, temporal variability of carbon dioxide fluxes and resistance of carbon dioxide fluxes during drought. This thesis attempts to fulfill these objectives through three major scientific studies and two co-authored papers. The first study (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018) investigates the abiotic and biotic factors controlling annual and seasonal carbon dioxide fluxes of two forests in Germany that are structurally different due to differing management regimes. This chapter builds on the first co-author chapter (HERBST et al., 2015) where we compared the annual carbon dioxide and water fluxes between these forests and discussed the limitations of the methods. The second study (chapter 3) examined the effect of structure on the temporal variability of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity and its resistance to drought across 21 Fluxnet sites. This chapter expanded the analysis of the second co-author paper (MUSAVI et al., 2017) – which focused on the temporal variability of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity but used only species number, tree height, and age - by including basal area, management, DBH, DBH variation (Shannon size index and Simpson size index) and evenness. The third study (chapter 4) was developed in response to the need to derive a consistent soil moisture dataset in order to examine the effect of drought on forest CO_2 fluxes at shorter timescales (i.e. at a daily scale in our case). We have presented a robust and flexible new soil water model, which we believe has a high potential to be used in further research.

In the following sections, we will discuss the major outcome of the objectives listed in section 1.5 with its limitations and wider implications.

5.1 Higher average long-term net ecosystem productivity (NEP) in a structurally homogeneous forest.

Our results suggest that managed forests with homogenous structure with single species (Fague sylvatica) have a significantly higher mean annual NEP than the unmanaged heterogenous forests (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018). This is in contrast to the assumption that forest with complex stand structure and/or higher tree species diversity are more productive (DĂNESCU et al., 2016; HARDIMAN et al., 2011; JACTEL et al., 2018; LIANG et al., 2016; PRETZSCH et al., 2015; ZHANG et al., 2012) and in particular, that mixing complementary tree species improves productivity (PRETZSCH et al., 2015; PRETZSCH et al., 2010). The effect of tree species biodiversity on productivity, however, varies spatially (JUCKER et al., 2014; LIANG et al., 2016; RATCLIFFE et al., 2016) and depends on environmental conditions (JUCKER et al., 2016; RATCLIFFE et al., 2017). The forests in our case are located very close to each other with similar environmental conditions (Figure 2.2). The difference in NEP was not significant with a shorter dataset of 7 years (HERBST et al., 2015) but differed when we included 4 more years of data. The heterogeneous forest, an old-growth forest, is unmanaged (MUND et al., 2010) whereas thinning activities have been carried out in the homogeneous forest (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018). Thinning is a silvicultural operation managing inter-tree competition to the benefit of retained trees (BONCINA et al., 2007). Thinning periods were followed by periods with a steady increase in carbon uptake, presumably due to a greater availability of resources per tree. For example, soil water availability improved in the thinned plot compared to unthinned plot enhancing the tree growth in the thinned plot (BREDA et al., 1995). Thinning, however, did not impact the carbon uptake of a Sitka spruce forest (SAUNDERS et al., 2012) and a boreal forest (VESALA et al., 2005). Both the studies looked at the impact immediately after the year of thinning. Canopy photosynthesis was reduced due to a decrease in leaf area index (LAI) but at the same time ground-vegetation photosynthesis may have increased as a result increasing light penetration to overcast situation. Soil respiration did not differ between pre and post-thinning (VESALA et al., 2005). In our study, we investigated three years after the major thinning and the final year of the study was nine years after thinning. The areas previously thinned may have been colonised by new plants improving the carbon uptake.

Differences in carbon uptake between the forests were strongly driven by higher winter respiration rates and lower spring and summer carbon uptake rates in the heterogeneous forest. The heterogeneous forest, an old-growth forest, is characterized by large amounts of standing dead trees and woody debris in the forest floor (KUTSCH et al., 2010) which may have led to the higher winter heterotrophic respiration. However, an important thing to note is that carbon uptake capacity of this heterogeneous old-growth forest was similar to other temperate deciduous forests (SHAO et al., 2014; WILKINSON et al., 2012; WILSON et al., 2001), and it still continued to sequester carbon in line with the finding that ageing forests continue to accumulate carbon (LUYSSAERT et al., 2008). In addition to carbon uptake, this forest also provided the biodiversity conservation benefit associated with high plant diversity (MÖLDER et al., 2006), addressing two major of the pressing issues of our generation: biodiversity conservation and climate change (MEA, 2005). The managed forest provided greater climate-mitigation benefits but a heterogeneous forest with trees of different ages, standing and fallen dead wood and multiple species provides the additional benefit of biodiversity conservation. Achieving both the targets of biodiversity conservation and climate change mitigation harmoniously in a single forest is challenging (FERREIRA et al., 2018; SABATINI et al., 2019). Particularly in a temperate forest, attempting to pursue both biodiversity conservation and climate change mitigation goals simultaneously requires comprimise (SABATINI et al., 2019).

Management rather than tree species diversity positively affected forest productivity (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018). However, this result was based on two sites only, thus it might be context specific and might not be generally applicable. We suggest using more eddy covariance sites to confirm the hypothesis that the effect of management on carbon uptake is stronger than tree species diversity. Combining the results from eddy covariance measurement with biometric data will generate a more precise quantification of this result, therefore we recommend forest sites in the Fluxnet network conduct regular inventories and record details of the management (e.g. thinning) for future research activities.

5.2 Lower interannual variability of net ecosystem productivity (NEP) in a heterogeneous forest.

In addition to comparing average values of ecosystem functions of forest (section 5.1), stability of the ecosystem function over the period of time (IVES et al., 2007) is important. We have used the interannual variability, specifically the ratio of standard deviation and mean of ecosystem function (i.e. the coefficient of variation of NEP), as a measure of ecosystem stability (TILMAN, 1999). Our study suggests that the NEP of heterogeneous forests is more stable than that of homogeneous forests (TAMRAKAR et al., 2018). An ecosystem is considered to be stable when it is able to preserve its functioning and structure over time (HOLLING, 1973), i.e. low interannual variability of ecosystem functions or, in our case, a low coefficient of variation. Mechanistically, three processes – overvielding, species asynchrony, and niche complementarity have been suggested to stabilise forest ecosystem functions in mixed forests (JUCKER et al., 2014; Río et al., 2017). Overyielding (i.e. higher productivity but similar standard deviation among the compared sites, Río et al., 2017; TILMAN, 1999) was not the cause of the higher stability in the heterogeneous forest because the heterogeneous forest had lower productivity compared to the homogeneous forest (section 5.1). We did not observe asynchrony in species responses to environmental fluctuation in our sites but to masting. The higher standard deviation of NEP of homogeneous forest, caused by the time-related growth and the masting, increased the coefficient of variation. As a result of the similar size and age of the trees in the homogenous forest, all the trees had the same and simultaneous reaction during masting whereas in the case of the heterogeneous forest, not all trees (not even all beech trees because of their young age) showed masting (HERBST et al., 2015). That is the structural synchrony or lack of structural heterogeneity in the homogeneous forest led all the trees of the forests to react

similarly when masting.

5.3 Lower interannual variability of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity in unmanaged forests.

When comparing sites from different climates, it is best to use normalized functional parameters (such as light-saturated ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity) – which take into account variations in local environment. The interannual variation of such normalized functional parameters is thus caused by management activities, site or climatic-response characteristics. Here, we have identified the factors affecting the interannual variation of light-saturated ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity (CV_{GPP1000}) in MUSAVI et al. 2017 and chapter 3) using data from multiple Fluxnet sites. Forest stand age explained most of the inter-site variation of $CV_{GPP1000}$ (MUSAVI et al., 2017). Forest stand age itself does not offer a mechanistic explanation for the difference in $CV_{GPP1000}$. In chapter 3 we went further and calculated structural parameters using the forest inventory data. The forests with higher structural diversity (higher Simpson and Shannon size diversity index) had lower interannual variability. The forests with higher Simpson and Shannon size diversity index were also older. Structural heterogeneity typically results from management activities (POMMERENING et al., 2013; SCHALL et al., 2018). Unmanaged forests had a lower interannual variability of $CV_{GPP1000}$ but were not significantly different from the managed high forest. The managed high forests are mostly managed to resemble old-growth forests (MESSIER et al., 2013; PUETTMANN et al., 2015) and none of the managed high forests in our case had been clear cut recently. Thus, managed forests that resemble natural forests are able to dampen their physiological response to environmental conditions. In our case, one of the limitations comparing the interannual variability of an ecosystem function from different sites is the difference in dataset duration, time frame and coverage of drought events. Three sites did not experience drought at all during the data measurement period and one site experienced three drought years. Comparing the interannual variability of site with and without drought years (there was no drought during measurement period and not that site have not experienced drought) biases our reults. Thus, this analysis should be repeated again when longer time series data become available, ideally when all sites have experienced at least one drought event.

5.4 The impact of drought on the ecosystem-level light-saturated photosynthetic capacity of forests.

The interannual variation of ecosystem-level light saturated photosynthetic capacity GPP_{1000} of forests informs us about the response of forests to the interannual variation of environmental drivers and plant physiology. It does not tell us directly about the response of forests to drought events. In the face of changing climate with increasing probability of droughts (SPINONI et al., 2019), it is critical to understand the effects of droughts alongside the effects of interannual variation in other of environmental parameters.

CIAIS et al. (2005) reported a 30 % reduction in GPP in Europe during the 2003 European heatwave and drought, but other studies estimated a lower reduction (VETTER et al., 2008; VON BUTTLAR et al., 2018). We observed a maximum of 27 % reduction of GPP₁₀₀₀ in Mediterranean forests and much less in other forests (Chapter 3). The two Mediterranean forests in our study are coppice forests. The repeated vegetative propagation in coppice forests may cause genetic stagnation reducing the adaptive capacity to the climate change(MARKO STOJANOVIĆ, 2017). Another interesting point to note is that GPP₁₀₀₀ of managed high forests were not affected by droughts (Chapter 3 - Figure 3.10). In our two-site study, we found that NEP and GPP of managed forest (composed of *Fagus*) was less affected by 2003 drought than the unmanaged forest (mostly composed of *Fagus*) and *Fagus*, HERBST et al., 2015). The leaf-out and leaf fall in *Fraxinus* occurs later than in *Fagus*. The drought in 2003 occurred in later summer affecting the GPP of *Fraxinus* which alone still had leaves. The managed forest is thinned regularly, the thining can reduce the transpiration and increase the water availability during droughts (SOHN et al., 2013; SOHN et al., 2016). One of the strategies to improve the resistance of forest to drought could be to plant the appropriate mix of trees (for example mixing beech, spruce and oak in Central Europe, PRETZSCH et al. 2013 and manage (thin) them.

Three of the sites did not experience any drought events during the period analyzed and 14 sites experienced only one drought. European sites experienced strong droughts in 2018 (BURAS et al., 2019) and 2019, years that were not part of this analysis. Adding data for these years may improve our understanding of the impact of droughts on forests.

In some cases, the effect of drought was not captured at the annual scale because of compensation by higher productivity in non-drought periods within a year. For example in DE-Lnf during the 2003 drought, higher net ecosystem productivity was observed in the warm spring and summer, compensating the reduction of net ecosystem productivity in the late growing season period (HERBST et al., 2015). We lose important information by only conducting analysis using annual ecosystem productivity or annual tree ring data. The Fluxnet data allows us to conduct analysis down to half-hourly timescales. A full understanding of the effects of droughts on ecosystem productivity requires analysis at with at multiple timescales.

We limited ourselves to look at direct effects of the droughts on GPP_{1000} , i.e. the response of GPP_{1000} during drought years. Any lagged effects of the droughts (BRÉDA et al., 2006; THABEET et al., 2009; VENNETIER et al., 2007) were not captured in our study. A further analysis would include looking at tree mortality or insect infestation in the years following drought in order to identify any carryover effect of previous droughts.

5.5 Development of an open-source soil water model.

The development of an open-source, flexible, forest soil water model-FSWM in R offers a new freely available tool to estimate soil water dynamics in forest soils. Open-source models help in improving the chances of collaboration among scientists, increasing productivity through collaborative burden-sharing, and making them available for public scrunity (PFENNINGER et al., 2017).

The model can be applied to a range of forest soils and offers flexibility to simulate different numbers of soil layers, and is thus adaptable to the available soil data. The model performance varied across forest types, being best in deciduous broad-leaved forests and less good in needle-leaved forests. We noted sometimes significant deviations between modelled and measured data, and we suggest that this is not always because the model predictins are poor, but that sometimes the practical difficulties of measureing soil moisture are significant. We suggest regular and spatially comprehensive monitoring of soil moisture.

5.6 Outlook

This thesis has resulted in a useful database of structural stand parameters not currently included in the Fluxnet database, and a practical approach to quantify the effect of forest structure on ecosystem function during droughts. Significant questions are raised in this thesis and should be addressed in future research.

- Extending the structural indices database: As a large repository of data, the Fluxnet database provides a unique opportunity for exploring and understanding numerous different ecosystems. Currently, data for many ecosystem fluxes (carbon dioxide, water and heat fluxes) and meteorology are available in the Fluxnet database with some general site characteristics and biological data. However typical forest inventory data e.g. on DBH distribution is not included. Forest inventory data can be integrated with Fluxnet data to further understand these ecosystems. In the case of forestry, inventory of stands has been an important tool to understand forest dynamics. In our work, we have combined the inventory data and ecosystem fluxes and calculated numerous structural indices. This work can be extended to more sites creating an increasingly useful dataset for understanding the effect of forest structure on forest ecosystem processes.
- The use of the forest soil water model (FWSM). Here, we looked at the effect of forest structure on the annual responses of forests to climate variation and drought. The effect of drought is often not detectable at annual scales, therefore, it is important to assess the effects on shorter timescales. The FWSM is able to simulate soil moisture at daily time scales, yet it can also easily be used for multiple sites and years. This provides a unique tool to understand soil moisture dynamics within and between years and during droughts. Additionally, FWSM is open-source and can also be used and improved by other scientists.
- Extending the analysis with more data: Our findings, particularly those on the effect of forest structure on ecosystem functioning during drought, are inconclusive. To reach more robust results, the analysis should be extended with more sites that include forest structural indices. Increasing the number of sites will increase the statistical power and confidence in the results. The summer of 2018 was unusually dry in Europe (BURAS et al., 2019). Including the data from this year might provide more insight into the modulation of drought effects by forest structure.
- Looking at the response of other forest functions: The Fluxnet database offers a unique opportunity tfor studying forest functions beyond those analysed in this thesis, e.g. water use efficiency (WUE) and microclimate. WUE is the rate of carbon uptake per unit water loss (KEENAN et al., 2013), and is affected by tree size and stand density (FORRESTER, 2015). More research can be done on how the WUE is modified by forest structure. Another research direction involves looking for vegetation effects on local climate. For example TANG et al. (2018) reported that forests generally cool the land surface and lower air temperatures. By assessing this,

we could investigate if differences in land surface temperatures (also during droughts) vary across forests of varying structural complexity.

Finally, we conclude that this thesis presents a complete analysis of the available data, focusing on understanding the effect of forest structure on ecosystem functions. Next to our results and conclusions, the new model tool and dataset provide significant support for further investigations into the role of forest structure in modifying ecosystem function during drought.

$A\,$ Difference in carbon uptake and water use between a managed and an unmanaged beech forest in central Germany

Authors: Mathias Herbst, Martina Mund, **Rijan Tamrakar**, Alexander Knohl Published in 'Forest ecology and management' (HERBST et al., 2015) http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.05.034

I supported in the preparation, analysis and discussions of figures A.2 and A.4 (section A.5.2). Further, I read and reviewed the manuscript.

A.1 Abstract

Net atmospheric carbon dioxide exchange, total evapotranspiration and net primary production of two neighbouring beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) forests in central Germany differing in site management were measured using the eddy covariance technique and biometric methods. The unmanaged site was an old-growth forest with admixtures of ash (Fraxinus excelsior L.) and sycamore (Acer pseudoplatanus L.) trees whereas the managed site was a regularly thinned, even-aged (about 130 years old), pure beech stand. Average carbon fluxes measured over seven years did not differ significantly between the two forests. Evapotranspiration was slightly higher (and consequently water use efficiency lower) at the unmanaged site. The maximum rates as well as the interannual variability of both net ecosystem exchange and net primary production were considerably larger at the managed. even-aged stand. The lowest annual carbon sequestration rates were observed in years with high fruit production in beech combined with cold and dry spells during leaf development which affected the carbon balance of the managed forest more than that of the unmanaged forest. In contrast, an extraordinarily dry period in late summer 2003 caused a stronger reduction in net carbon uptake in the old-growth forest which can probably be attributed to the contribution of ash to the ecosystem fluxes. Ash has a different phenology which madeit more susceptible to the late summer drought. The relative importance of tree and structural (age, size) diversity, leaf area index and regenerative growth as well as the temporal frame and extent of single weather extremes for the forest-atmosphere exchange is discussed and it is concluded that site management and forest structure needs to be included in soil-vegetation-atmosphere-transfer models as it can often override effects of land use or plant functional type.

A.2 Introduction

Changes in land cover and their biophysical and biogeochemical effects have been investigated much more thoroughly so far than differences in land management within a single land cover type (LUYSSAERT, 2014). Forest management can alter species and structural diversity as well as ecophysiological traits. Their influence on the carbon cycle and the water use efficiency of forest ecosystems and their interannual variability are as yet not well understood. This hampers any robust assessment of the impact of management practices on the greenhouse gas balance. Many recent studies about the effect of land cover type on the ecosystem carbon budget and the water use efficiency are based on the increasing number of canopy gas exchange measurements by means of the eddy covariance technique (KEENAN et al., 2013; LUYSSAERT et al., 2007). However, it has also been noted that a large variability in gas exchange is caused by species-specific traits within one land use type (GROENENDIJK et al., 2011; LAW, 2014) which can make it difficult to transfer general trends to specific sites. Inhomogeneous instrumentation and data analysis often amplifies the problem.

Therefore we present a case study of paired measurements of ecosystem carbon and water fluxes in two neighbouring forests that are characterised by the same site conditions and are dominated by European beech (*Fagus sylvatica*), and where identical instrumentation and data analysis were used, to investigate the effect of structural diversity and the admixture of other tree species, caused by different historical and recent forest management, on canopy gas exchange. In terms of recent trends in forest management, beech is considered as "pillar of close-to-nature forestry in the central European lowland" (PRETZSCH, 2014). Understanding its responses to natural and anthropogenic changes and disturbances is thus of high relevance and significance. With this study, which combines eddy covariance measurements with more traditional biometric methods to assess the forests' primary production, we try to test the following two hypotheses:

(1) Forest management in terms of establishing and maintaining an even-aged, monospecific stand improves the carbon gain and the water use efficiency compared to an unmanaged forest. (2) Structural diversity as encountered in the unmanaged forest decreases the interannual variability of growth and water use as well as the susceptibility to disturbances.

A.3 Material and methods

A.3.1 Sites

The two forests sites are located in Thuringia in centralGermany, ca. 30 km apart from each other. Both stands grow at an altitude of 450 m a.s.l. and face similar soil conditions (Triassic limestone covered with variable Pleistocene loess deposits) and climatic conditions (suboceanic–submontane climate with long-term means of about 8 °C for annual air temperature and 750 mm precipitation). Annual air temperature and precipitation sums during the study period are given in Table A.1.

Table A.1: Mean annual air temperature (t_a) and annual precipitation (P) during the study period.

Year	t_a (°C)	P(mm)
2003	8.50	544
2004	7.83	763
2005	8.13	736
2006	8.66	660
2010	6.71	756
2011	8.85	544
2012	8.27	701

The Hainich site is an unmanaged stand in the central part of Hainich National Park. The area was never clear-cut but used as a coppice-with-standards system until the end of the 19th century and then for selective cutting by the local population until 1965. From 1965 to 1997 it was part of a military training area and only single, very valuable trees were cut. Since December 1997 no management activities at all have taken place. Regarding to its highly diverse horizontal and vertical structure the forest can be characterised as an old-growth forest with tree ages varying between 0 and 250 years (Figure A.1, KNOHL et al., 2003; MUND, 2004). Beech (*F. sylvatica L.*) is the dominating tree species, accounting for ca. 64% of tree biomass, and ash (*Fraxinus excelsior L.*) and sycamore (*Acer pseudoplatanus L.*) make up most of the remaining biomass with a share of 28% and 7%, respectively (Table A.2). Single trees of *Carpinus betulus (L.), Ulmus glabra (L.), Acer platanoides (L.)* and *A. campestre (L.)* are admixed as remnants of the historical forest management regime (MUND et al., 2010).



Figure A.1: Frequency distribution of stem diameter (DBH, diameter at breast height) and key stand characteristics of the study sites Hainich and Leinefelde. Do: quadratic mean of DBH of the 20% largest trees per study plot; Ho: tree height predicted for Do (dominant stand height).

Table A.2: Some stand characteristics of the two forests.

	Hainich (unmanaged)	Leinefelde (managed)
Soil	Pleistocene loess deposits with domi-	Pleistocene loess deposits with domi-
	nance of Cambisols	nance of Luvisols
Most abundant tree	Fagus sylvatica (64%) Fraxinus excelsior	Fagus sylvatica (99%)
species (%biomass)	(28%) Acer pseudoplatanus $(7%)$	
Tree age (years)	0-250	130
Mean canopy height (m)	35	35
Stand density (stems	323	224
ha^{-1})		
Leaf area index (–)	5.1	4.2

The Leinefelde site is an even-aged, pure beech stand managed as a shelterwood system for maximum wood production. Thinning was carried out regularly every 10–20 years (ANTHONI et al., 2004). The measurement site consists of a 130 year-old stand which is surrounded by other even-aged beech stands. The site at Leinefelde is characterised by a slightly thicker loess cover, associated with a dominance of Luvisols, than the Hainich site where Cambisols are the dominant soil type (MUND, 2004). The herbaceous ground vegetation differs in species composition between the two forests (ANTHONI et al., 2004).

The maximum annual effective leaf area index as measured with an LAI-2000 plant canopy analyser (LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) was on average 5.1 at the unmanaged site and 4.2 at the managed site (Table A.2). The latter had a lower stand density (224 m⁻² vs. 323 m⁻²) but a higher wood biomass (above- and belowground; 237 t C ha⁻¹ vs. 212 t C ha⁻¹). The leaf area was concentrated more towards the canopy top than it was the case at the unmanaged site. The maximum canopy height as determined by visual inspection from the respective tower was about 35 m at both sites.

A.3.2 Eddy covariance data

The eddy covariance measurements at the two sites were carried out at 44 m above the ground with identical instrumentation and data acquisition techniques. Each measurement system consisted of a three-dimensional sonic anemometer (Solent R3, Gill Instruments Ltd., Lymington, UK) and a closed-path CO_2/H_2O infrared gas analyser (LI-6262, LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) placed at the bottom of the instrument tower and connected to the gas inlet close to the anemometer by a 50 m long tube. Technical details about the installation can be found in KNOHL et al. (2003). Data were synchronised and stored on a field computer using the "EddySoft" data acquisition software by O. Kolle (Max-Planck-Institute for Biogeochemistry, Jena, Germany). The turbulent fluxes were recalculated in 2013 with version 4.1 of the "EddyPro" software (LI-COR Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA).

The data collection and quality control followed the methodology of AUBINET et al. (2000) and FOKEN et al. (2004). The gap filling and the partitioning of the net ecosystem CO2 exchange (NEE) into gross primary production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (Reco) was carried out using the 'Fluxnet' online-tool based on REICHSTEIN et al. (2005). Evapotranspiration was calculated as the residual of net radiation and sensible heat flux (GASH et al., 1999) in terms of the annual totals. Direct eddy covariance measurements of ET based on the water vapour concentrations recorded by the LI-6262 were rejected because of a large underestimation of the flux caused by attenuation of the water vapour fluctuations in the long tubing. For details about standard meteorological variables recorded at the sites we refer once again to earlier descriptions of the two measurements stations (ANTHONI et al., 2004; KNOHL et al., 2003). Due to a lack of funding, no flux data could be obtained at the managed site from 2007 to 2009.

A.3.3 Biometric data

The estimates for annual wood NPP of the study sites resulted from continuous measurements of stem diameter at breast height (1.3 m above ground level) in combination with stand inventories. At the tree scale stem diameter increment was measured with dendrometers distributed over different diameter size classes and at Hainich also over different tree species. At the homogenous stand Leinefelde up to 22 trees were equipped with a dendrometer and at the unmanaged stand Hainich up to 96 trees. The exact number of measurement trees in each year of the study period varied because of damages to single dendrometers, and at Hainich also because of the natural dieback of individual trees that had to be replaced with new trees. For 2003 and 2004 also data from stem increment cores taken at the Hainich site were available (KAHL et al., 2012, M. Bryukhanova, Institute of Forest SB RAS, Akademgorodok, Krasnoyarsk, Russia, unpublished) and included in this study.

To scale up stem growth from the tree level to the stand level site- and species-specific regression functions describing the annual relationship between initial basal area (cross-sectional area of a stem at breast height) and basal area increment were developed and applied to stand inventories of the study sites. The extent of the stand inventories represent the different stand structure of the study sites. At the homogenous, pure beech stand Leinefelde stem diameter and tree height of all trees P7 cm in diameter of one plot (25 / 25 m) located within the main footprint of the eddy-covariance-tower (ANTHONI et al.,

2004) was measured. At the diverse Hainich site the regression functions were applied to repeated stand inventories. The first inventory (2000) comprised 14 plots (radius of each plot: 15 m) that were located along a transect within the centre of the main footprint. The second inventory included 20 additional plots distributed over the entire footprint. The distribution of these plots was based on an "importance sampling design" (ANDERSON, 1999). This means that a predefined number of locations for the plots were randomly chosen according to a probability distribution that defines the probabilities of the source areas of the carbon fluxes detected by the eddy-covariance-measurements (GÖCKEDE et al., 2008; GÖCKEDE et al., 2004; REBMANN et al., 2005). At each plot stem diameter of all trees P7 cm in diameter and in 2005 also tree height was measured. Above- and belowground woody biomass per tree and year were calculated via biomass regression functions (F. sylvatica: WUTZLER et al. (2008); all other species: FEHRMANN (2006) (aboveground woody biomass) and WUTZLER et al. (2008) (coarse roots)). For the conversion of woody biomass into carbon stocks a mean carbon concentration of 50% was assumed.

The annual net primary production (NPP) of leaves, buds and fruits was derived from litter sampling within the main footprint. The samples were separated, dried and weighed. Growth, ripening and dropping of the fruits occur during one year. Thus, fruit NPP can be estimated directly from annual fruit fall, similar to leaf NPP. However, in mast years we observed a substantial premature as well as delayed dropping of beech fruits. Thus, in mast years all fruits sampled between early summer of the current year and spring of the following year were summed up to fruit NPP of the respective mast year. Mean carbon concentration of beech leaves was 48%, of leaves from the other species 46%, and that of fruits 54% (nuts and shells).

For the comparison between the inter-annual variability of NEP and wood NPP it is assumed that by far the largest proportion of annual NEP results from carbon accumulation in living, above and below ground woody biomass. This assumption is based on the following features of the study sites: (1) the natural mortality of trees was close to zero at Leinefelde and very low (<1% vol.) at Hainich, (2) because of the low mortality rates and the lack of any major disturbances at Hainich, more or less constant rates of dead wood decomposition can be expected at the stand scale, (3) during the study period no tree harvesting occurred within the main footprint of the managed site Leinefelde, and (4) the largest proportion of carbon allocated to leaves, fine roots, fruits and the ground vegetation is respired within 1-2 years, and, except for the fruits, the inter-annual variability of their production is low compared to that of wood NPP (MUND, 2004; MUND et al., 2010). The largest source of uncertainty results from the net uptake or release of carbon by the soil. SCHRUMPF et al. (2014) showed that at the Hainich site and during the period 2004–2009 on average 65 ± 29 g C m⁻² a⁻¹) were accumulated in the soil. The accumulation rates of single years most likely differ from this mean value, but because of the high spatial heterogeneity of soil carbon stocks it is extremely difficult to detect their changes in single years (SCHRUMPF et al., 2011). For Leinefelde, only one soil inventory was available (MUND, 2004). Consequently, for the present study we assumed that the inter-annual variability of soil carbon accumulation can be neglected.

A.4 Results

Over the seven year period of simultaneous eddy covariance measurements the annual net carbon exchange, i.e. net ecosystem productivity (NEP), with the atmosphere varied less from year to year at the unmanaged forest stand (standard deviation (SD) = 70 g C m⁻² a⁻¹) than it did at the managed site (SD = 119 g C m⁻² a⁻¹; Figure A.2). The lowest annual NEP was observed in 2004 and the second lowest in 2011 in both forests. The largest net uptake occurred in 2012 at the managed site and in 2005 at the unmanaged site. Most of the interannual variation in NEP resulted from changes in GPP by up to 400 g carbon per square metre ground area between different years indicating a surprisingly constant ecosystem respiration (R_eco), which indeed varied only by less than 200 g carbon per square metre at both sites. The lowest Reco was calculated for 2010 which was on average the coldest year of the studied seven years (Figure A.2). The only, weak exception of the close relationship between GPP and NEP was observed at the Hainich site in 2004, where GPP was less reduced compared to the other years than NEP.



Figure A.2: Annual totals of net ecosystem production (NEP), gross primary production (GPP) and ecosystem respiration (R_eco) for a managed and an unmanaged beech forest over seven years.

Particularly low GPP and NEP rates were observed in 2004 and 2011 for the managed beech forest. At least in 2011 this result from the eddy covariance measurements corresponded well with the measurements of relative stem diameter increment (Figure A.3). Both 2004 and 2011, but also 2006 and 2009, were so-called masting years which were characterised by a high fruit production of the beech trees (Figure A.3). In 2004 and 2011, but not in 2006 or 2009, the period of leaf unfolding in beech was accompanied by unusually low temperatures, which, in combination with the masting, may have caused the low net CO2 exchange (Mund et al., in prep.). The mean NEP values obtained at the two sites over the seven years period did not differ significantly from each other (Figure A.2, Table A.3).



Figure A.3: Relative wood NPP (annual wood NPP in percent of mean wood NPP 2004–2012 per study site) (above) and leaf and fruit NPP (below) of the study sites Hainich and Leinefelde. The grey bands mark the time frame of the eddy covariance data.

Table A.3: Statistical assessment of the observed differences in mean fluxes between the sites, using a t-test for correlated samples with observation years as replicates. P values in bold type indicate a significant difference between sites.

Flux	Net radiation	Sensible heat	Latent heat	NEP	$R_{e}co$	GPP	WUE	Bowen ratio
P-value	0.28	0.004	0.003	0.56	0.59	0.52	0.11	0.003

The deviations between the two forests did not occur evenly throughout the seasons. If GPP during the first three years of the observation period is taken as an example (Figure A.4)then it can be seen that GPP in the managed stand always increased more rapidly in the spring than it did at the other site, but started earlier to decline in late summer, especially so in the masting year of 2004. The year 2003 was characterised by an unusually warm and dry period in late summer which affected large parts of central Europe (GRANIER

et al., 2007), and interestingly this was detected more strongly in GPP of the unmanaged stand than in the managed, pure beech stand where GPP was affected less (Figure A.4).



Figure A.4: Five-day running mean of GPP of the two beech forest stands over the first three years of the measurement period as calculated from gap-filled eddy covariance data.

Total annual evapotranspiration varied between 461 and 559 mm at the managed site and between 476 and 604 mm at the unmanaged sites (Figure A.5) and was lowest in 2003, the year with the drought period in late summer, at both forests. The corresponding mean values for the two stands were 503 and 549 mm, respectively. This means that the amplitude of the interannual variability was fairly similar but the mean rate was higher at the unmanaged forest. Conversely, the Bowen ratio, i.e. the ratio between sensible and latent heat flux, was consistently higher at the managed forest and peaked at both sites in 2003 (Figure A.5). This observation resulted mainly from differences in sensible heat flux rather than available energy which did not differ significantly between the two sites (Table A.3). As a result of the nearly similar net carbon uptake and the differing water loss, the water use efficiency was higher at the managed beech forest, however this tendency was not significant (Table A.3).

In conclusion, forest management in terms of regular thinning and the establishment of even-aged, homogenous stands thus appears to have reduced the unproductive components of evapotranspiration, in particular interception evaporation, but have increased the interannual variability of carbon fluxes.



Figure A.5: Total annual evapotranspiration (ET, upper panel) and water use efficiency (WUE, lower panel) as measured over seven years in two beech forests differing in management only.

A.5 Discussion

A.5.1 Methodological uncertainties

Some uncertainty in our eddy flux data may have been induced through the method chosen to gap-fill NEE and to partition NEE into GPP and Reco. The common REICHSTEIN et al. (2005) technique based on night-time data faced the problem that night-time data at the two research sites were scarce because of the relatively high u_* threshold of 0.5 used for this data set. The threshold was chosen following KUTSCH et al. (2008) who compared the eddy covariance night-time CO₂ fluxes with soil chamber measurements. Although the high threshold should not have biased Reco in the long-term, it cannot be excluded that it may have suppressed its apparent interannual variability. The fact that the eddy covariance tower at the Hainich site is located on a gentle slope downwind of a hill (with respect to the main wind direction) and that the measurements had to be carried out 44 m above the ground, due to the large canopy height, causes considerable advection of CO₂ and thus some further uncertainty in the eddy fluxes obtained at this site (FINNIGAN, 2008; KUTSCH et al., 2008; KUTSCH et al., 2010). The topography at the other site is not flat either and could theoretically also have induced some advective carbon fluxes that would have contributed to the ecosystem carbon exchange. The uncertainties in annual carbon budgets resulting from the choice of the u_* threshold (within a reasonable range) and the gap filling of missing night-time respiration data using temperature as a driving factor were quantified as 30 g C m⁻² a⁻¹ and 50 g C m⁻² a⁻¹, respectively, according to the sensitivity analysis carried out by KNOHL et al. (2003) for the Hainich site. Although all the potential errors mentioned above are unlikely to occur in the same direction, an overall uncertainty of about 100 g C m⁻² a⁻¹ for NEP, R_eco and GPP should nevertheless be assumed, if possible sensor inaccuracies are also taken into account. As long as this uncertainty remains unsolved we focus more on the observed interannual variability than on long-term average fluxes in our further discussion. Furthermore we use only relative numbers (in relation to the mean of 2004–2012) when comparing the micrometeorological data with the biometric data which were calculated as in MUND et al. (2010). Nevertheless we believe that a possible bias in the eddy fluxes is only small since the annual fluxes in this study correspond well with those from other forest sites in similar regions and of similar age (LUYSSAERT et al., 2007; LUYSSAERT et al., 2008).

As far as evaporation is concerned, we did not use the water vapour measurements by the closed-path gas analyser to calculate eddy fluxes of latent heat because of a large uncertainty and likely bias caused by the very long tubes between the air intake and the gas analyser (IBROM et al., 2007). In fact, the systems at our sites were never intended to measure the water vapour flux accurately, but optimised to obtain accurate CO_2 fluxes (E.-D. Schulze, pers. comm.). Therefore we used a well established alternative method in terms of the eddy covariance energy balance (ECEB) technique which relies on accurate measurements of net radiation and sensible heat flux and assumes a closed energy balance. However, for eddy flux sites it is well known that a complete closure is hardly achievable, even at sites where every component is measured accurately (FOKEN et al., 2011; STOY et al., 2013). Horizontal advection and/or transport by low-frequency air motions have been identified as the most important reasons for the missing energy in the total budget. These processes would affect all turbulent fluxes in the same way and could therefore bias the calculation of latent heat as residual of the energy balance if the sensible heat flux is underestimated for the above named reasons. The global average of the energy balance closure, based on 173 sites, is 84% (STOY et al., 2013). If we assume a similar number for our two sites and a Bowen ratio of about 0.5, then we might have underestimated sensible heat by 16% and overestimated latent heat (if calculated as residual) by 8%. This uncertainty does not yet include potential errors in the radiation measurements. However, the described uncertainty would likely affect both sites in a similar way and thus not eliminate the observed differences in forest water use. It is also worth mentioning that, in practice, often only a fraction of the energy balance gap can be explained by processes affecting all fluxes, and that the sensible heat flux is often less underestimated than other turbulent fluxes (BARR et al., 2012) which would mean that the error in ET as determined by the ECEB method is even smaller than 8%.

A.5.2 Interannual variability in carbon fluxes

When distinguishing between the effects of plant functional type and land use type on the one hand and site management on the other on CO_2 exchange (LUYSSAERT, 2014), it needs to be considered which NEE components are particularly sensitive to management activities. It seems likely that GPP and NPP will often be more strongly affected by site management than Reco which is dominated by soil respiration, with autotrophic and heterotrophic respiration having a similar order of magnitude (KUTSCH et al., 2010). Above-ground management activities will therefore not be reflected to the same extent in below-ground biological activity as in canopy processes. Whilst it is unsurprising that GPP was more variable than R_e co, just as in other beech forests (PILEGAARD et al., 2011), it is somehow unexpected that no difference at all in the average ecosystem respiration rates were found between the two sites despite a much higher proportion of dead wood at the unmanaged site. However, the total above- and belowground wood biomass was about 10% lower at the unmanaged site (Figure A.1) and the observation of similar respiration rates corresponds to the results of soil organic carbon inventories that observed an ongoing net carbon accumulation in forest soils (KUTSCH et al., 2010; OSTERBURG et al., 2013; SCHRUMPF et al., 2014; TEFS et al., 2012) but no significant differences in C stocks of the mineral soil among differently managed forests – provided that the forests are sustainably managed without soil disturbances (e.g. GRÜNEBERG et al., 2013; JANDL et al., 2007; MUND, 2004; SCHÖNING et al., 2013; WÄLDCHEN et al., 2013).

The most obvious ecosystem properties related to management activities that may play a role when comparing the gas exchange of the two forests with each other are the structural and physiological traits of the respective canopies. The homogeneity at the managed site caused a higher variability in NEP and GPP due to the same and simultaneous reaction of all trees to weather conditions (incl. masting), whereas at the unmanaged site the opposite was the case since beech and ash had a different climate sensitivity and not all trees (not even all beech trees because of their young age) showed masting. None of the sites showed any consistent trend in annual NEP over the seven years of investigations as observed e.g. in younger forests. A continuous increase in net carbon uptake of a Danish beech forest over 14 years was reported by PILEGAARD et al. (2011) and could possibly result from the relatively young age of their forest, compared to the two sites considered here where no such trend was found.

A.5.3 Evapotranspiration

The difference in ET between the two sites could possibly result from higher rates of interception evaporation at the unmanaged site, having a denser canopy with a higher storage capacity for intercepted rain (CARLYLE-MOSES et al., 2011), if transpiration is considered as a conservative parameter, independent of forest structure or species composition (HERBST et al., 2008; ROBERTS, 1983). Other authors, in contrast, have found that canopy conductance and hence canopy transpiration scale with LAI (GRANIER et al., 2000), which could just as well explain the difference in ET between the two forests investigated in this study since the unmanaged stand had indeed a higher LAI. However, the similarity of GPP between the sites would rather suggest similar transpiration rates, too, since these two processes share the same pathway of gas exchange through the stomata.

New measurements of individual ET components at the two sites will hopefully shed more light on this question. The overall effect of management on ET remains controversial anyway (KOMATSU et al., 2010). It has been suspected that reduced forest management activities would result in less percolation and runoff (due to higher evapotranspiration in denser forests), but this could not always be verified.

A.5.4 Diversity and resilience

Tree diversity in beech dominated forests is amenable to management, for example through close-to-nature forestry or through establishing mosaic-like plantations with admixtures of different species instead of maintaining even-aged monocultures. It affects growth at species level through changes in competition and/or small scale soil properties and nutrient stocks but not necessarily at stand scale (e.g. HOLZWARTH et al., 2011; RATCLIFFE et al., 2015; SCHMIDT et al., 2015), although some studies found a positive correlation between species number and productivity in temperate forests (MORIN et al., 2011). In case of the two investigated beech forests it seems that species and structural diversity effects on carbon exchange at the tree level were balanced at the stand level where similar average NEP rates were observed.

More relevant at stand scale is the resilience to disturbance which is generally higher in mixed forests (PRETZSCH, 2014). An example for this phenomenon is the response to drought in beech/oak mixtures where it has been reported that beech benefits from the mixture and is more resilient than in mono-specific stands (PRETZSCH et al., 2013). However, our study shows that the timing of a disturbance such as a drought period is important, too, and may in some cases even cause an opposite effect due to the variability of tree phenology in mixed stands. Fraxinus, for example, is more flexible than Faque with respect to the time of leaf unfolding in spring (VITASSE et al., 2009a) and can thus more easily avoid damage by late frosts. At Hainich there were years when these two species came into leaf practically simultaneously at the end of April or start of May, whereas in the relatively cold spring of 2011 leaf unfolding in *Fraxinus* showed a time lag of about four weeks compared to Faque. The fact that, vice-versa, the flexibility of Fraxinus is lower in autumn (VITASSE et al., 2009b) is not that relevant for NEP due to the much lower irradiance at this time of the year. Whilst maximum incoming shortwave radiation at our sites reached about $850 \text{W} \text{ m}^{-2}$ in late April (time of leaf out), corresponding to maximum daily totals of about 25 J m⁻² d⁻¹, the respective values for late October (time of leaf fall) were $450 \text{W} \text{m}^{-2}$ for the maximum irradiance and $9.5 \text{W} \text{m}^{-2} \text{d}^{-1}$ for the daily totals.

GPPmax is reached later in *Fraxinus* than in *Fagus* (W.L. Kutsch, pers. comm.) which is also mirrored in the green fraction of the leaves (AHRENDS et al., 2009) and could probably explain why Hainich, in contrast to the aforementioned observation of PRETZSCH et al. (2013), had a stronger GPP reduction than the monospecific Leinefelde stand in the dry year 2003 with the drought only occurring in late summer and thus affecting GPP in *Fraxinus* more strongly than in *Fagus*. When looking at the bigger picture regarding drought resilience and tree diversity, the recent paper by GROSSIORD et al. (2014c) produced incongruent results with drought stress increasing with species number in boreal forests but decreasing in some temperateand thermophile forests. The two forests investigated here do not fall into this pattern though, as the monospecific stand appeared to be less affected by the 2003 drought than the unmanaged stand containing other, more sensitive species, too. However, the discussion of this observation should not be restricted to soil water uptake as in GROSSIORD et al. (2014c). Instead, it seems plausible that interception evaporation, which can amount to 50% of ET in humid temperate climates (RINGGAARD et al., 2014) may have caused this incongruent behaviour, since interception evaporation depends on forest structure (RINGGAARD et al., 2014) which often depends on species number (PRETZSCH, 2014).

The key finding of our study may be summed up as follows. If different species with different traits and phenology and trees of different age are present in a forest due to reduced (or ceased) management activity it becomes more unlikely that weather extremes or rare biological processes such as fruiting would affect the forest ecosystem as a whole in terms of its annual matter and energy exchange with the atmosphere. The hypothesis that species richness and/or structural diversity leads to more stability and less variation in carbon fluxes (LOREAU, 2001) is confirmed by our study if the years 2004 and 2011 (with cold spring plus high fruit biomass) are considered that showed a more moderate response at the unmanaged site, but not if the late summer drought of 2003 is considered.

A.6 Conclusions

Defining the plant functional type is not sufficient to describe and predict the interaction between forests and the atmosphere (GROENENDIJK et al., 2011). Species and size specific traits (LAW, 2014), including forest structure (PRETZSCH, 2014), as well as management activities (LUYSSAERT, 2014) need to be represented in reliable and transferable prediction schemes as well. Looking back at the two hypotheses put forward in the Introduction section of this study we can conclude that hypothesis number two (regarding the enhanced interannual variability of gas exchange in the managed forest) could be confirmed, whereas hypothesis number one(regarding differences in the average exchange rates) was only true for water vapour but not for carbon dioxide if both fluxes are considered at ecosystem scale. Paired tower approaches at neighbouring forest sites can help disentangle control factors of forest–atmosphere exchange as affected by management activities, especially so if they are accompanied by independent biometric measurements.

A.7 Acknowledgements

We thank the administration of the Hainich National Park and the forestry district Leinefelde for the opportunity for research in their forest areas. We also thank Ernst-Detlef Schulze, Olaf Kolle, Kerstin Hippler, Karl Kuebler, Martin Hertel, Agnes Fastnacht (Max-Planck Institute for Biogeochemistry), Peter Anthoni, Corinna Rebmann (Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ), Frank Tiedemann, Dietmar Fellert, Heinrich Kreilein, Martin Lindenberg (University of Goettingen) and Werner Kutsch (ICOS) for their past work at the Hainich and Leinefelde tower sites. This research is financially supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and is part of the European Integrated Carbon Observation System (ICOS).

$B\,$ Stand age and species richness dampen interannual variation of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity

Authors: Talie Musavi, Mirco Migliavacca, Markus Reichstein, Jens Kattge, Christian Wirth, T. Andrew Black, Ivan Janssens, Alexander Knohl, Denis Loustau, Olivier Roupsard, Andrej Varlagin, Serge Rambal, Alessandro Cescatti, Damiano Gianelle, Hiroaki Kondo, **Rijan Tamrakar** and Miguel D. Mahecha

Published in 'Nature ecology and evolution' (MUSAVI et al., 2017) https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-016-0048

In this paper, I provided data from the Hainich site and edits to the manuscript.

B.1 Abstract

The total uptake of carbon dioxide by ecosystems via photosynthesis (gross primary productivity, GPP) is the largest flux in the global carbon cycle. A key ecosystem functional property determining GPP is the photosynthetic capacity at light saturation GPP_{sat}, and its interannual variability (IAV) is propagated to the net land-atmosphere exchange of CO₂. Given the importance of understanding the IAV in CO₂ fluxes for improving the predictability of the global carbon cycle, we have tested a range of alternative hypotheses to identify potential drivers of the magnitude of IAV in GPP_{sat} in forest ecosystems. Our results show that while the IAV in GPP_{sat} within sites is closely related to air temperature and soil water availability fluctuations, the magnitude of IAV in GPP_{sat} is related to stand age and biodiversity ($R^2 = 0.55$, P < 0.0001). We find that the IAV of GPP_{sat} is greatly reduced in older and more diverse forests seem to dampen the effect of climate variability on the carbon cycle irrespective of forest type. Preserving old forests and their diversity would therefore be beneficial in reducing the effect of climate variability on Earth's forest ecosystems.

B.2 Introduction

Interannual variability (IAV) of the net carbon dioxide exchange over land is globally the main determinant of the variability of atmospheric CO₂ growth rate (AHLSTRÖM et al., 2015: LE QUÉRÉ et al., 2009). So understanding the factors controlling the IAV in CO_2 fluxes is essential to improve the predictability of the global carbon cycle (Luo et al., 2015). Ecosystem biotic properties - such as soil and canopy nutrient status, rates of change in physiological properties of the vegetation, or the sensitivity of these properties to environmental factors – influence ecosystem CO_2 exchange. Recent studies have shown that the IAV of the carbon budget can be better explained by variation in biotic properties of ecosystems such as photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{sat}) than directly by environmental and climatic drivers (MA et al., 2011; REICHSTEIN et al., 2014; RICHARDSON et al., 2007). GPP_{sat} is defined as the value of gross primary productivity (GPP) at saturating light under non-stressed conditions, minimizing the influence of anomalous hydrometeorological conditions (for example, droughts and heatwaves), which potentially affect photosynthesis. A robustly retrieved characterization of GPP_{sat} can be regarded as an ecosystem functional property reflecting the physiological response of the ecosystem to the environment. Given that IAV of GPP_{sat} must propagate to observed GPP, this quantity is thought to be a key variable in understanding IAV of carbon fluxes (MUSAVI et al., 2015). In fact, recent studies demonstrated that GPP_{sat} correlates more strongly than any climatic variable with annual GPP (XIA et al., 2015), but also correlates with net ecosystem CO₂ exchange (REICHSTEIN et al., 2014). The magnitude of IAV in GPP_{sat} has been shown to exhibit considerable variation across ecosystems (MUSAVI et al., 2016), yet no obvious explanation for this pattern has been reported in the literature. However, the consequences are important: a low IAV in GPP_{sat} would suggest that ecosystem functioning is not very sensitive to climatic variability, and that it preserves its functionality under the influence of that variability – and, likewise, high IAV is a consequence of high sensitivity. The capability of an ecosystem

to preserve its functioning and structure over time (after external disturbances or climate extremes), is often defined as ecosystem stability and is linked to ecosystem resilience (HOLLING, 1973). Using this terminology, low values of IAV in GPP_{sat} can be understood as a characterization of high ecosystem functional stability.

The relation of ecosystem functionality, structure and stability has been a matter of debate for many decades in the field of ecology. In particular, the diversity of vascular plants has been investigated as a stabilizing factor with respect to variations in productivity, for example by buffering the ecosystem's sensitivity to climate extremes (JUCKER et al., 2014). However, it is also well known that plant diversity is co-limited by soil properties (GARCÍA-PALACIOS et al., 2010), ecosystem management, and climate conditions. Another variable to consider is stand age (the mean age of the forest stand or the number of years after a major stand replacement after disturbance), which may affect ecosystem stability through adaptation, particularly of trees to their environment – hence increasing ecosystem resilience to climate Variability (OHEIMB et al., 2014). Moreover, structural parameters such as canopy cover, rooting depth, canopy height or leaf area index (LAI), which also depend on tree species diversity and stand age (KUTSCH, 2009), have an important effect on the ecosystem response to variation in environmental drivers since they define the capacity of trees to access resources such as water and light (HERBST et al., 2015). For instance, a regional study in the Amazon basin has shown that GPP, derived from the remotely sensed enhanced vegetation index, is less sensitive to environmental influences in regions with high canopy cover (BRANDO et al., 2010).

Despite this growing body of ecological knowledge, it remains largely uncertain which factors stabilize ecosystem functional properties at the global scale. In particular, we do not understand the causes of variability of specific ecosystem functional properties, such as photosynthetic capacity across ecosystem types, which ultimately controls ecosystem productivity. Here we hypothesize that stand age and species diversity play an important role in stabilizing ecosystem photosynthetic capacity. We test this hypothesis while also considering other factors related to climate, water availability, forest structure and soil properties that might have direct or indirect effects on ecosystem photosynthetic capacity.

In this study, we used measurements of ecosystem-level fluxes, and climate variables (temperature, precipitation, and water availability), species richness, stand age, forest structure (canopy cover, height, and LAI), and soil properties (nutrient availability FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al. 2014) derived from satellite data, *in situ* observations and the literature (see the Methods).

We used half-hourly ecosystem-level GPP fluxes estimated by the means of the eddycovariance technique at 50 FLUXNET sites (BALDOCCHI, 2008) with at least 4 years of measured fluxes, and with different vegetation types across different climatic regions. We included data from evergreen forest (EF) as well as deciduous broadleaved and mixed forest (DBMF) located in temperate, boreal, mediterranean, tropical and dry climate regions (Supplementary Figure 1 and Table B.1). All 50 sites have information on stand age (referred to simply as 'age' in Figure B.1 - B.3) and species richness in addition to the CO_2 flux data. Species richness ('sp. no.' in Figures B.1 - B.3) is the number of dominant plant species (for example tree or herb) that account for a cumulative abundance of 90 percent at a given site. We collected additional information on (i) canopy cover, (ii) canopy height, (iii) LAI, (iv) temperature and precipitation, and (v) soil water availability index (WAI) for a subset of 44 sites; and (vi) an index of nutrient availability for 36 sites compiled from the literature (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al. 2014- see Methods).

We characterized the response of half-hourly GPP estimates to incoming shortwave radiation by fitting ecosystem-level light response curves yielding daily estimates of GPP_{sat} (see Methods). The site-level estimates of annual GPP_{sat} (that is, GPP at saturating light conditions) were then determined by extracting the 90th percentile of the daily estimates of GPP_{sat}. The magnitude of the IAV in GPP_{sat} was computed as the coefficient of variation of annual estimates of GPP_{sat} (cvGPP_{sat} = σ (GPP_{sat}(t))/ μ (GPP_{sat}(t))), where GPP_{sat}(t) is the annual GPP_{sat} for year t, and σ and μ are the standard deviation and mean of GPP_{sat}(t), respectively. Two variable selection methods based on (i) relative importance of regressors (GRÖMPING, 2007), and (ii) multivariate generalized regression models and a stepwise algorithm based on Akaike Information Criteria (stepAIC) were used to select the most relevant predictors of the IAV of GPP_{sat}(see Methods).



Figure B.1: Relationship of cvGPP_{sat} with stand age and species richness. (a) The relationship between the interannual variability of ecosystem photosynthetic capacity (cvGPP_{sat}) computed for each FLUXNET site and stand age (which is transformed using the natural logarithm, ln(age)): ($R^2 = 0.39$, P < 0.0001, n = 50). The number of plant species at the sites that account for 90 % of the total species abundances (sp. no.) is indicated with the size of the points. DBMF, deciduous broad leaf and mixed forests (n = 16; black); EF, evergreen needleleaf and broadleaf forests (n = 34; grey). (b) Relative importance metrics of ln(age) and sp. no. as predictors of cvGPP_{sat}. For a version of this figure using age without logarithm transformation, see Supplementary Fig. 11

B.3 Material and methods

B.3.1 Data

In this study we brought together a wide range of data: ecosystem-atmosphere CO_2 fluxes measured at eddy covariance flux sites, information about climate (temperature, precipitation, and water availability index (WAI)), species richness, stand age, and plant traits, derived from field campaigns, and information about forest structure derived from

satellite data for each of the selected sites; finally, data about nutrient availability was derived from the literature (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2014). Sites were selected according to the availability of eddy covariance flux measurements for at least 4 years, information about stand age, canopy cover, canopy height, and species abundance. This led to a global dataset of 50 sites with different vegetation types across different climatic regions. We included data from evergreen forest (EF) and deciduous broadleaved and mixed forest (DBMF) located in temperate, boreal, tropical, Mediterranean and dry climate regions.

CO₂ fluxes and meteorological data. From the global eddy covariance flux database (BALDOCCHI, 2008) we downloaded half-hourly ecosystem-level gross primary productivity (GPP) fluxes estimated from net ecosystem exchange (NEE) data (REICHSTEIN et al., 2005). Half-hourly shortwave incoming global radiation, temperature, and precipitation were also downloaded. From the dataset WAI was computed according to ref. (TRAMONTANA et al., 2016). Here the WAI is the ratio between soil water storage and plant available water storage capacity at lower layer (100 mm) (TRAMONTANA et al., 2016).

Average stand age. These data were obtained from the Biological, Ancillary, Disturbance and Metadata (BADM) of the FLUXNET database (LAW et al., 2008). Stand age (expressed in years) reported in the BADM is the average tree age of the stand or the age of the stand since the last major disturbance that caused stand replacement. Stand age was reported for different years at the sites, and so we normalized the data by using the age of all sites at the year 2007 (which is the year of the release of FLUXNET LaThuile Database used in this study).

Species richness. Species identity and abundances from the BADM data and literature search were collected. Because these data come from diverse sources and are collected with different protocols, they can have variable level of details. Therefore, we developed a strategy to guarantee comparability of the plant species richness computed across sites. For each site we sorted the plant species according to their abundance, from the one with highest abundance to the lowest. Then we considered only the number of species that add up to 90% of the total site abundance.

Canopy structure. For the selected sites we extracted satellite products to characterize canopy structure: canopy cover, plant height and Leaf Area Index (LAI).

Canopy cover was extracted from the Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) vegetation products continuous field version 437 http://glcf.umd.edu/data/vcf/. Plant height was derived for each site from the estimates reported in ref. (SIMARD et al., 2011 http://lidarradar.jpl.nasa.gov/).

We used estimates of LAI derived at 1 km (0.01°) spatial resolution by the JRC-TIP (PINTY et al., 2007) from the MODIS broadband visible and near-infrared surface albedo products (SCHAAF et al., 2002). The processing for the gap filling and the extraction of the time series from MODIS-TIP LAI products is described in ref. (MUSAVI et al., 2016). Annual maximum LAI values were derived at each site by extracting for each year the 90th percentile of the 16-day LAI time series. Finally for each site the maximum LAI (LAI_{max}) and the coefficient of variation of the annual maximum LAI (cvLAI_{max}) were estimated. In this study we did not use site level LAI data reported in the FLUXNET database for the following reasons:

1. LAI data have been collected with a variety of different methods, from direct(that is, harvesting and litter fall) to indirect (for example, hemispherical photography or LAI-2000) methods. Site-level method intercomparisons of various techniques always reveal large and non-systematic differences among LAI methodologies, rendering the LAI information reported in the FLUXNET database not always suited for network synthesis studies. Efforts toward the standardization of the collection of these measurements are ongoing in the context of the Integrated Carbon Observation System (ICOS) and National Ecological Observatory Network (NEON), but these data are not yet available. 2. The availability of data in regular annual measurement is very different among sites. For some sites the LAI is available for each measurement year (and sometimes even seasonally), but for many sites only one estimate during the whole measurement period is available.

Considering the limitations of site-level LAI data, we selected the MODIS-TIP LAI product. MODIS-TIP LAI is recognized as one of the most effective LAI products available and it was successfully evaluated at a FLUXNET site included in this study (PINTY et al., 2011).

Nutrient availability. Part of the dataset (36 sites) was complemented with soil nutrient availability classes derived from literature (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2014). For each site, nutrient availability was computed using site-level specific information about the following variables: carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations of soil and/or leaves, soil type, soil texture, soil C/N ratio, and soil pH. These data were derived for each site from the literature and in some cases provided by the site principal investigator. The sites were eventually classified in three classes: low, medium and high nutrient availability. Afterwards the classification was approved by the site principal investigators (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2014).

B.3.2 Estimation of photosynthetic capacity and its interannual variability magnitude

Site-level estimates of the annual photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{sat}) were determined from half-hourly GPP estimates and global solar radiation (Rg) (MUSAVI et al., 2016).

In summary, we fit a non-rectangular hyperbolic light response curve (NHLRC) to GPP and Rg data (GILMANOV et al., 2003). The NHLRC was fit to 5 days of data selected with a moving window approach. The parameters of the NHLRC were estimated and we computed the GPP at 1,000 W m⁻² of Rg (GPP_{1,000}), which represents the GPP at saturating light (that is, ecosystem photosynthetic capacity in the selected 5-day window). The estimated parameters and the (GPP_{1,000} values were assigned to the day in the middle of the 5-day window. Parameters estimated with R^2 of the fitting lower than 0.6 were removed.

To estimate the annual GPP_{sat} , for each year from the daily $\text{GPP}_{1,000}$ time series, we calculated the 90th percentile. The interannual variability (IAV) of the annual estimates of GPP_{sat} was computed as the coefficient of variation of (GPP_{sat} , that is, $\text{cvGPP}_{\text{sat}}$ calculated by dividing the standard deviation by the mean.

$$\left(\frac{standard\ deviation}{mean}\right) \tag{B.1}$$

In young stands $cvGPP_{sat}$ might depend on the trend in annual growth and GPP that can lead to high $cvGPP_{sat}$ values that are not related to interannual variability in photosynthetic capacity. To remove this confounding factor we first tested the presence of a significant trend in GPP_{sat} time series at each site with the Mann-Kendall non-parametric trend test. Finally, for the sites with a significant trend (P < 0.1) we recomputed the $cvGPP_{sat}$ by detrending the GPP_{sat} time series (that is, the standard deviation of detrended GPP_{sat} divided by the mean of the GPP_{sat}, hereafter referred as detrended $cvGPP_{sat}$).

Aggregation of environmental variables: For the estimation of year-to-year variability of climate we used temperature and precipitation measured, and the WAI35 estimated at the flux sites. To aggregate temperature and precipitation we used only daily values with more than 70% of original half-hourly data (gaps in the half-hourly data are filled using ERA-Interim climate data downscaled at the FLUXNET, http://www.bgc-jena.mpg.de/~MDIwork/meteo/index.php). Average temperature, WAI, and cumulative precipitation over the active growing season were computed. Active growing season was considered as the days with daily GPP higher than the annual median GPP. From these annual estimates we derived the standard deviation (s.d.) of annual mean temperature, WAI and precipitation during the growing season as a measure of their IAV.

B.3.3 Statistical analysis

We used a variable selection method and relative importance method to select and quantify the contribution of each predictor (for example, average stand age (age), $\ln(age)$, species richness (sp. no.), canopy cover, canopy height, and nutrient availability, temperature, WAI) to the cvGPP_{sat}; precipitation was once used in the calculation instead of WAI.

The stepwise algorithm based on the Akaike Information Criteria (AIC) algorithm with generalized linear regression models was used43. The independent variable was cvGPP_{sat}, while the predictors were stand age (referred to in the figures simply as 'age'), species abundance (sp. no.), ln(age), s.d. of temperature and of WAI, canopy cover, canopy height, LAI, and so on; interactions of age and sp. no., s.d. of temperature and s.d. of WAI and canopy height and (LAI_{max} were also included (cumulative precipitation was also used in place of WAI with similar results; data not shown). The algorithm was set up with the possibility to account for model pairwise interactions, and imposing a selection only if the model is statistical significant (P < 0.01). Although the sites used in this study have at least 4 years of flux data, the number of years (no.years) with available data at each site was different. Therefore, we used

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{no.years}}\tag{B.2}$$

to weight the model selection, weighting more the sites with higher numbers of years. A stepwise selection without the weighting was used as well. The distribution of the residuals of the best model was tested for normality using the Shapiro and Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The results showed that the residuals were normally distributed; therefore the weighting was not strictly necessary, but was used for a comprehensive evaluation.
In order to assess the uncertainty introduced by the potential trend in GPP_{sat} in young stands, we repeated the analysis using the detrended $\text{cvGPP}_{\text{sat}}$ dataset, and the $\text{cvGPP}_{\text{sat}}$ for the sites without a significant trend in GPP_{sat} .

To disentangle the importance of each predictor in determining $cvGPP_{sat}$ we used the Lindeman-Merenda-Gold (LMG) relative importance method 19. This method allows the assessment of the importance of correlated predictors in a multiple linear regression model. Moreover, the pairwise linear regression and correlation between the different predictors and $cvGPP_{sat}$, and between the predictors themselves, was tested.

Both stepwise AIC and the LMG identified $\ln(age)$ and sp. no. as the most important variables controlling the cvGPP_{sat}. We used a generalized linear model to fit the coefficients of the multiple linear model.

To test differences of $cvGPP_{sat}$ between the age and nutrient availability classes, we used the Kruskal-Wallis rank sum test. Sites were divided by age class (young, middle aged and mature stands) according to the 33rd and 66th percentiles of the distribution of age. Nutrient availability classes were defined according to ref. (FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ et al., 2014)(low, medium and high).

The correlation between GPP_{sat} and climate variables was tested with distance correlation (SZÉKELY et al., 2007). Distance correlation is a measure of statistical dependence between random variables and here we tested the dependence between GPP_{sat} and temperature and WAI jointly.



B.4 Results

Figure B.2: Relationship of species richness with stand age and $\text{cvGPP}_{\text{sat}}$. (a) The relationship between $\text{cvGPP}_{\text{sat}}$ computed for each FLUXNET site and species richness (sp. no.) ($R^2 = 0.12$, P = 0.01, n = 50). (b) The relationship between species richness and stand age ($R^2 = 0$, P = 0.68, n = 50). DBMF are deciduous broad leaf and mixed forests (n = 16; black) and EF are evergreen needleleaf and broadleaf forests (n = 34; grey).

Results from the variable selection and relative importance methods (see Methods) conducted over the 44 sites with all variables are consistent with our hypothesis that stand

age and species richness of the sites are the most important predictors of cvGPP_{sat}, with stand age being statistically the dominant factor (Figure B.1a). We further tested the performance of a multiple linear model, where $cvGPP_{sat}$ is a function of stand age and species richness, using all sites with data available for these two predictors (50 sites). The model suggests a clear relationship between cvGPP_{sat} and the logarithm of stand age and the species richness (Table B.2, $R^2 = 0.55$, P < 0.0001). Stand age, which is negatively correlated with $cvGPP_{sat}$, is the most important predictor (from the 55% explained variance by both variables, the relative contribution to the explained variance by stand age and species richness is 74.5% and 25.5%, respectively; Figure B.1b and Supplementary Fig. 2). The relationship between $cvGPP_{sat}$ and stand age also holds across the different forest types (ENF and DBMF) (Figure B.1a and Table B.1). Species richness has a complementary effect: for the same age class, higher values of species richness yield lower IAVs of GPP_{sat}(Table B.2 and Figure B.1a). While species richness has a negative relation with $cvGPP_{sat}$ (Figure B.2a and Table B.1), it is not correlated with stand age ($R^2 = 0$, Figure B.2b). Furthermore, Figure B.1 shows that the slope of cvGPP_{sat} versus stand age is similar for the two different forest types, which suggests that the relationship between cvGPP_{sat} and stand age is independent of forest type (Table 1). The relationship is also independent of (LAI_{max} of the sites (Supplementary Fig. 3). In young forests, cvGPP_{sat} might depend also on the expected trend in annual growth and GPP, as young stands are expected to rapidly increase their biomass and LAI in the first years of establishment (MAGNANI et al., 2007). Thus, young stands could have a higher variability of GPP_{sat} – but this does not necessarily reflect instability. To remove this potentially confounding factor, we tested whether there is a temporal trend in our data of annual GPP_{sat} at the sites (Methods). Using a Mann-Kendall test, we found only five sites had a significant trend, two of which were old sites (> 80 years). The results of the model selection and the relationship between cvGPP_{sat}, stand age and species richness remains the same regardless of whether the trend in GPP_{sat} from these sites is removed (see Supplementary Information).

Table B.1: Summary of the linear models fitted for $cvGPP_{sat}$ (the interannual variability of ecosystem photosynthetic capacity computed for each FLUXNET site) with the chosen predictors for the different groups of sites classified according to vegetation type.

PFT	R^2	$Adj.R^2$	Predictors	Coefficients	s.e.	d.f.	p
DBMF	0.65	0.60	Intercept	0.38	0.05	13	< 0.0001
	-		$\ln(Age)$	- 0.06	0.01		0.0004
			Sp. no.	- 0.01	0.00		0.02
DBMF	0.46	0.42	Intercept	0.31	0.05	14	< 0.0001
-	-		$\ln(Age)$	- 0.05	0.01		0.004
\mathbf{EF}	0.49	0.46	Intercept	0.38	0.04	31	< 0.0001
-	-		$\ln(Age)$	- 0.05	0.01		< 0.0001
			Sp. no.	- 0.02	0.007		0.02
\mathbf{EF}	0.40	0.38	Intercept	0.35	0.05	32	< 0.0001
	-		ln(Age)	- 0.05	0.01		< 0.0001

PFT, plant functional types; s.e., standard error; d.f., degree of freedom; DBMF, deciduous broad leaf and mixed forests; EF, evergreen forests. ln(Age) is the natural logarithm of the average stand age, and sp. no. is the number of dominant plant species that have a cumulative abundance of 90% at the sites.

While there is a strong relationship between the annual GPP_{sat} and mean growing season temperature and WAI (Figure 3 and Supplementary Figures 4-7) across all sites, the magnitude of the IAV of GPP_{sat} is best explained by stand age differences, and not by the differences in the IAV of climate and environmental factors (that is, standard deviation of annual growing season temperature and WAI). The distance correlation coefficient between GPP_{sat} and climate variables, which can account for nonlinearity in statistical relations, is also not linked to stand age, species richness or cvGPP_{sat} (Supplementary Fig. 8). Pairwise relationships between cvGPP_{sat}, environmental variables and ecosystem structural variables were also tested. Soil nutrient availability has no effect on the cvGPP_{sat} (Supplementary Fig. 9), and neither do the other variables (Supplementary Fig. 10).

		-			
Model		\mathbf{R}^2	Adj. \mathbb{R}^2	Coefficients	р
$cvGPP_{sat} =$	Intercept	0.12	0.1	0.18 ± 0.02	0.01
	sp. no.			-0.01 ± 0	
$cvGPP_{sat} =$	Intercept	0.25	0.24	0.19 ± 0.01	0.0002
	Age			0 ± 0	
$cvGPP_{sat} =$	Intercept	0.39	0.38	0.33 ± 0.04	< 0.0001
	$\ln(Age)$			-0.05 ± 0.01	
$cvGPP_{sat} =$	Intercept	0.55	0.53	0.39 ± 0.03	< 0.0001
	$\ln(Age)$			-0.05 ± 0.01	
	sp. no.			-0.02 ± 0	
$cvGPP_{sat} =$	Intercept	0.55	0.52	0.42 ± 0.06	< 0.0001
	$\ln(Age)$			-0.06 ± 0.01	
	sp. no.			-0.03 ± 0.02	
	ln(Age):sp. No			0 ± 0	

Table B.2: Comparison of different models computed using the set of predictors chosen by both stepwise model selection according to aIC and relative importance methods.

 $cvGPP_{sat}$ is the IAV magnitude of ecosystem photosynthetic capacity, and sp. no. is the number of dominant plant species that have a cumulative abundance of 90 % at the sites. ln(Age) is the natural logarithm of the average stand age. The number of sites is n = 50.



Figure B.3: Frequency distribution of the distance correlation coefficients computed between the annual ecosystem photosynthetic capacity (GPP_{sat}) and the environmental variables WAI and Tair (n = 50). WAI, average water availability index; and Tair, temperature (both during the growing season). Using the distance correlation coefficient (dcor) (LUYSSAERT et al., 2008), we show the strength of the correlation of GPP_{sat} with WAI and Tair jointly (see the Methods).

B.5 Discussion and conclusion

Previous studies have shown that vegetation responses to climate variability can explain the IAV of ecosystem fluxes better than climate variables themselves on longer timescales (MA et al., 2011; RICHARDSON et al., 2007; URBANSKI et al., 2007). Here we show further that the magnitude of IAV in GPP_{sat} (ecosystem photosynthetic capacity) is best explained by vegetation properties of the sites. We identify a joint control of stand age and biodiversity on the magnitude of the IAV of ecosystem photosynthetic capacity (that is, cvGPP_{sat}). Part of the unexplained variance in cvGPP_{sat} by stand age and species richness could be also associated with management and disturbances that were not included in the ancillary database of the sites, and can therefore not be formally investigated. Accurately simulating GPP in terrestrial biosphere models depends crucially on parameters related to GPP_{sat} (BONAN et al., 2012). These parameters are typically assumed to be constant over time,

but may vary spatially according to forest types (MEDVIGY et al., 2013). Our findings suggest that stand age and species richness should be accounted for to dynamically adjust parameters related to photosynthetic capacity.

Stand age can influence GPP_{sat} stability in different ways by enhancing soil conditions over time (for example, a thicker humus layer with favourable microbial communities, increased water storage capacity, and access to deeper water with a tap root system OHEIMB et al. 2014). Also, a forest may develop a more diverse canopy and rooting structure, allowing for more complementary use of nutrients and water. In addition, older forests are more resilient to environmental changes because with time species selection leads to a better adaptation to the environment. Site fertility can also improve with stand age, following the nutrient losses occurring during major disturbances (such as fire or harvest). In fact, the ecosystem internal cycle of macronutrients is particularly relevant (BUTTERBACH-BAHL et al., 2011; SUTTON et al., 2011) and leads to a progressive accumulation of nutrients in the living biomass with age (YANG et al., 2011).

Although species diversity is generally assumed to increase ecosystem resilience, exceptions have been reported (GROSSIORD et al., 2014c). For example, species diversity can enhance forest resistance to drought only if the system is prone to drought (GROSSIORD et al., 2014c). This is considering the gradual adaptation of the ecosystem to its environment by changing species composition to track environmental changes. Facilitation (species interactions that results in the species benefitting from each other) and complementary functioning of plant species can explain why species richness is important for ecosystem stability and how the interaction of species modulates the climate effect on ecosystem functioning (DEL Río et al., 2014). In addition, mixed forests are able to buffer the effect of climate IAV through competition and facilitation in normal and stressful years, respectively (DEL Río et al., 2014). Facilitation and complementary effects are clearly related to the functional richness of the species pool (that is, species with different functional traits), which is linked to stand age as shown by a regional study in the tropics (BECKNELL et al., 2014). Diverse ecosystems with a higher number of plant species respond less dramatically in their functioning (compared to ecosystems with single or few species) to climate and environmental stresses.

The Earth's forest cover is essential to remove CO_2 from the atmosphere, and afforestation is important to compensate for forest loss due to land use changes (such as agriculture). While young forests established on former agricultural lands, or burned and harvested forests for several years cannot compensate for the initial carbon loss nor contribute to CO_2 sequestration from the atmosphere, old forest stands retain their capacity to sequester CO_2 for long periods (COURSOLLE et al., 2012; LUYSSAERT et al., 2008). We show that the photosynthetic capacity and therefore the gross primary production of old growth forests are more resilient to climate variability than young forests. In addition, our study suggests that species-rich forest stands offer a larger potential for maintaining a stable photosynthetic capacity across time than species-poorer stands. Therefore, preserving our current forest (with old forests covering 15% of Earth's surface (LUYSSAERT et al., 2008)) and their species diversity may attenuate the annual fluctuations of global forest-atmosphere CO_2 exchange.

B.6 Acknowledgements

From Max-Planck Institute for Biogeochemistry we thank U. Weber, M. Jung for providing data, and K. Morris and R. Nair for a language check. We thank P. Jassal from the University of British Columbia and Jens Schumacher from University of Jena for their helpful comments. The authors T.M., M.M., M.D.M., J.K., C.W. and M.R. affiliated with the MPI BGC acknowledge funding by the European Union's Horizon 2020 project BACI under grant agreement no. 640176. This work used eddy covariance data acquired and shared by the FLUXNET community, including these networks: AmeriFlux, AfriFlux, AsiaFlux, CarboAfrica, CarboEuropeIP, CarboItaly, CarboMont, ChinaFlux, Fluxnet-Canada, GreenGrass, ICOS, KoFlux, LBA, NECC, OzFlux-TERN, TCOS-Siberia and USCCC. The ERA-Interim reanalysis data are provided by ECMWF and processed by LSCE. The FLUXNET eddy covariance data processing and harmonization was carried out by the European Fluxes Database Cluster, AmeriFlux Management Project, and Fluxdata project of FLUXNET, with the support of CDIAC and ICOS Ecosystem Thematic Center, and the OzFlux, ChinaFlux and AsiaFlux offices. T.M. acknowledges the International Max Planck Research School for global biogeochemical cycles.

B.7 Author contributions

T.M. wrote the manuscript and performed the analysis. T.M., M.M., M.D.M. and M.R. designed the study. M.M., M.D.M., M.R., J.K., I.J., A.K., A.C., C.W., T.A.B. and A.V. discussed the interpretation of the results. M.M., M.D.M., M.R., J.K., C.W., T.A.B., A.C., A.K., D.L. and O.R. contributed significantly to editing the paper. S.R., R.T. and D.G.contributed to editing the paper. T.A.B., I.J., A.K., D.L., O.R., A.V., S.R., A.C., H.K. and T.F. contributed data.

B.8 Additional information

B.8.1 Code availability

The analysis was conducted in R version 3.2.4 and the script of the analysis is available within the supplementary files of the paper.

B.8.2 Data availability

The authors declare that the data supporting the findings of this study are available within the Supplementary Information.

B.8.3 Supplementary information

is available for this paper https://www.nature.com/articles/s41559-016-0048.

B.8.4 Reprints and permissions information

is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

B.8.5 Correspondence and requests for materials

should be addressed to T.M.

B.8.6 How to cite this article

:Musavi, T. et al. Stand age and species richness dampen interannual variation of ecosystemlevel photosynthetic capacity. Nat. Ecol. Evol.1, 0048 (2017).

B.9 Competing interests

The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Bibliography

- AHLSTRÖM, A. et al. (2015): 'The dominant role of semi-arid ecosystems in the trend and variability of the land CO2 sink'. *Science*, vol. 348(6237): pp. 895–899 (cit. on p. 126).
- AHRENDS, H., S ETZOLD, W. KUTSCH, R STOECKLI, R BRUEGGER, F JEANNERET, H WANNER, N BUCHMANN, and W EUGSTER (Sept. 2009): 'Tree phenology and carbon dioxide fluxes: use of digital photography for process-based interpretation at the ecosystem scale'. *Climate Research*, vol. 39: pp. 261–274 (cit. on p. 123).
- ALCAMO, J. et al. (2003): Ecosystems and Human Well-beingt / Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (cit. on p. 2).
- ALI, A., E. R. YAN, H. Y. CHEN, S. X. CHANG, Y. T. ZHAO, X. D. YANG, and M. S. XU (2016): 'Stand structural diversity rather than species diversity enhances aboveground carbon storage in secondary subtropical forests in Eastern China'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 13(16): pp. 4627–4635 (cit. on pp. 3–5).
- ALLARD, V., J. M. OURCIVAL, S. RAMBAL, R. JOFFRE, and A. ROCHETEAU (2008): 'Seasonal and annual variation of carbon exchange in an evergreen Mediterranean forest in southern France'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 14(4): pp. 714–725 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- ALLEN, C. D., D. D. BRESHEARS, and N. G. MCDOWELL (Aug. 2015): 'On underestimation of global vulnerability to tree mortality and forest die-off from hotter drought in the Anthropocene'. *ECOSPHERE*, vol. 6(8): pp. 1–55 (cit. on pp. 5, 7).
- ALVAREZ-URIA, P. and C. KÖRNER (2007): 'Low temperature limits of root growth in deciduous and evergreen temperate tree species'. *Functional Ecology*, vol. 21(2): pp. 211– 218 (cit. on p. 30).
- ANDEREGG, W. R. L., J. A. BERRY, D. D. SMITH, J. S. SPERRY, L. D. L. ANDEREGG, and C. B. FIELD (2012): 'The roles of hydraulic and carbon stress in a widespread climate-induced forest die-off'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 109(1): pp. 233–237 (cit. on p. 5).
- ANDEREGG, W. R., J. M. KANE, and L. D. ANDEREGG (2013): 'Consequences of widespread tree mortality triggered by drought and temperature stress'. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 3(1): pp. 30–36 (cit. on p. 5).
- ANDEREGG, W. R. L., A. G. KONINGS, A. T. TRUGMAN, K. YU, D. R. BOWLING, R. GABBITAS, D. S. KARP, S. PACALA, J. S. SPERRY, B. N. SULMAN, and N. ZENES (2018): 'Hydraulic diversity of forests regulates ecosystem resilience during drought'. *Nature*, vol. 561(7724): pp. 538–541 (cit. on pp. 6, 46).
- ANDERSON, E. C. (1999): Monte Carlo methods and importance sampling. Statistical Genetics. Lecture notes for Stat 578 C. (Cit. on p. 116).
- ANTHONI, P. M., A. KNOHL, C. REBMANN, A. FREIBAUER, M. MUND, W. ZIEGLER, O. KOLLE, and E. D. SCHULZE (2004): 'Forest and agricultural land-use-dependent CO2 exchange in Thuringia, Germany'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 10(12): pp. 2005–2019 (cit. on pp. 15, 16, 18, 114, 115).

- AUBINET, M., B. CHERMANNE, M. VANDENHAUTE, B. LONGDOZ, M. YERNAUX, and E. LAITAT (Mar. 2001): 'Long term carbon dioxide exchange above a mixed forest in the Belgian Ardennes'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 108(4): pp. 293–315 (cit. on p. 84).
- AUBINET, M. et al. (Jan. 1999): 'Estimates of the Annual Net Carbon and Water Exchange of Forests: The EUROFLUX Methodology'. Advances in Ecological Research. Vol. 30. Academic Press: pp. 113–175 (cit. on p. 18).
- AUBINET, M. et al. (2000): 'Estimates of the net annual Carbon and water exchange of forests: The Euroflux Methodology'. Advances in Ecological Research, vol. 30 (cit. on p. 115).
- BABST, F., M. CARRER, B. POULTER, C. URBINATI, B. NEUWIRTH, and D. FRANK (2012): '500 years of regional forest growth variability and links to climatic extreme events in Europe'. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 7(4) (cit. on p. 2).
- BALDOCCHI, D. (2008): 'Breathing' of the terrestrial biosphere: lessons learned from a global network of carbon dioxide flux measurement systems'. Australian Journal of Botany, vol. 56(1): p. 1 (cit. on pp. 127, 129).
- BALDOCCHI, D. and L. XU (2005): 'Carbon exchange of deciduous broadleaved forestes in temperate and Mediterranean regions'. *The Carbon Balance of Forest Biomes*, vol. Ed. by GRIFFITHS, H and P JARVIS: pp. 187–214 (cit. on p. 15).
- BALDOCCHI, D. et al. (2001): 'FLUXNET: A New Tool to Study the Temporal and Spatial Variability of Ecosystem-Scale Carbon Dioxide, Water Vapor, and Energy Flux Densities'. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 82(11): pp. 2415–2434 (cit. on pp. 14, 45).
- BALDOCCHI, D. D. (2018): 'Must we incorporate soil moisture information when applying light use efficiency models with satellite remote sensing information?' New Phytologist, vol. 218(4): pp. 1293–1294 (cit. on pp. 19, 31, 42).
- BARBETA, A. and J. PENUELAS (Aug. 2016): 'Sequence of plant responses to droughts of different timescales: lessons from holm oak (Quercus ilex) forests'. *PLANT ECOLOGY & DIVERSITY*, vol. 9(4): pp. 321–338 (cit. on p. 5).
- BARR, A., G. van der KAMP, T. BLACK, J. MCCAUGHEY, and Z. NESIC (Feb. 2012): 'Energy balance closure at the BERMS flux towers in relation to the water balance of the White Gull Creek watershed 1999–2009'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 153: pp. 3–13 (cit. on p. 121).
- BARR, A. G., T. A. BLACK, E. H. HOGG, T. J. GRIFFIS, K. MORGENSTERN, N. KLJUN, A. THEEDE, and Z. NESIC (2007): 'Climatic controls on the carbon and water balances of a boreal aspen forest, 1994-2003'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 13(3): pp. 561–576 (cit. on p. 14).
- BARRIOPEDRO, D., E. M. FISCHER, J. LUTERBACHER, R. M. TRIGO, and R. GARCÍA-HERRERA (2011): 'The hot summer of 2010: Redrawing the temperature record map of Europe'. Science, vol. 332(6026): pp. 220–224 (cit. on pp. 9, 46).
- BAUHUS, J., K. PUETTMANN, and C. MESSIER (2009): 'Silviculture for old-growth attributes'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 258(4): pp. 525–537 (cit. on p. 2).

- BECKNELL, J. M. and J. S. POWERS (June 2014): 'Stand age and soils as drivers of plant functional traits and aboveground biomass in secondary tropical dry forest'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 44(6): pp. 604–613 (cit. on p. 136).
- BEER, C. et al. (2010): 'Terrestrial Gross Carbon Dioxide Uptake: Global Distribution and Covariation with Climate'. *Science*, vol. 329(5993): pp. 834–838 (cit. on p. 15).
- BEGUERÍA, S. (2017): SPEIbase: Version 2.5.1 (cit. on p. 50).
- BEGUERÍA, S., B. LATORRE, F. REIG, and S. M. VICENTE-SERRANO (2017): SPEIbase v.2.5 [Dataset] (cit. on p. 50).
- BEGUERÍA, S., S. M. VICENTE-SERRANO, and M. ANGULO-MARTÍNEZ (2010): 'A multiscalar global drought dataset: The SPEI base: A new gridded product for the analysis of drought variability and impacts'. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 91(10): pp. 1351–1356 (cit. on p. 50).
- BELLO, J., N. J. HASSELQUIST, P. VALLET, A. KAHMEN, T. PEROT, and N. KOR-BOULEWSKY (Apr. 2019a): 'Complementary water uptake depth of Quercus petraea and Pinus sylvestris in mixed stands during an extreme drought'. *Plant and Soil*, vol. 437(1-2): pp. 93–115 (cit. on p. 6).
- BELLO, J., P. VALLET, T. PEROT, P. BALANDIER, V. SEIGNER, S. PERRET, C. COUTEAU, and N. KORBOULEWSKY (2019b): 'How do mixing tree species and stand density affect seasonal radial growth during drought events?' *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 432(October 2018): pp. 436–445 (cit. on pp. 4–6, 104).
- BITTNER, S., U. TALKNER, I. KRÄMER, F. BEESE, D. HÖLSCHER, E. PRIESACK, I. KRAEMER, F. BEESE, D. HOELSCHER, and E. PRIESACK (Sept. 2010): 'Modeling stand water budgets of mixed temperate broad-leaved forest stands by considering variations in species specific drought response'. AGRICULTURAL AND FOREST METEOROLOGY, vol. 150(10): pp. 1347–1357 (cit. on pp. 81, 82, 85, 89, 102).
- BOLTE, A., T. RAHMANN, M. KUHR, P. POGODA, D. MURACH, and K. V. GADOW (2004): 'Relationships between tree dimension and coarse root biomass in mixed stands of European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) and Norway spruce (Picea abies [L.] Karst.)' *Plant and Soil*, vol. 264(1-2): pp. 1–11 (cit. on p. 64).
- BONAN, G. B., K. W. OLESON, R. A. FISHER, G. LASSLOP, and M. REICHSTEIN (June 2012): 'Reconciling leaf physiological traits and canopy flux data: Use of the TRY and FLUXNET databases in the Community Land Model version 4'. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, vol. 117(G2): n/a–n/a (cit. on p. 135).
- BONCINA, A., A. KADUNC, and D. ROBIC (2007): 'Effects of selective thinning on growth and development of beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) forest stands in south-eastern Slovenia'. *Annals of Forest Science*, vol. 64(1): pp. 44–57 (cit. on p. 105).
- BRANDO, P. M., S. J. GOETZ, A. BACCINI, D. C. NEPSTAD, P. S. A. BECK, and M. C. CHRISTMAN (Aug. 2010): 'Seasonal and interannual variability of climate and vegetation indices across the Amazon'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 107(33): pp. 14685–14690 (cit. on p. 127).
- BREDA, N., A. GRANIER, and G. AUSSENAC (1995): 'Effects of thinning on soil and tree water relations, transpiration and growth in an oak forest (Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl.)' *Tree Physiology*, vol. 15(5): pp. 295–306 (cit. on p. 105).

- BRÉDA, N., R. HUC, A. GRANIER, and E. DREYER (2006): 'Temperate forest trees and stands under severe drought: a review of ecophysiological responses, adaptation processes and long-term consequences'. Annals of Forest Science, vol. 63(6): pp. 625–644 (cit. on pp. 5, 65, 108).
- BRESHEARS, D. D., N. S. COBB, P. M. RICH, K. P. PRICE, C. D. ALLEN, R. G. BALICE, W. H. ROMME, J. H. KASTENS, M. L. FLOYD, J. BELNAP, J. J. ANDERSON, O. B. MYERS, and C. W. MEYER (2005): 'Regional vegetation die-off in response to global-change-type drought'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 102(42): pp. 15144–15148 (cit. on p. 7).
- BRIENEN, R. J. W., E. GLOOR, S. CLERICI, R. NEWTON, L. ARPPE, A. BOOM, S. BOTTRELL, M. CALLAGHAN, T. HEATON, S. HELAMA, G. HELLE, M. J. LENG, K. MIELIKÄINEN, M. OINONEN, and M. TIMONEN (2017): 'Tree height strongly affects estimates of water-use efficiency responses to climate and CO2 using isotopes'. *Nature Communications*, vol. 8(1): p. 288 (cit. on p. 2).
- BRUNNER, I., C. HERZOG, M. A. DAWES, M. AREND, and C. SPERISEN (2015): 'How tree roots respond to drought'. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 6(JULY) (cit. on p. 5).
- BUGMANN, H. and W. CRAMER (1998): 'Improving the behavior of forest gap models along gradients'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 103: pp. 247–263 (cit. on p. 76).
- BURAS, A., A. RAMMIG, and C. S. ZANG (2019): 'Quantifying impacts of the drought 2018 on European ecosystems in comparison to 2003'. Vol. (August) (cit. on pp. 108, 109).
- BUSSOTTI, F. and M. POLLASTRINI (2017): 'Traditional and novel indicators of climate change impacts on european forest trees'. *Forests*, vol. 8(4): pp. 1–12 (cit. on p. 7).
- BUTTERBACH-BAHL, K. et al. (2011): 'Nitrogen processes in terrestrial ecosystems'. The European Nitrogen Assessment. Ed. by SUTTON, M. A., C. M. HOWARD, J. W. ERISMAN, G. BILLEN, A. BLEEKER, P. GRENNFELT, H. van GRINSVEN, and B. GRIZZETTI. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: pp. 99–125 (cit. on p. 136).
- CÁCERES, M. D., J. MARTÍNEZ-VILALTA, L. COLL, P. LLORENS, P. CASALS, R. POYATOS, J. G. PAUSAS, and L. BROTONS (2015): 'Coupling a water balance model with forest inventory data to predict drought stress: The role of forest structural changes vs. climate changes'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 213: pp. 77–90 (cit. on pp. 81, 85–87).
- CANADELL, J. G. J. J. G. and M. M. R. RAUPACH (2008): 'Managing forests for climate change mitigation.' *Science*, vol. 320(5882): pp. 320–1456 (cit. on p. 2).
- CARLYLE-MOSES, D. E. and J. H. C. GASH (2011): 'Rainfall Interception Loss by Forest Canopies'. *Forest Hydrology and Biogeochemistry*. Ed. by LEVIA, D., D. CARLYLE-MOSES, and T. TANAKA. Ecological. Dordrecht: Springer: pp. 407–423 (cit. on p. 122).
- CAVENDER-BARES, J. and F. A. BAZZAZ (2000): 'Changes in drought response strategies with ontogeny in quercus rubra: Implications for scaling from seedlings to mature trees'. *Oecologia*, vol. 124(1): pp. 8–18 (cit. on p. 5).
- CHAVES, M. M., J. S. PEREIRA, J. MAROCO, M. L. RODRIGUES, C. P. RICARDO, M. L. OSÓRIO, I. CARVALHO, T. FARIA, and C. PINHEIRO (2002): 'How plants cope with water stress in the field. Photosynthesis and growth'. *Annals of Botany*, vol. 89(SPEC. ISS.): pp. 907–916 (cit. on p. 30).

- CHEN, Z., G. YU, X. ZHU, Q. WANG, S. NIU, and Z. HU (2015): 'Covariation between gross primary production and ecosystem respiration across space and the underlying mechanisms: A global synthesis'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 203: pp. 180– 190 (cit. on pp. 14, 15, 45).
- CHOAT, B., T. J. BRODRIBB, C. R. BRODERSEN, R. A. DUURSMA, R. LÓPEZ, and B. E. MEDLYN (2018): 'Triggers of tree mortality under drought'. *Nature*, vol. 558(7711): pp. 531–539 (cit. on p. 5).
- CHU, H., J. CHEN, J. F. GOTTGENS, A. R. DESAI, Z. OUYANG, and S. S. QIAN (2016): 'Response and biophysical regulation of carbon dioxide fluxes to climate variability and anomaly in contrasting ecosystems in northwestern Ohio, USA'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 220: pp. 50–68 (cit. on p. 15).
- CIAIS, P et al. (2005): 'Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003'. *Nature*, vol. 437(7058): pp. 529–533 (cit. on pp. 2, 14, 45, 46, 65, 107).
- CLARK, J. S. et al. (2016): 'The impacts of increasing drought on forest dynamics, structure, and biodiversity in the United States'. *GLOBAL CHANGE BIOLOGY*, vol. 22(7): pp. 2329–2352 (cit. on p. 76).
- COLE, E. F. and B. C. SHELDON (2017): 'The shifting phenological landscape: Withinand between-species variation in leaf emergence in a mixed-deciduous woodland.' *Ecology* and evolution, vol. 7(4): pp. 1135–1147 (cit. on p. 30).
- COUMOU, D., A. ROBINSON, and S. RAHMSTORF (2013): 'Global increase in recordbreaking monthly-mean temperatures'. *Climatic Change*, vol. 118(3-4): pp. 771–782 (cit. on p. 46).
- COURSOLLE, C., H. A. MARGOLIS, M. A. GIASSON, P. Y. BERNIER, B. D. AMIRO, M. A. ARAIN, A. G. BARR, T. A. BLACK, M. L. GOULDEN, J. H. MCCAUGHEY, J. M. CHEN, A. L. DUNN, R. F. GRANT, and P. M. LAFLEUR (2012): 'Influence of stand age on the magnitude and seasonality of carbon fluxes in Canadian forests'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 165: pp. 136–148 (cit. on p. 136).
- DAVI, H., E. DUFRÊNE, A. GRANIER, V. LE DANTEC, C. BARBAROUX, C. FRANÇOIS, and N. BRÉDA (2005a): 'Modelling carbon and water cycles in a beech forest'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 185(2-4): pp. 387–405 (cit. on p. 9).
- DAVI, H., E. DUFRÊNE, A. GRANIER, V. LE DANTEC, C. BARBAROUX, C. FRANÇOIS, N. BRÉDA, H. DAVI, C. FRANÇOIS, G. le MAIRE, V. L. DANTEC, and A. GRANIER (2005b): 'Modelling carbon and water cycles in a beech forest'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 185(2-4): pp. 387–405 (cit. on pp. 9, 76).
- DAVIDSON, E. A., E. BELK, and R. D. BOONE (1998): 'Soil water content and temperature as independent or confounded factors controlling soil respiration in a temperate mixed hardwood forest'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 4(2): pp. 217–227 (cit. on p. 30).
- DAVIS, K. J., P. S. BAKWIN, C. YI, B. W. BERGER, C. ZHAO, R. M. TECLAW, and J. G. ISEBRANDS (2003): 'Modeling canopy CO<inf>2</inf> and H<inf>2</inf>O exchange of a temperate mixed forest'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 9: pp. 1278–1293 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- DAVIS, S. D., F. W. EWERS, J. S. SPERRY, K. A. PORTWOOD, M. C. CROCKER, and G. C. ADAMS (May 2002): 'Shoot dieback during prolonged drought in Ceanothus

(Rhamnaceae) chaparral of California: a possible case of hydraulic failure'. *American Journal of Botany*, vol. 89(5): pp. 820–828 (cit. on p. 5).

- DAVIS, T. W., I. C. PRENTICE, B. D. STOCKER, R. T. THOMAS, R. J. WHITLEY, H. WANG, B. J. EVANS, A. V. GALLEGO-SALA, M. T. SYKES, and W. CRAMER (2017): 'Simple process-led algorithms for simulating habitats (SPLASH v.1.0): Robust indices of radiation, evapotranspiration and plant-available moisture'. *Geoscientific Model Development*, vol. 10(2): pp. 689–708 (cit. on pp. 8, 76).
- DAWSON, T. E. (1996): 'Determining water use by trees and forests from isotopic, energy balance and transpiration analyses: the roles of tree size and hydraulic lift'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 16(1-2): pp. 263–272 (cit. on p. 2).
- DEL RÍO, M., S. CONDÉS, and H. PRETZSCH (2014): 'Analyzing size-symmetric vs. sizeasymmetric and intra- vs. inter-specific competition in beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) mixed stands'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 325: pp. 90–98 (cit. on p. 136).
- DESAI, A. R., P. V. BOLSTAD, B. D. COOK, K. J. DAVIS, and E. V. CAREY (2005): 'Comparing net ecosystem exchange of carbon dioxide between an old-growth and mature forest in the upper Midwest, USA'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 128(1-2): pp. 33–55 (cit. on pp. 48, 68, 84).
- DHÔTE, J. F. (1994): 'Hypotheses about competition for light and water in even-aged common beech (Fagus silvatica L.)' *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 69(1-3): pp. 219–232 (cit. on p. 2).
- DITTMAR, C., W. ZECH, and W. ELLING (2003): 'Growth variations of Common beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) under different climatic and environmental conditions in Europe A dendroecological study'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 173(1-3): pp. 63–78 (cit. on p. 15).
- DĂNESCU, A., A. T. ALBRECHT, and J. BAUHUS (2016): 'Structural diversity promotes productivity of mixed, uneven-aged forests in southwestern Germany'. *Oecologia*, vol. 182(2): pp. 319–333 (cit. on pp. 3, 4, 45, 105).
- DĂNESCU, A., U. KOHNLE, J. BAUHUS, J. SOHN, and A. T. ALBRECHT (May 2018): 'Stability of tree increment in relation to episodic drought in uneven-structured, mixed stands in southwestern Germany'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 415-416: pp. 148– 159 (cit. on p. 6).
- DOBBERTIN, M. (2002): 'Influence of stand structure and site factors on wind damage comparing the storms Vivian and Lothar'. *Forest Snow and Landscape Research*, vol. 77(1-2): pp. 187–205 (cit. on pp. 4, 5).
- DRAGONI, D., H. P. SCHMID, C. A. WAYSON, H. POTTER, C. S. B. GRIMMOND, and J. C. RANDOLPH (2011): 'Evidence of increased net ecosystem productivity associated with a longer vegetated season in a deciduous forest in south-central Indiana, USA'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 17(2): pp. 886–897 (cit. on pp. 14, 31, 33).
- DREXHAGE, M. and F. GRUBER (1999): 'Above- and Below-stump Relationships for Picea Abies: Estimating Root System Biomass from Breast-height Diameters'. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research, vol. 14(4): pp. 328–333 (cit. on p. 64).
- EHBRECHT, M., P. SCHALL, C. AMMER, and D. SEIDEL (Aug. 2017): 'Quantifying stand structural complexity and its relationship with forest management, tree species diversity

and microclimate'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 242(December 2016): pp. 1–9 (cit. on pp. 4, 64).

- EHBRECHT, M., P. SCHALL, J. JUCHHEIM, C. AMMER, and D. SEIDEL (2016): 'Effective number of layers: A new measure for quantifying three-dimensional stand structure based on sampling with terrestrial LiDAR'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 380: pp. 212–223 (cit. on p. 66).
- EHMAN, J. L., H. P. SCHMID, C. S. GRIMMOND, J. C. RANDOLPH, P. J. HANSON, C. A. WAYSON, and F. D. CROPLEY (2002): 'An initial intercomparison of micrometeorological and ecological inventory estimates of carbon exchange in a mid-latitude deciduous forest'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 8(6): pp. 575–589 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- ETZOLD, S., N. K. RUEHR, R. ZWEIFEL, M. DOBBERTIN, A. ZINGG, P. PLUESS, R. HÄSLER, W. EUGSTER, and N. BUCHMANN (2011): 'The carbon balance of two contrasting mountain forest ecosystems in Switzerland: Similar annual trends, but seasonal differences'. *Ecosystems*, vol. 14(8): pp. 1289–1309 (cit. on pp. 48, 68, 84).
- FARES, S., G. S. MUGNOZZA, P. CORONA, and M. PALAHÍ (Mar. 2015): 'Sustainability: Five steps for managing Europe's forests'. *Nature*, vol. 519(7544): pp. 407–409 (cit. on p. 3).
- FEHRMANN, L. (2006): 'Alternative Methoden zur Biomasseschätzung auf Einzelbaumebene unter spezieller Berücksichtigung der k-Nearest Neighbour (k-NN) Methode.' PhD thesis. University of Göttingen (cit. on p. 116).
- FELTON, A. et al. (2016): 'Replacing monocultures with mixed-species stands: Ecosystem service implications of two production forest alternatives in Sweden'. *Ambio*, vol. 45: pp. 124–139 (cit. on p. 104).
- FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ, M., S. VICCA, I. A. JANSSENS, J. SARDANS, S. LUYSSAERT, M. CAMPIOLI, F. S. CHAPIN III, P. CIAIS, Y. MALHI, M. OBERSTEINER, D. PAPALE, S. L. PIAO, M. REICHSTEIN, F. RODÀ, and J. PEÑUELAS (June 2014): 'Nutrient availability as the key regulator of global forest carbon balance'. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 4(6): pp. 471–476 (cit. on pp. 127–130, 132).
- FERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍNEZ, M. et al. (2017): 'Atmospheric deposition, CO2, and change in the land carbon sink'. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7(1): pp. 1–13 (cit. on pp. 19, 32, 52).
- FERREIRA, J. et al. (2018): 'Carbon-focused conservation may fail to protect the most biodiverse tropical forests'. Nature Climate Change, vol. 8(8): pp. 744–749 (cit. on p. 106).
- FERRETTI, M., L. BARATOZZI, E. CENNI, A. COZZI, and P. SAVINI (1998): 'Crown transparency of beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) in the northern Apennines (Italy) - Status, changes and relationships with site characteristics and other indices of tree condition'. *Chemosphere*, vol. 36(4-5): pp. 1037–1042 (cit. on p. 32).
- FIELD, A. P., J. MILES, and Z. FIELD (2012): Discovering statistics using R. Sage (cit. on p. 18).
- FINNIGAN, J. (Sept. 2008): 'AN INTRODUCTION TO FLUX MEASUREMENTS IN DIFFICULT CONDITIONS'. *Ecological Applications*, vol. 18(6): pp. 1340–1350 (cit. on p. 120).
- FIRN, J., P. D. ERSKINE, and D. LAMB (2007): 'Woody species diversity influences productivity and soil nutrient availability in tropical plantations'. *Oecologia*, vol. 154(3): pp. 521–533 (cit. on p. 44).

FLUXNET (2017): Fluxnet data processing (cit. on pp. 83, 84).

- FOKEN, T., M. AUBINET, J. J. FINNIGAN, M. Y. LECLERC, M. MAUDER, and K. T. PAW U (Apr. 2011): 'Results Of A Panel Discussion About The Energy Balance Closure Correction For Trace Gases'. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 92(4): ES13–ES18 (cit. on p. 121).
- FOKEN, T., M. GÖOCKEDE, M. MAUDER, L. MAHRT, B. AMIRO, and W. MUNGER (2004): 'Post-Field Data Quality Control'. *Handbook of Micrometeorology*. Ed. by LEE, X., W. MASSMAN, and B. LAW. Atmospheri. Dordrecht: Springer: pp. 181–208 (cit. on pp. 18, 115).
- FORRESTER, D. I. (2015): 'Transpiration and water-use efficiency in mixed-species forests versus monocultures: Effects of tree size, stand density and season'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 35(3): pp. 289–304 (cit. on pp. 64, 109).
- FORRESTER, D. I., D. BONAL, S. DAWUD, A. GESSLER, A. GRANIER, M. POLLASTRINI, and C. GROSSIORD (2016): 'Drought responses by individual tree species are not often correlated with tree species diversity in European forests'. JOURNAL OF APPLIED ECOLOGY, vol. 53(6): pp. 1725–1734 (cit. on pp. 6, 46).
- FORRESTER, D. I., S. THEIVEYANATHAN, J. J. COLLOPY, and N. E. MARCAR (2010): 'Enhanced water use efficiency in a mixed Eucalyptus globulus and Acacia mearnsii plantation'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 259(9): pp. 1761–1770 (cit. on p. 46). Fox, J. et al. (2019): *Companion to Applied Regression* (cit. on p. 54).
- FRANKLIN, J. F., T. A. SPIES, R. V. PELT, A. B. CAREY, D. A. THORNBURGH, D. R. BERG, D. B. LINDENMAYER, M. E. HARMON, W. S. KEETON, D. C. SHAW, K. BIBLE, and J. CHEN (2002): 'Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 155(1-3): pp. 399–423 (cit. on p. 3).
- FROELICH, N., H. CROFT, J. M. CHEN, A. GONSAMO, and R. M. STAEBLER (2015): 'Trends of carbon fluxes and climate over a mixed temperate-boreal transition forest in southern Ontario, Canada'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 211-212: pp. 72–84 (cit. on pp. 19, 31–33, 42).
- GALE, M. R. and D. F. GRIGAL (1987): 'Vertical root distributions of northern tree species in relation to successional status'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 17(8): pp. 829–834 (cit. on p. 78).
- GAMFELDT, L. et al. (2013): 'Higher levels of multiple ecosystem services are found in forests with more tree species'. *Nature Communications*, vol. 4 (cit. on pp. 2, 44, 45, 104).
- GARCÍA-PALACIOS, P., F. T. MAESTRE, and A. GALLARDO (Dec. 2010): 'Soil nutrient heterogeneity modulates ecosystem responses to changes in the identity and richness of plant functional groups'. *Journal of Ecology*, vol.: no-no (cit. on p. 127).
- GASH, J. H. C., C. R. LLOYD, and G. LACHAUD (1995): 'Estimating sparse forest rainfall interception with an analytical model'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 170(1-4): pp. 79–86 (cit. on pp. 78, 80).
- GASH, J., F VALENTE, and J. DAVID (Apr. 1999): 'Estimates and measurements of evaporation from wet, sparse pine forest in Portugal'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 94(2): pp. 149–158 (cit. on p. 115).

- GEBAUER, T., V. HORNA, and C. LEUSCHNER (2012): 'Canopy transpiration of pure and mixed forest stands with variable abundance of European beech'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 442-443: pp. 2–14 (cit. on p. 64).
- GILMANOV, T. G., S. B. VERMA, P. L. SIMS, T. P. MEYERS, J. A. BRADFORD, G. G. BURBA, and A. E. SUYKER (2003): 'Gross primary production and light response parameters of four Southern Plains ecosystems estimated using long-term CO ₂ -flux tower measurements'. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, vol. 17(2): n/a–n/a (cit. on p. 130).
- GÖCKEDE, M. et al. (Mar. 2008): 'Quality control of CarboEurope flux data Part 1: Coupling footprint analyses with flux data quality assessment to evaluate sites in forest ecosystems'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 5(2): pp. 433–450 (cit. on p. 116).
- GÖCKEDE, M., C. REBMANN, and T. FOKEN (Dec. 2004): 'A combination of quality assessment tools for eddy covariance measurements with footprint modelling for the characterisation of complex sites'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 127(3-4): pp. 175–188 (cit. on p. 116).
- GONZALEZ-MELER, M. A., F. HOPKINS, C. E. FLOWER, D. J. LYNCH, C. CZIMCZIK, J. TANG, and J.-A. SUBKE (2013): 'Ecosystem-level controls on root-rhizosphere respiration'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 199: pp. 339–351 (cit. on p. 30).
- GOSSNER, M. M., P. SCHALL, C. AMMER, U. AMMER, K. ENGEL, H. SCHUBERT, U. SIMON, H. UTSCHICK, and W. W. WEISSER (2014): 'Forest management intensity measures as alternative to stand properties for quantifying effects on biodiversity'. *Ecosphere*, vol. 5(9): pp. 1–111 (cit. on pp. 4, 5, 66).
- GOUGH, C. M., C. S. VOGEL, K. H. HARROLD, K. GEORGE, and P. S. CURTIS (2007):
 'The legacy of harvest and fire on ecosystem carbon storage in a north temperate forest'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 13(9): pp. 1935–1949 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- GRANDA, E., A. GAZOL, and J. J. CAMARERO (Mar. 2018): 'Functional diversity differently shapes growth resilience to drought for co-existing pine species'. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 29(2). Ed. by KIKVIDZE, Z.: pp. 265–275 (cit. on p. 6).
- GRANIER, A., P. BIRON, and D. LEMOINE (2000): 'Water balance, transpiration and canopy conductance in two beech stands'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 100(4): pp. 291–308 (cit. on p. 122).
- GRANIER, A., N. BRÉDA, P. BIRON, and S. VILLETTE (1999): 'A lumped water balance model to evaluate duration and intensity of drought constraints in forest stands'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 116(2-3): pp. 269–283 (cit. on pp. 8, 18, 76–78, 83, 87).
- GRANIER, A. et al. (2007): 'Evidence for soil water control on carbon and water dynamics in European forests during the extremely dry year: 2003'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 143(1-2): pp. 123–145 (cit. on pp. 2, 5, 77, 118).
- GRANIER, A., N. BRÉDA, B. LONGDOZ, P. GROSS, and J. NGAO (2008): 'Ten years of fluxes and stand growth in a young beech forest at Hesse, North-eastern France'. Annals of Forest Science, vol. 65(7): pp. 704–704 (cit. on pp. 15, 19, 31–33, 42).
- GREVE, P. and S. I. SENEVIRATNE (2015): 'Assessment of future changes in water availability and aridity'. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 42(13): pp. 5493–5499 (cit. on pp. 9, 46).

- GRIER, C. C. and S. W. RUNNING (1977): 'Leaf area of mature northwestern coniferous forests : relation to site water balance'. *Ecology*, vol. 58(4): pp. 893–899 (cit. on p. 76).
- GRIESS, V. C. and T. KNOKE (2011): 'Growth performance, wind throw, and insects: Metaanalyses of parameters influencing performance of mixed-species stands in boreal and northern temperate biomes'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 41(6): pp. 1141– 1159 (cit. on pp. 2, 46).
- GRIMM, V. and C. WISSEL (1997): 'Babel, or the ecological stability discussions: an inventory and analysis of terminology and a guide for avoiding confusion'. *Oecologia*, vol. 109(3): pp. 323–334 (cit. on p. 10).
- GROENENDIJK, M., A. DOLMAN, M. van der MOLEN, R. LEUNING, A. ARNETH, N. DELPIERRE, J. GASH, A. LINDROTH, A. RICHARDSON, H. VERBEECK, and G. WOHLFAHRT (Jan. 2011): 'Assessing parameter variability in a photosynthesis model within and between plant functional types using global Fluxnet eddy covariance data'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 151(1): pp. 22–38 (cit. on pp. 112, 124).
- GRÖMPING, U. (2007): 'Estimators of relative importance in linear regression based on variance decomposition'. *American Statistician*, vol. 61(2): pp. 139–147 (cit. on p. 128).
- GROSSIORD, C. (Jan. 2019): 'Having the right neighbors: how tree species diversity modulates drought impacts on forests'. *New Phytologist*, vol. (cit. on p. 5).
- GROSSIORD, C., A. GESSLER, A. GRANIER, S. BERGER, C. BRÉCHET, R. HENTSCHEL, R. HOMMEL, M. SCHERER-LORENZEN, and D. BONAL (2014a): 'Impact of interspecific interactions on the soil water uptake depth in a young temperate mixed species plantation'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 519(PD): pp. 3511–3519 (cit. on p. 46).
- GROSSIORD, C., A. GESSLER, A. GRANIER, M. POLLASTRINI, F. BUSSOTTI, and D. BONAL (Apr. 2014b): 'Interspecific competition influences the response of oak transpiration to increasing drought stress in a mixed Mediterranean forest'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 318: pp. 54–61 (cit. on p. 6).
- GROSSIORD, C., A. GRANIER, S. RATCLIFFE, O. BOURIAUD, H. BRUELHEIDE, E. CHECKO,
 D. I. FORRESTER, S. M. DAWUD, L. FINER, M. POLLASTRINI, M. SCHERER-LORENZEN,
 F. VALLADARES, D. BONAL, and A. GESSLER (2014c): 'Tree diversity does not always improve resistance of forest ecosystems to drought'. PROCEEDINGS OF THE NA-TIONAL ACADEMY OF SCIENCES OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, vol. 111(41): pp. 14812–14815 (cit. on pp. 5, 6, 15, 46, 104, 123, 124, 136).
- GROSSIORD, C., A. A. GRANIER, A. GESSLER, T. JUCKER, and D. BONAL (2014d): 'Does Drought Influence the Relationship Between Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning in Boreal Forests?' *ECOSYSTEMS*, vol. 17(3): pp. 394–404 (cit. on pp. 6, 46).
- GRÜNEBERG, E., I. SCHÖNING, D. HESSENMÖLLER, E.-D. SCHULZE, and W. WEISSER (Sept. 2013): 'Organic layer and clay content control soil organic carbon stocks in density fractions of differently managed German beech forests'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 303: pp. 1–10 (cit. on p. 122).
- GRÜNWALD, T. and C. BERNHOFER (2007): 'A decade of carbon, water and energy flux measurements of an old spruce forest at the Anchor Station Tharandt'. *Tellus, Series B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, vol. 59(3): pp. 387–396 (cit. on p. 84).
- GUCKLAND, A., M. JACOB, H. FLESSA, F. M. THOMAS, and C. LEUSCHNE (2009): 'Acidity, nutrient stocks, and organic-matter content in soils of a temperate deciduous

forest with different abundance of European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.)' Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, vol. 172(4): pp. 500–511 (cit. on pp. 85, 102).

- HAKKENBERG, C. R., C. SONG, R. K. PEET, and P. S. WHITE (Nov. 2016): 'Forest structure as a predictor of tree species diversity in the North Carolina Piedmont'. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 27(6). Ed. by ROCCHINI, D.: pp. 1151–1163 (cit. on p. 3).
- HAN, Q., D. KABEYA, A. IIO, and Y. KAKUBARI (2008): 'Masting in Fagus crenata and its influence on the nitrogen content and dry mass of winter buds'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 28(8): pp. 1269–1276 (cit. on p. 32).
- HANSEN, J., M. SATO, and R. RUEDY (2012): 'Public Perception of Climate Change and the New Climate Dice'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 2012 (cit. on p. 46).
- HARDIMAN, B. S., G. BOHRER, C. S. VOGEL, C. M. GOUGH, and P. S. CURTIS (2011): 'The role of canopy structural complexity in wood net primary production of a maturing northern deciduous forest'. *Ecology*, vol. 92(9): pp. 1818–1827 (cit. on pp. 4, 5, 104, 105).
- HARDIMAN, B. S., C. M. GOUGH, A. HALPERIN, K. L. HOFMEISTER, L. E. NAVE, G. BOHRER, and P. S. CURTIS (2013): 'Maintaining high rates of carbon storage in old forests: A mechanism linking canopy structure to forest function'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 298: pp. 111–119 (cit. on pp. 4, 45).
- HEIN, S. and J. F. DHÔTE (2006): 'Effect of species composition, stand density and site index on the basal area increment of oak trees (Quercus sp.) in mixed stands with beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) in northern France'. Annals of Forest Science, vol. 63(5): pp. 457–467 (cit. on pp. 4, 5).
- HERBST, M., P. T. W. ROSIER, M. D. MORECROFT, and D. J. GOWING (June 2008): 'Comparative measurements of transpiration and canopy conductance in two mixed deciduous woodlands differing in structure and species composition'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 28(6): pp. 959–970 (cit. on p. 122).
- HERBST, M., M. MUND, R. TAMRAKAR, and A. KNOHL (2015): 'Differences in carbon uptake and water use between a managed and an unmanaged beech forest in central Germany'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 355: pp. 101–108 (cit. on pp. 12, 15, 31, 32, 48, 84, 104–106, 108, 111, 127).
- HOLLING, C. S. (Nov. 1973): 'Resilience and Stability of Ecological Systems'. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, vol. 4(1): pp. 1–23 (cit. on pp. 10, 106, 127).
- HOLMSGAARD, E (1955): 'Tree-ring analyses of Danish forest trees'. Det forstlige forsøgsvæsen i Danmark, vol. XXII: pp. 1–246 (cit. on p. 32).
- HOLZWARTH, F. M., M. DAENNER, and H. FLESSA (Oct. 2011): 'Effects of beech and ash on small-scale variation of soil acidity and nutrient stocks in a mixed deciduous forest'. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, vol. 174(5): pp. 799–808 (cit. on p. 123).
- HOMMELTENBERG, J., H. P. SCHMID, M. DRÖSLER, and P. WERLE (2014): 'Can a bog drained for forestry be a stronger carbon sink than a natural bog forest?' *Biogeosciences*, vol. 11(13): pp. 3477–3493 (cit. on p. 15).
- HU, H., G. G. WANG, W. L. BAUERLE, and R. J. KLOS (2017): 'Drought impact on forest regeneration in the Southeast USA'. *ECOSPHERE*, vol. 8(4) (cit. on p. 76).

- HUANG, C.-Y. and W. R. L. ANDEREGG (2012): 'Large drought-induced aboveground live biomass losses in southern Rocky Mountain aspen forests'. *GLOBAL CHANGE BIOLOGY*, vol. 18(3): pp. 1016–1027 (cit. on p. 76).
- HUI, D., Y. LUO, and G. KATUL (2017): 'Partitioning interannual variability in net ecosystem exchange between climatic variability and functional change'. Vol. (December): pp. 433–442 (cit. on p. 14).
- HUMPHREYS, E. R. and P. M. LAFLEUR (2011): 'Does earlier snowmelt lead to greater CO ₂ sequestration in two low Arctic tundra ecosystems?' *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 38(9): n/a–n/a (cit. on p. 14).
- HURDEBISE, Q., B. HEINESCH, A. DE LIGNE, C. VINCKE, and M. AUBINET (2017): 'Impact of canopy aerodynamic distance spatial and temporal variability on long term eddy covariance measurements'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 247(January): pp. 131–138 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- IBROM, A., E. DELLWIK, H. FLYVBJERG, N. O. JENSEN, and K. PILEGAARD (Dec. 2007): 'Strong low-pass filtering effects on water vapour flux measurements with closed-path eddy correlation systems'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 147(3-4): pp. 140–156 (cit. on p. 121).
- ILVESNIEMI, H., J. LEVULA, R. OJANSUU, P. KOLARI, L. KULMALA, J. PUMPANEN, S. LAUNIAINEN, T. VESALA, and E. NIKINMAA (2009): 'Long-term measurements of the carbon balance of a boreal Scots pine dominated forest ecosystem'. *Boreal Environment Research*, vol. 14(4): pp. 731–753 (cit. on p. 68).
- INNES, J. L. (1992): 'Observations on the condition of beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) in Britain in 1990'. Forestry, vol. 65(1): pp. 35–60 (cit. on p. 32).
- INNES, J. L. (1994): 'The occurrence of flowering and fruiting on individual trees over 3 years and their effects on subsequent crown condition'. *Trees*, vol. 8(3): pp. 139–150 (cit. on p. 32).
- IPCC (2012): Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Ed. by FIELD, C. B., V. BARROS, T. F. STOCKER, D. QIN, D. J. DOKKEN, K. EBI, M. D. MASTRANDREA, K. J. MACH, G. K. PLATTNER, S. K. ALLEN, M. TIGNOR, and P. M. MIDGLEY. Cambridge, UK and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press: p. 582 (cit. on pp. 2, 46).
- (2018): Summary for Policymakers. In: Global warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming: p. 32 (cit. on pp. 2, 45).
- IRVINE, J, B. E. LAW, M. R. KURPIUS, P. M. ANTHONI, D MOORE, and P. A. SCHWARZ (2004): 'Age-related changes in ecosystem structure and function and effects on water and carbon exchange in ponderosa pine'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 24: pp. 753–763 (cit. on p. 84).
- ISHIHARA, M. I. and K. KIKUZAWA (2009): 'Annual and spatial variation in shoot demography associated with masting in Betula grossa: Comparison between mature trees and saplings'. *Annals of Botany*, vol. 104(6): pp. 1195–1205 (cit. on p. 32).
- ISHII, H., W. AZUMA, and E. NABESHIMA (2013): 'The need for a canopy perspective to understand the importance of phenotypic plasticity for promoting species coexistence

and light-use complementarity in forest ecosystems'. *Ecological Research*, vol. 28(2): pp. 191–198 (cit. on p. 45).

- ISHII, H. T., S. I. S.-I. TANABE, and T. HIURA (2004): 'Exploring the Relationships Among Canopy Structure, Stand Productivity, and B...' *Forest Science*, vol. 50(3): pp. 342–355 (cit. on p. 4).
- IVES, A. R. and S. R. CARPENTER (2007): 'Stability and diversity of ecosystems'. Science, vol. 317(5834): pp. 58–62 (cit. on p. 106).
- JACKSON, R. B., J. CANADELL, J. R. EHLERINGER, H. A. MOONEY, O. E. SALA, and E. D. SCHULZE (1996): 'A global analysis of root distributions for terrestrial biomes'. *Oecologia*, vol. 108(3): pp. 389–411 (cit. on pp. 78, 81, 85).
- JACKSON, R. D., S. B. IDSO, and R. J. REGINATO (1976): 'Calculation of evaporation rates during the transition from energy-limiting to soil-limiting phases using albedo data'. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 12(1): pp. 23–26 (cit. on p. 86).
- JACTEL, H., E. S. GRITTI, L. DRÖSSLER, D. I. FORRESTER, W. L. MASON, X. MORIN, H. PRETZSCH, and B. CASTAGNEYROL (2018): 'Positive biodiversity-productivity relationships in forests: Climate matters'. *Biology Letters*, vol. 14(4): pp. 12–15 (cit. on pp. 104, 105).
- JACTEL, H., J. BAUHUS, J. BOBERG, D. BONAL, B. CASTAGNEYROL, B. GARDINER, J. R. GONZALEZ-OLABARRIA, J. KORICHEVA, N. MEURISSE, and E. G. BROCKERHOFF (2017): 'Tree Diversity Drives Forest Stand Resistance to Natural Disturbances'. *Current Forestry Reports*, vol. (July) (cit. on p. 104).
- JACTEL, H. and E. G. BROCKERHOFF (2007): 'Tree diversity reduces herbivory by forest insects'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 10(9): pp. 835–848 (cit. on p. 104).
- JANDL, R., M. LINDNER, L. VESTERDAL, B. BAUWENS, R. BARITZ, F. HAGEDORN, D. W. JOHNSON, K. MINKKINEN, and K. A. BYRNE (Jan. 2007): 'How strongly can forest management influence soil carbon sequestration?' *Geoderma*, vol. 137(3-4): pp. 253–268 (cit. on p. 122).
- JANSSENS, I. A., D. A. SAMPSON, J. CERMAK, L. MEIRESONNE, F. RIGUZZI, S. OVER-LOOP, and R. CEULEMANS (1999): 'Above- and belowground phytomass and carbon storage in a Belgian Scots pine stand'. *Annals of Forest Science*, vol. 56(2): pp. 81–90 (cit. on p. 84).
- JANSSON, P.-E. and L. KARLBERG (2011): 'Coupled heat and mass transfer model for soil- plant-atmosphere systems'. COUP Manual, vol. 15(2): pp. 1–327 (cit. on pp. 9, 76).
- JENSEN, R., M. HERBST, and T. FRIBORG (2017): 'Direct and indirect controls of the interannual variability in atmospheric CO2exchange of three contrasting ecosystems in Denmark'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 233: pp. 12–31 (cit. on pp. 14, 15, 45).
- JONG, R. de and A. BOOTSMA (1996): 'Review of recent developments in soil water simulation models'. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, vol. 76(3): pp. 263–273 (cit. on pp. 7, 76, 77).
- JUCKER, T., D. AVĂCĂRIȚEI, I. BĂRNOAIEA, G. DUDUMAN, O. BOURIAUD, and D. A. COOMES (2016): 'Climate modulates the effects of tree diversity on forest productivity'. *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 104(2): pp. 388–398 (cit. on pp. 2, 46, 65, 105).

- JUCKER, T., O. BOURIAUD, D. AVACARITEI, and D. A. COOMES (2014): 'Stabilizing effects of diversity on aboveground wood production in forest ecosystems: linking patterns and processes'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 17(12): pp. 1560–1569 (cit. on pp. 2, 15, 44, 105, 106, 127).
- KAHL, T., M. MUND, J. BAUHUS, and E.-D. SCHULZE (Dec. 2012): 'Dissolved organic carbon from European beech logs: Patterns of input to and retention by surface soil'. *Écoscience*, vol. 19(4): pp. 364–373 (cit. on p. 115).
- KÄTTERER, T., O. ANDRÉN, and P. E. JANSSON (2006): 'Pedotransfer functions for estimating plant available water and bulk density in Swedish agricultural soils'. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section B: Soil and Plant Science*, vol. 56(4): pp. 263–276 (cit. on p. 84).
- KEENAN, T. F., D. Y. HOLLINGER, G. BOHRER, D. DRAGONI, J. W. MUNGER, H. P. SCHMID, and A. D. RICHARDSON (2013): 'Increase in forest water-use efficiency as atmospheric carbon dioxide concentrations rise'. *Nature*, vol. 499(7458): pp. 324–327 (cit. on pp. 109, 112).
- KITAMURA, K., Y. NAKAI, S. SUZUKI, Y. OHTANI, K. YAMANOI, and T. SAKAMOTO (2012): 'Interannual variability of net ecosystem production for a broadleaf deciduous forest in Sapporo, northern Japan'. *Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 17(3): pp. 323–332 (cit. on p. 14).
- KLAASSEN, W., F. BOSVELD, and E. DE WATER (1998): 'Water storage and evaporation as constituents of rainfall interception'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 212-213(1-4): pp. 36–50 (cit. on p. 81).
- KNOHL, A., E.-D. SCHULZE, O. KOLLE, and N. BUCHMANN (2003): 'Large carbon uptake by an unmanaged 250-year-old deciduous forest in Central Germany'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 118: pp. 151–167 (cit. on pp. 16–18, 32, 48, 68, 84, 113, 115, 121).
- KOMATSU, H., T. KUME, Y. SHINOHARA, Y. MIYAZAWA, and K. OTSUKI (2010): 'Did annual run-off and low flow decrease with reduced forestry practices in Japan?' *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 24(17): pp. 2440–2451 (cit. on p. 123).
- KOOP, H. and P. HILGEN (1987): 'Forest dynamics and regeneration mosaic shifts in unexploited beech (Fagus sylvatica) stands at Fontainebleau (France)'. Forest Ecology and Management, vol. 20(1-2): pp. 135–150 (cit. on p. 68).
- KOSTER, R. D. and S. P. P. MAHANAMA (2012): 'Land Surface Controls on Hydroclimatic Means and Variability'. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 13(5): pp. 1604–1620 (cit. on p. 8).
- KOTLARZ, J., S. NASIŁOWSKA, K. ROTCHIMMEL, K. KUBIAK, and M. KACPRZAK (Mar. 2018): 'Species Diversity of Oak Stands and Its Significance for Drought Resistance'. *Forests*, vol. 9(3): p. 126 (cit. on p. 6).
- KURZ, W. A., C. C. DYMOND, G. STINSON, G. J. RAMPLEY, E. T. NEILSON, A. L. CARROLL, T. EBATA, and L. SAFRANYIK (2008): 'Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change'. *Nature*, vol. 452(7190): pp. 987–990 (cit. on p. 2).
- KUSTAS, W. P. (2016): 'Soil: Evaporation'. *Encyclopedia of Natural Resources: Land*, vol.: pp. 444–453 (cit. on pp. 81, 86).

- KUTSCH, W. (2009): 'Old-Growth Forests: Function, Fate and Value–a Synthesis'. *Old-Growth Forests*. Ed. by WIRTH, C., G. GLEIXNER, and M. HEIMANN. Vol. 207. Ecological Studies. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg (cit. on p. 127).
- KUTSCH, W. L., O. KOLLE, C. REBMANN, A. KNOHL, W. ZIEGLER, and E.-D. SCHULZE (Sept. 2008): 'ADVECTION AND RESULTING CO 2 EXCHANGE UNCERTAINTY IN A TALL FOREST IN CENTRAL GERMANY'. *Ecological Applications*, vol. 18(6): pp. 1391–1405 (cit. on p. 120).
- KUTSCH, W. L., T. PERSSON, M. SCHRUMPF, F. E. MOYANO, M. MUND, S. ANDERSSON, and E. D. SCHULZE (2010): 'Heterotrophic soil respiration and soil carbon dynamics in the deciduous Hainich forest obtained by three approaches'. *Biogeochemistry*, vol. 100(1): pp. 167–183 (cit. on pp. 85, 102, 105, 120, 122).
- LANTSCHNER, M. V., B. H. AUKEMA, and J. C. CORLEY (2019): 'Droughts drive outbreak dynamics of an invasive forest insect on an exotic host'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 433(December 2018): pp. 762–770 (cit. on p. 76).
- LASSLOP, G., M. REICHSTEIN, D. PAPALE, A. D. RICHARDSON, A. ARNETH, A. BARR, P. STOY, and G. WOHLFAHRT (Jan. 2010): 'Separation of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and respiration using a light response curve approach: critical issues and global evaluation'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 16(1): pp. 187–208 (cit. on pp. 50, 51).
- LAW, B. E., T. ARKEBAUER, J CAMPBELL, J. CHEN, O. J. SUN, M. SCHWARTZ, C. van INGEN, and S. VERMA (2008): Terrestrial Carbon Observations: Protocols for Vegetation Sampling and Data Submission. Tech. rep. Rome: Global Terrestrial Observing System, FAO (cit. on p. 129).
- LAW, B. et al. (2002): 'Environmental controls over carbon dioxide and water vapor exchange of terrestrial vegetation'. *Agricultural and Forest* ..., vol. 113(1-4): pp. 97–120 (cit. on p. 15).
- LAW, B. E. (Dec. 2014): 'Regional analysis of drought and heat impacts on forests: current and future science directions'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 20(12): pp. 3595–3599 (cit. on pp. 112, 124).
- LAW, B. E., T. W. HUDIBURG, L. T. BERNER, J. J. KENT, P. C. BUOTTE, and M. E. HARMON (2018): 'Land use strategies to mitigate climate change in carbon dense temperate forests'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 115(14): pp. 3663–3668 (cit. on p. 2).
- LE BAS, C, D KING, and J DAROUSSIN (1997): 'A Tool for Estimating Soil Water Available for Plants Using the 1 : 1, 000, 000 Scale Soil Geographical Data Base of Europe'. *Itc J.* Vol. 3. 4. Enschede: Geo-information for sustainable land management: pp. 1–10 (cit. on p. 84).
- LE QUÉRÉ, C., L. BARBERO, J. HAUCK, R. M. ANDREW, J. G. CANADELL, S. SITCH, and J. I. KORSBAKKEN (2018): 'Global Carbon Budget 2016 Global Carbon Budget 2016'. *Earth System Science Data*, vol. 0(April 2017): pp. 2141–2194 (cit. on p. 2).
- LE QUÉRÉ, C. et al. (2009): 'Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide'. *Nature Geoscience*, vol. 2(12): pp. 831–836 (cit. on p. 126).
- LEBOURGEOIS, F., N. GOMEZ, P. PINTO, and P. MÉRIAN (Sept. 2013): 'Mixed stands reduce Abies alba tree-ring sensitivity to summer drought in the Vosges mountains,

western Europe'. Forest Ecology and Management, vol. 303: pp. 61–71 (cit. on pp. 5, 6, 46, 104).

- LEI, X., W. WANG, and C. PENG (2009): 'Relationships between stand growth and structural diversity in spruce-dominated forests in New Brunswick, Canada'. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, vol. 39(10): pp. 1835–1847 (cit. on pp. 4, 44, 45).
- LENTH, R. (2017): 'Package ' lsmeans ''. *Journal Of Statistical Software*, vol. 69(1): pp. 1–33 (cit. on p. 18).
- LEXERØD, N. L. and T. EID (2006): 'An evaluation of different diameter diversity indices based on criteria related to forest management planning'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 222(1-3): pp. 17–28 (cit. on p. 45).
- LIANG, J., J. BUONGIORNO, R. A. MONSERUD, E. L. KRUGER, and M. ZHOU (2007): 'Effects of diversity of tree species and size on forest basal area growth, recruitment, and mortality'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 243(1): pp. 116–127 (cit. on p. 4).
- LIANG, J. et al. (2016): 'Positive biodiversity-productivity relationship predominant in global forests'. *Science*, vol. 354(6309) (cit. on pp. 2, 44, 45, 104, 105).
- LIMOUSIN, J.-M., L. MISSON, A.-V. LAVOIR, N. K. MARTIN, and S. RAMBAL (Mar. 2010): 'Do photosynthetic limitations of evergreen Quercus ilex leaves change with long-term increased drought severity?' *Plant, Cell & Environment*, vol. (cit. on p. 46).
- LINDENMAYER, D. B., C. R. MARGULES, and D. B. BOTKIN (2000): 'Indicators of biodiversity for ecologically sustainable forest management'. *Conservation Biology*, vol. 14(4): pp. 941–950 (cit. on p. 3).
- LINDNER, M., J. B. FITZGERALD, N. E. ZIMMERMANN, C. REYER, S. DELZON, E. van der MAATEN, M.-J. SCHELHAAS, P. LASCH, J. EGGERS, M. van der MAATEN-THEUNISSEN, F. SUCKOW, A. PSOMAS, B. POULTER, and M. HANEWINKEL (Dec. 2014): 'Climate change and European forests: What do we know, what are the uncertainties, and what are the implications for forest management?' *Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 146: pp. 69–83 (cit. on p. 7).
- LINK, T. E., M. UNSWORTH, and D. MARKS (2004): 'The dynamics of rainfall interception by a seasonal temperate rainforest'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 124(3-4): pp. 171–191 (cit. on p. 85).
- LIU, D., R. OGAYA, A. BARBETA, X. YANG, and J. PENUELAS (2018): 'Long-term experimental drought combined with natural extremes accelerate vegetation shift in a Mediterranean holm oak forest'. *ENVIRONMENTAL AND EXPERIMENTAL BOTANY*, vol. 151: pp. 1–11 (cit. on p. 76).
- LONG, J. N. and J. D. SHAW (2010): 'The influence of compositional and structural diversity on forest productivity'. *Forestry*, vol. 83(2): pp. 121–128 (cit. on pp. 4, 45).
- LOREAU, M. (Oct. 2001): 'Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Current Knowledge and Future Challenges'. *Science*, vol. 294(5543): pp. 804–808 (cit. on p. 124).
- LUO, Y., T. F. KEENAN, and M. SMITH (May 2015): 'Predictability of the terrestrial carbon cycle'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 21(5): pp. 1737–1751 (cit. on pp. 14, 45, 126).
- LUYSSAERT, S. et al. (Dec. 2007): 'CO2 balance of boreal, temperate, and tropical forests derived from a global database'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 13(12): pp. 2509–2537 (cit. on pp. 112, 121).

- LUYSSAERT, S., E. D. SCHULZE, A. BÖRNER, A. KNOHL, D. HESSENMÖLLER, B. E. LAW, P. CIAIS, and J. GRACE (2008): 'Old-growth forests as global carbon sinks'. *Nature*, vol. 455(7210): pp. 213–215 (cit. on pp. 106, 121, 135, 136).
- LUYSSAERT, S. (2014): 'Land management and land-cover change have impacts of similar magnitude on surface temperature'. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 4: p. 5 (cit. on pp. 15, 112, 122, 124).
- MA, S., D. D. BALDOCCHI, S. MAMBELLI, and T. E. DAWSON (2011): 'Are temporal variations of leaf traits responsible for seasonal and inter-annual variability in ecosystem CO2 exchange?' *Functional Ecology*, vol. 25(1): pp. 258–270 (cit. on pp. 45, 126, 135).
- MA, S., D. D. BALDOCCHI, L. XU, and T. HEHN (2007): 'Inter-annual variability in carbon dioxide exchange of an oak/grass savanna and open grassland in California'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 147(3-4): pp. 157–171 (cit. on p. 15).
- MAGNANI, F. et al. (June 2007): 'The human footprint in the carbon cycle of temperate and boreal forests'. *Nature*, vol. 447(7146): pp. 849–851 (cit. on p. 133).
- MAGRUDER, M., S. CHHIN, B. PALIK, and J. B. BRADFORD (2013): 'Thinning increases climatic resilience of red pine'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 43(9): pp. 878–889 (cit. on p. 65).
- MARKO STOJANOVIĆ (2017): 'Coppice As a New Perspective for an Adaptive Forest Management'. PhD thesis. Mendel University in Brno (cit. on p. 108).
- MAUSOLF, K. et al. (Nov. 2018): 'Higher drought sensitivity of radial growth of European beech in managed than in unmanaged forests'. SCIENCE OF THE TOTAL ENVIRONMENT, vol. 642: pp. 1201–1208 (cit. on p. 65).
- MCELHINNY, C., P. GIBBONS, C. BRACK, and J. BAUHUS (2005): 'Forest and woodland stand structural complexity: Its definition and measurement'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 218(1-3): pp. 1–24 (cit. on pp. 3, 44).
- MCKEE, T. B., N. J. DOESKEN, and J. KLEIST (1993): 'The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales'. *8th conference on Applied Climatology*. Anheim, CA, USA: American Meteorological Society: pp. 179–184 (cit. on p. 76).
- MEA (2005): *Ecosystems and human well-bening: Synthesis*. Tech. rep. Washington D.C.: Island Press: pp. 1–20 (cit. on p. 106).
- MEDVIGY, D., S.-J. JEONG, K. L. CLARK, N. S. SKOWRONSKI, and K. V. R. SCHÄFER (Dec. 2013): 'Effects of seasonal variation of photosynthetic capacity on the carbon fluxes of a temperate deciduous forest'. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, vol. 118(4): pp. 1703–1714 (cit. on p. 136).
- MERLIN, M., T. PEROT, S. PERRET, N. KORBOULEWSKY, and P. VALLET (2015): 'Effects of stand composition and tree size on resistance and resilience to drought in sessile oak and Scots pine'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 339: pp. 22–33 (cit. on pp. 4, 5, 104).
- MESSIER, C., K. J. PUETTMANN, and K. D. COATES (2013): 'Managing forests as complex adaptive systems: Building resilience to the challenge of global change'. Managing Forests as Complex Adaptive Systems: Building Resilience to the Challenge of Global Change, vol. (December 2014): pp. 1–354 (cit. on p. 107).

- METZ, J., P. ANNIGHÖFER, P. SCHALL, J. ZIMMERMANN, T. KAHL, E. D. SCHULZE, and C. AMMER (2016): 'Site-adapted admixed tree species reduce drought susceptibility of mature European beech'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 22(2): pp. 903–920 (cit. on p. 6).
- MILYUKOVA, I. M., O. KOLLE, A. V. VARLAGIN, N. N. VYGODSKAYA, E. D. SCHULZE, and J. LLOYD (2002): 'Carbon balance of a southern taiga spruce stand in European Russia'. *Tellus, Series B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, vol. 54(5): pp. 429–442 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- MITTELBACH, G. G., C. F. STEINER, S. M. SCHEINER, K. L. GROSS, H. L. REYNOLDS, R. B. WAIDE, M. R. WILLIG, S. I. DODSON, and L. GOUGH (2001): 'What is the observed relationship between species richness and productivity?' *Ecology*, vol. 82(9): pp. 2381–2396 (cit. on p. 44).
- MITTELBACH, H., I. LEHNER, and S. I. SENEVIRATNE (2012): 'Comparison of four soil moisture sensor types under field conditions in Switzerland'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 430-431: pp. 39–49 (cit. on p. 87).
- MÖLDER, A, M BERNHARDT-RÖMERMANN, and W SCHMIDT (2006): 'Forest ecosystem research in Hainich National Park (Thuringia): First results on flora and vegetation in stands with contrasting tree species diversity'. *Waldoekologie online*, vol. 3: pp. 83–99 (cit. on p. 106).
- MÖLDER, I. and C. LEUSCHNER (June 2014): 'European beech grows better and is less drought sensitive in mixed than in pure stands: tree neighbourhood effects on radial increment'. *Trees*, vol. 28(3): pp. 777–792 (cit. on p. 6).
- MONSON, R. K., A. A. TURNIPSEED, J. P. SPARKS, P. C. HARLEY, L. E. SCOTT-DENTON, K. SPARKS, and T. E. HUXMAN (May 2002): 'Carbon sequestration in a high-elevation, subalpine forest'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 8(5): pp. 459–478 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- MORIN, X., L. FAHSE, C. de MAZANCOURT, M. SCHERER-LORENZEN, and H. BUGMANN (2014): 'Temporal stability in forest productivity increases with tree diversity due to asynchrony in species dynamics'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 17(12): pp. 1526–1535 (cit. on pp. 2, 44).
- MORIN, X., L. FAHSE, M. SCHERER-LORENZEN, and H. BUGMANN (2011): 'Tree species richness productivity in temperate forests through strong complementarity between species'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 14(12): pp. 1211–1219 (cit. on pp. 2, 44, 123).
- MOUILLOT, F., S. RAMBAL, and S. LAVOREL (2001): 'A generic process-based simulator for meditERRanean landscApes (SIERRA): Design and validation exercises'. Forest Ecology and Management, vol. 147(1): pp. 75–97 (cit. on pp. 8, 76).
- MÜLLER, S., C. AMMER, and S. NÜSSLEIN (2000): 'Analyses of stand structure as a tool for silvicultural decisions - a case study in a Quercus petraea - Sorbus torminalis stand'. *Forstwissenschaftliches Centralblatt*, vol. 119(1-2): pp. 32–42 (cit. on p. 3).
- MUND, M (2004): 'Carbon pools of European beech forests (Fagus sylvatica) under different silvicultural management'. Vol. 189: p. 256 (cit. on pp. 17, 30, 113, 114, 116, 122).
- MUND, M., W. L. KUTSCH, C. WIRTH, T. KAHL, A. KNOHL, M. V. SKOMARKOVA, and E. D. SCHULZE (2010): 'The influence of climate and fructification on the inter-annual variability of stem growth and net primary productivity in an old-growth, mixed beech forest'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 30(6): pp. 689–704 (cit. on pp. 32, 105, 113, 116, 121).

- MUSAVI, T. et al. (Oct. 2016): 'Potential and limitations of inferring ecosystem photosynthetic capacity from leaf functional traits'. *Ecology and Evolution*, vol. 6(20): pp. 7352– 7366 (cit. on pp. 45, 126, 129, 130).
- MUSAVI, T. et al. (2017): 'Stand age and species richness dampen interannual variation of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capacity'. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, vol. 1(2): pp. 1–6 (cit. on pp. 4, 12, 15, 31, 45, 46, 63, 104, 107, 125).
- MUSAVI, T. et al. (2015): 'The imprint of plants on ecosystem functioning: A data-driven approach'. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, vol. 43: pp. 119–131 (cit. on pp. 45, 126).
- MYERS, B. J. (1988): 'Water stress integral-a link between short-term stress and long-term growth'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 4(4): pp. 315–323 (cit. on p. 76).
- NARDINI, A., M. BATTISTUZZO, and T. SAVI (Oct. 2013): 'Shoot desiccation and hydraulic failure in temperate woody angiosperms during an extreme summer drought'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 200(2): pp. 322–329 (cit. on p. 5).
- NATHANS, L. L., F. L. OSWALD, and K. NIMON (2012): 'Interpreting Multiple Linear Regression: A Guidebook of Variable Importance'. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation*, vol. 17(9): pp. 1–19 (cit. on p. 19).
- NEMES, A., Y. A. PACHEPSKY, and D. J. TIMLIN (2011): 'Toward Improving Global Estimates of Field Soil Water Capacity'. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, vol. 75(3): p. 807 (cit. on p. 85).
- NOVICK, K. A., A. C. OISHI, E. J. WARD, M. B. S. SIQUEIRA, J.-Y. JUANG, and P. C. STOY (2015): 'On the difference in the net ecosystem exchange of CO ₂ between deciduous and evergreen forests in the southeastern United States'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 21(2): pp. 827–842 (cit. on pp. 15, 42).
- OBESO, J. R. (2002): 'The costs of reproduction in plants Author'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 155(139): pp. 321–348 (cit. on p. 15).
- OGAYA, R. and J. PEÑUELAS (2006): 'Contrasting foliar responses to drought in Quercus ilex and Phillyrea latifolia'. *Biologia Plantarum*, vol. 50(3): pp. 373–382 (cit. on p. 5).
- OHEIMB, G. von, W. HÄRDTLE, D. ECKSTEIN, H.-H. ENGELKE, T. HEHNKE, B. WAGNER, and A. FICHTNER (Dec. 2014): 'Does Forest Continuity Enhance the Resilience of Trees to Environmental Change?' *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9(12). Ed. by LIANG, E.: e113507 (cit. on pp. 127, 136).
- OKSANEN, J., F. G. BLANCHET, M. FRIENDLY, R. KINDT, P. LEGENDRE, D. MCGLINN, P. R. MINCHIN, R. B. O'HARA, G. L. SIMPSON, P. SOLYMOS, M. H. H. STEVENS, E. SZOECS, and H. WAGNER (2019): Community Ecology Package 'Vegan' (cit. on p. 48).
- O'LEARY, G. J. and D. J. CONNOR (1985): 'A simulation model of the development, growth and yield of the wheat crop'. *Agricultural Systems*, vol. 17(1): pp. 1–26 (cit. on p. 77).
- ORTH, R., R. D. KOSTER, and S. I. SENEVIRATNE (2013): 'Inferring Soil Moisture Memory from Streamflow Observations Using a Simple Water Balance Model'. *Journal* of Hydrometeorology, vol. 14(6): pp. 1773–1790 (cit. on pp. 8, 76).
- OSTERBURG, B., S. RÜTER, A. FREIBAUER, and et AL (2013): Handlungsoptionen für den Klimaschutz in der deutschen Agrar- und Forstwirtschaft. Thünen Report. Tech. rep. Braunschweig: Johann Heinrich von Thünen-Institut (cit. on p. 122).

- OTTO, J., D. BERVEILLER, F. M. BRÉON, N. DELPIERRE, G. GEPPERT, A. GRANIER, W. JANS, A. KNOHL, A. KUUSK, B. LONGDOZ, E. MOORS, M. MUND, B. PINTY, M. J. SCHELHAAS, and S. LUYSSAERT (2014): 'Forest summer albedo is sensitive to species and thinning: How should we account for this in Earth system models?' *Biogeosciences*, vol. 11(8): pp. 2411–2427 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- PAGE, S. E., F. SIEGERT, J. O. RIELEY, H. D. V. BOEHM, A. JAYA, and S. LIMIN (2002): 'The amount of carbon released from peat and forest fires in Indonesia during 1997'. *Nature*, vol. 420(6911): pp. 61–65 (cit. on p. 2).
- PALLARDY, S. G. (2002): 'Acli.Pdf'. Vol. 68(2): pp. 270-334 (cit. on p. 5).
- PAN, Y. et al. (2011): 'A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests'. *Science*, vol. 333(6045): pp. 988–993 (cit. on p. 2).
- PAPALE, D. et al. (2015): 'Carbon, water and energy fluxes of terrestrial ecosystem in Italy'. The greenhouse gas balance of Italy. Ed. by VALENTINI, R. and F. MIGLIETTA. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag Berlin. Chap. Carbon, wa: pp. 11–46 (cit. on pp. 48, 68, 84).
- PAUL, K. I., P. J. POLGLASE, A. M. O'CONNELL, J. C. CARLYLE, P. J. SMETHURST, P. K. KHANNA, and D. WORLEDGE (2003): 'Soil water under forests (SWUF): A model of water flow and soil water content under a range of forest types'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 182(1-3): pp. 195–211 (cit. on pp. 7, 8, 76, 77, 81).
- PEREIRA, J. S., J. A. MATEUS, L. M. AIRES, G. PITA, C. PIO, J. S. DAVID, V. ANDRADE, J. BANZA, T. S. DAVID, T. A. PAÇO, and A. RODRIGUES (2007): 'Net ecosystem carbon exchange in three contrasting Mediterranean ecosystems the effect of drought'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 4(5): pp. 791–802 (cit. on p. 15).
- PFENNINGER, S., J. DECAROLIS, L. HIRTH, S. QUOILIN, and I. STAFFELL (2017): 'The importance of open data and software: Is energy research lagging behind?' *Energy Policy*, vol. 101(November 2016): pp. 211–215 (cit. on p. 108).
- PILEGAARD, K., P. HUMMELSHØJ, N. O. JENSEN, and Z. CHEN (2001): 'Two years of continuous CO2eddy-flux measurements over a Danish beech forest'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 107(1): pp. 29–41 (cit. on p. 84).
- PILEGAARD, K., A. IBROM, M. S. COURTNEY, P. HUMMELSHØJ, and N. O. JENSEN (July 2011): 'Increasing net CO2 uptake by a Danish beech forest during the period from 1996 to 2009'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 151(7): pp. 934–946 (cit. on pp. 15, 19, 31–33, 42, 122).
- PINTY, B., M. JUNG, T. KAMINSKI, T. LAVERGNE, M. MUND, S. PLUMMER, E. THOMAS, and J.-L. WIDLOWSKI (Dec. 2011): 'Evaluation of the JRC-TIP 0.01° products over a mid-latitude deciduous forest site'. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, vol. 115(12): pp. 3567–3581 (cit. on p. 130).
- PINTY, B., T. LAVERGNE, M. VOSSBECK, T. KAMINSKI, O. AUSSEDAT, R. GIERING, N. GOBRON, M. TABERNER, M. M. VERSTRAETE, and J.-L. WIDLOWSKI (May 2007): 'Retrieving surface parameters for climate models from Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS)-Multiangle Imaging Spectroradiometer (MISR) albedo products'. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, vol. 112(D10) (cit. on p. 129).
- PITA, G., B. GIELEN, D. ZONA, A. RODRIGUES, S. RAMBAL, I. A. JANSSENS, and R. CEULEMANS (2013): 'Carbon and water vapor fluxes over four forests in two contrasting climatic zones'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 180: pp. 211–224 (cit. on p. 68).

- PITKÄNEN, S. (1997): Correlation between stand structure and ground vegetation: An analytical approach (cit. on p. 4).
- POMMERENING, A. (2002): 'Approaches to quantifying forest structures'. *Forestry*, vol. 75(3): pp. 305–324 (cit. on pp. 2, 44).
- POMMERENING, A. and A. SÄRKKÄ (Feb. 2013): 'What mark variograms tell about spatial plant interactions'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 251: pp. 64–72 (cit. on pp. 3, 44, 107).
- POTTER, K. M. and C. W. WOODALL (2014): 'Does biodiversity make a difference? Relationships between species richness, evolutionary diversity, and aboveground live tree biomass across U.S. forests'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 321: pp. 117–129 (cit. on pp. 2, 65).
- PRENTICE, I. C., M. T. SYKES, W. CRAMER, and I COLIN PRENTICE (1992): 'A simulation model for the transient effects of climate change on forest landscapes'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 65(1–2): pp. 51–70 (cit. on pp. 76, 87).
- PRETZSCH, H., G. SCHÜTZE, E. UHL, G SCHUETZE, and E. UHL (May 2013): 'Resistance of European tree species to drought stress in mixed versus pure forests: Evidence of stress release by inter-specific facilitation'. *Plant Biology*, vol. 15(3): pp. 483–495 (cit. on pp. 2, 5, 6, 46, 108, 123).
- PRETZSCH, H. et al. (2015): 'Growth and yield of mixed versus pure stands of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) analysed along a productivity gradient through Europe'. *European Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 134(5): pp. 927–947 (cit. on pp. 104, 105).
- PRETZSCH, H. et al. (2016): 'Mixing of Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris L.) and European beech (Fagus sylvatica L.) enhances structural heterogeneity, And the effect increases with water availability'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 373: pp. 149–166 (cit. on pp. 3, 44, 64).
- PRETZSCH, H. (Sept. 2014): 'Canopy space filling and tree crown morphology in mixedspecies stands compared with monocultures'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 327: pp. 251–264 (cit. on pp. 113, 123, 124).
- PRETZSCH, H., J. BLOCK, J. DIELER, P. H. DONG, U. KOHNLE, J. NAGEL, H. SPELLMANN, and A. ZINGG (2010): 'Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient'. *Annals of Forest Science*, vol. 67(7) (cit. on pp. 2, 105).
- PRIESTLEY, C. H. B. and R. J. TAYLOR (1972): 'On the assessment of surface heat flux and evaporation using large-scale parameters'. *Monthly Weather Review*, vol. 100(2): pp. 81–92 (cit. on p. 87).
- PUETTMANN, K. J., S. M. WILSON, S. C. BAKER, P. J. DONOSO, L. DRÖSSLER, G. AMENTE, B. D. HARVEY, T. KNOKE, Y. LU, S. NOCENTINI, F. E. PUTZ, T. YOSHIDA, and J. BAUHUS (2015): 'Silvicultural alternatives to conventional even-aged forest management what limits global adoption?' *Forest Ecosystems*, vol. 2(1): p. 8 (cit. on pp. 2, 104, 107).
- PUKKALA, T. (2016): 'Which type of forest management provides most ecosystem services?' Forest Ecosystems, vol. 3(1) (cit. on p. 104).
- R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM (2018): R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria (cit. on pp. 19, 52, 54, 77).

- RADDATZ, R. (Dec. 1993): 'Prairie agroclimate boundary-layer model: A simulation of the atmosphere/crop-soil interface'. *Atmosphere-Ocean*, vol. 31(4): pp. 399–419 (cit. on p. 7).
- RATCLIFFE, S., F. HOLZWARTH, K. NADROWSKI, S. LEVICK, and C. WIRTH (Jan. 2015): 'Tree neighbourhood matters – Tree species composition drives diversity–productivity patterns in a near-natural beech forest'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 335: pp. 225–234 (cit. on p. 123).
- RATCLIFFE, S., M. LIEBERGESELL, P. RUIZ-BENITO, J. MADRIGAL GONZÁLEZ, J. M. MUÑOZ CASTAÑEDA, G. KÄNDLER, A. LEHTONEN, J. DAHLGREN, J. KATTGE, J. PEÑUELAS, M. A. ZAVALA, and C. WIRTH (2016): 'Modes of functional biodiversity control on tree productivity across the European continent'. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, vol. 25(3): pp. 251–262 (cit. on p. 105).
- RATCLIFFE, S. et al. (2017): 'Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning relations in European forests depend on environmental context'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 20(11): pp. 1414–1426 (cit. on p. 105).
- REBETEZ, M., O. DUPONT, and M. GIROUD (2009): 'An analysis of the July 2006 heatwave extent in Europe compared to the record year of 2003'. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, vol. 95(1-2): pp. 1–7 (cit. on p. 46).
- REBMANN, C. et al. (2005): 'Quality analysis applied on eddy covariance measurements at complex forest sites using footprint modelling'. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, vol. 80(2-4): pp. 121–141 (cit. on p. 116).
- REICHSTEIN, M., M. BAHN, M. D. MAHECHA, J. KATTGE, D. D. BALDOCCHI, and S. W. PACALA (2014): 'Linking plant and ecosystem functional biogeography'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 111(38): pp. 13697–13702 (cit. on pp. 45, 126).
- REICHSTEIN, M. et al. (2013): 'Climate extremes and the carbon cycle'. *Nature*, vol. 500(7462): pp. 287–295 (cit. on pp. 2, 5).
- REICHSTEIN, M. et al. (Sept. 2005): 'On the separtion of net ecosystem exchange into assimilation and ecosystem respiration: review and improved algorithm'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 11(July): pp. 1424–1439 (cit. on pp. 18, 115, 120, 129).
- REICHSTEIN, M. et al. (2007): 'Reduction of ecosystem productivity and respiration during the European summer 2003 climate anomaly: A joint flux tower, remote sensing and modelling analysis'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 13(3): pp. 634–651 (cit. on pp. 5, 76).
- RICHARDS, L. A. (1931): 'Capillary conduction of liquids through porous mediums'. Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 1(5): pp. 318–333 (cit. on pp. 78, 82).
- RICHARDS, L. A. (1944): 'Moisture Retention by Some Irrigated Soils as Related to Soil-Moisture Tension'. *Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 69(6): pp. 215–235 (cit. on p. 84).
- RICHARDSON, A. D., D. Y. HOLLINGER, J. D. ABER, S. V. OLLINGER, and B. H. BRASWELL (2007): 'Environmental variation is directly responsible for short- but not long-term variation in forest-atmosphere carbon exchange'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 13(4): pp. 788–803 (cit. on pp. 45, 126, 135).
- RICHARDSON, A. D., D. Y. HOLLINGER, D. B. DAIL, J. T. LEE, J. W. MUNGER, and J. O'KEEFE (2009): 'Influence of spring phenology on seasonal and annual carbon balance in two contrasting New England forests'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 29(3): pp. 321–331 (cit. on p. 14).

- RINGGAARD, R., M. HERBST, and T. FRIBORG (Sept. 2014): 'Partitioning forest evapotranspiration: Interception evaporation and the impact of canopy structure, local and regional advection'. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 517: pp. 677–690 (cit. on p. 124).
- Río, M. del et al. (2016): 'Characterization of the structure, dynamics, and productivity of mixed-species stands: review and perspectives'. *European Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 135(1): pp. 23–49 (cit. on pp. 3, 44).
- Río, M. del et al. (2017): 'Species interactions increase the temporal stability of community productivity in Pinus sylvestris–Fagus sylvatica mixtures across Europe'. *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 105(4): pp. 1032–1043 (cit. on pp. 46, 106).
- RITCHIE, J. T. (1972): 'Model for predicting evaporation from a row crop with incomplete cover'. Water Resources Research, vol. 8(5): pp. 1204–1213 (cit. on pp. 78, 82).
- ROBERTS, J. (Oct. 1983): 'Forest transpiration: A conservative hydrological process?' *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 66(1-4): pp. 133–141 (cit. on p. 122).
- RUIZ-BENITO, P., L. GÓMEZ-APARICIO, A. PAQUETTE, C. MESSIER, J. KATTGE, and M. A. ZAVALA (2014): 'Diversity increases carbon storage and tree productivity in Spanish forests'. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, vol. 23(3): pp. 311–322 (cit. on p. 104).
- RUNNING, S. W. and J. C. COUGHLAN (1988): 'A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regional applications I. Hydrologic balance, canopy gas exchange and primary production processes'. *Ecological Modelling*, vol. 42(2): pp. 125–154 (cit. on p. 76).
- RUTISHAUSER, E. et al. (Sept. 2015): 'Rapid tree carbon stock recovery in managed Amazonian forests'. *Current Biology*, vol. 25(18): R787–R788 (cit. on p. 3).
- SABATINI, F. M., R. B. de ANDRADE, Y. PAILLET, P. ÓDOR, C. BOUGET, T. CAM-PAGNARO, F. GOSSELIN, P. JANSSEN, W. MATTIOLI, J. NASCIMBENE, T. SITZIA, T. KUEMMERLE, and S. BURRASCANO (2019): 'Trade-offs between carbon stocks and biodiversity in European temperate forests'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 25(2): pp. 536–548 (cit. on p. 106).
- SAIGUSA, N., S. YAMAMOTO, S. MURAYAMA, and H. KONDO (2005): 'Inter-annual variability of carbon budget components in an AsiaFlux forest site estimated by long-term flux measurements'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 134(1-4): pp. 4–16 (cit. on p. 42).
- SALA, A., K. HOPPING, E. J. MCINTIRE, S. DELZON, and E. E. CRONE (2012): 'Masting in whitebark pine (Pinus albicaulis) depletes stored nutrients'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 196(1): pp. 189–199 (cit. on p. 32).
- SASAKI, N., G. P. ASNER, Y. PAN, W. KNORR, P. B. DURST, H. O. MA, I. ABE, A. J. LOWE, L. P. KOH, and F. E. PUTZ (Aug. 2016): 'Sustainable Management of Tropical Forests Can Reduce Carbon Emissions and Stabilize Timber Production'. Frontiers in Environmental Science, vol. 4 (cit. on p. 3).
- SAUNDERS, M., B. TOBIN, K. BLACK, M. GIORIA, M. NIEUWENHUIS, and B. A. OSBORNE (2012): 'Thinning effects on the net ecosystem carbon exchange of a Sitka spruce forest are temperature-dependent'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 157: pp. 1–10 (cit. on p. 105).

- SAXTON, K. E. and W. J. RAWLS (2006): 'Soil Water Characteristic Estimates by Texture and Organic Matter for Hydrologic Solutions'. Soil Science Society of America Journal, vol. 70(5): p. 1569 (cit. on pp. 78, 82–84, 89).
- SCHAAF, C. B. et al. (Nov. 2002): 'First operational BRDF, albedo nadir reflectance products from MODIS'. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, vol. 83(1-2): pp. 135–148 (cit. on p. 129).
- SCHALL, P., E. D. SCHULZE, M. FISCHER, M. AYASSE, and C. AMMER (2018): 'Relations between forest management, stand structure and productivity across different types of Central European forests'. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, vol. 32: pp. 39–52 (cit. on pp. 3, 4, 44, 64, 66, 107).
- SCHELHAAS, M. J., G. J. NABUURS, W. JANS, E. MOORS, S. SABATÉ, and W. P. DAAMEN (2004): 'Closing the carbon budget of a scots pine forest in the Netherlands'. *Climatic Change*, vol. 67(2-3): pp. 309–328 (cit. on p. 84).
- SCHLEUSSNER, C.-F., P. PFLEIDERER, and E. M. FISCHER (2017): 'Half a degree makes a difference in the observational record'. *Nature Publishing Group*, vol. 7(7): pp. 1–5 (cit. on p. 46).
- SCHMID, B., A. HECTOR, P. SAHA, and M. LOREAU (June 2008): 'Biodiversity effects and transgressive overyielding'. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, vol. 1(2): pp. 95–102 (cit. on p. 2).
- SCHMID, H. P., C. S. B. GRIMMOND, F. CROPLEY, B. OFFERLE, and H. B. SU (2000): 'Measurements of CO2 and energy fluxes over a mixed hardwood forest in the mid-western United States'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 103(4): pp. 357–374 (cit. on p. 84).
- SCHMIDT, M., E. VELDKAMP, and M. D. CORRE (Feb. 2015): 'Tree species diversity effects on productivity, soil nutrient availability and nutrient response efficiency in a temperate deciduous forest'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 338: pp. 114–123 (cit. on p. 123).
- SCHÖNING, I., E. GRÜNEBERG, C. A. SIERRA, D. HESSENMÖLLER, M. SCHRUMPF, W. W. WEISSER, and E.-D. SCHULZE (Sept. 2013): 'Causes of variation in mineral soil C content and turnover in differently managed beech dominated forests'. *Plant and Soil*, vol. 370(1-2): pp. 625–639 (cit. on p. 122).
- SCHRUMPF, M., E. D. SCHULZE, K. KAISER, and J. SCHUMACHER (2011): 'How accurately can soil organic carbon stocks and stock changes be quantified by soil inventories?' *Biogeosciences*, vol. 8(5): pp. 1193–1212 (cit. on p. 116).
- SCHRUMPF, M., K. KAISER, and E.-D. SCHULZE (Feb. 2014): 'Soil Organic Carbon and Total Nitrogen Gains in an Old Growth Deciduous Forest in Germany'. *PLoS ONE*, vol. 9(2). Ed. by BALCAZAR, J. L.: e89364 (cit. on pp. 116, 122).
- SCHULZE, E. D., G. AAS, G. W. GRIMM, M. M. GOSSNER, H. WALENTOWSKI, C. AMMER, I. KÜHN, O. BOURIAUD, and K. von GADOW (Jan. 2016): 'A review on plant diversity and forest management of European beech forests'. *European Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 135(1): pp. 51–67 (cit. on p. 45).
- SCHWARZ, P. A., B. E. LAW, M. WILLIAMS, J. IRVINE, M. KURPIUS, and D. MOORE (2004): 'Climatic versus biotic constraints on carbon and water fluxes in seasonally drought-affected ponderosa pine ecosystems'. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, vol. 18(4): pp. 1–17 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).

- SEDLÁK, P., M. AUBINET, B. HEINESCH, D. JANOUŠ, M. PAVELKA, K. POTUŽNÍKOVÁ, and M. YERNAUX (2010): 'Night-time airflow in a forest canopy near a mountain crest'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 150(5): pp. 736–744 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).
- SEIDL, R. et al. (2017): 'Forest disturbances under climate change'. Nature Climate Change, vol. 7(6): pp. 395–402 (cit. on pp. 44, 104).
- SELÅS, V., G. PIOVESAN, J. M. ADAMS, and M. BERNABEI (2002): 'Climatic factors controlling reproduction and growth of Norway spruce in southern Norway'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 32(2): pp. 217–225 (cit. on p. 15).
- SHAO, J., X. ZHOU, H. HE, G. YU, H. WANG, Y. LUO, J. CHEN, L. GU, and B. LI (2014): 'Partitioning Climatic and Biotic Effects on Interannual Variability of Ecosystem Carbon Exchange in Three Ecosystems'. *Ecosystems*, vol. 17(7): pp. 1186–1201 (cit. on pp. 15, 31, 42, 105).
- SHAO, J. et al. (2015): 'Biotic and climatic controls on interannual variability in carbon fluxes across terrestrial ecosystems'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 205: pp. 11– 22 (cit. on pp. 14, 15).
- (2016): 'Direct and indirect effects of climatic variations on the interannual variability in net ecosystem exchange across terrestrial ecosystems'. *Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, vol. 68(1): p. 30575 (cit. on pp. 14, 15).
- SIDOR, C. G., M. BOSELA, U. BÜNTGEN, and R. VLAD (Dec. 2018): 'Mixed effects of climate variation on the scots pine forests: Age and species mixture matter'. *Dendrochronologia*, vol. 52: pp. 48–56 (cit. on p. 6).
- SILVA PEDRO, M., W. RAMMER, and R. SEIDL (2015): 'Tree species diversity mitigates disturbance impacts on the forest carbon cycle'. *Oecologia*, vol. 177(3): pp. 619–630 (cit. on p. 104).
- SIMARD, M., N. PINTO, J. B. FISHER, and A. BACCINI (Nov. 2011): 'Mapping forest canopy height globally with spaceborne lidar'. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, vol. 116(G4): G04021 (cit. on p. 129).
- SITCH, S., B SMITH, I. C. PRENTICE, A. ARNETH, A. BONDEAU, W. CRAMER, J. O. KAPLAN, S. LEVIS, W. LUCHT, M. T. SYKES, K. THONICKE, and S. VENEVSKY (2003): 'Evaluation of ecosystem dynamics, plant geography and terrestrial carbon cycling in the LPJ dynamic global vegetation model'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 9(2): pp. 161–185 (cit. on pp. 9, 76).
- SOETAERT, K. and T. PETZOLDT (2016): A Flexible Modelling Environment for Inverse Modelling, Sensitivity, Identifiability and Monte Carlo Analysis (cit. on pp. 51, 82, 84).
- SOHN, J. A., T. GEBHARDT, C. AMMER, J. BAUHUS, K. H. HÄBERLE, R. MATYSSEK, and T. E. GRAMS (2013): 'Mitigation of drought by thinning: Short-term and long-term effects on growth and physiological performance of Norway spruce (Picea abies)'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 308: pp. 188–197 (cit. on p. 108).
- SOHN, J. A., F. HARTIG, M. KOHLER, J. HUSS, and J. BAUHUS (2016): 'Heavy and frequent thinning promotes drought adaptation in Pinus sylvestris forests'. *Ecological Applications*, vol. 26(7): pp. 2190–2205 (cit. on pp. 65, 108).
- SOUSA-SILVA, R., K. VERHEYEN, Q. PONETTE, E. BAY, G. SIOEN, H. TITEUX, T. VAN DE PEER, K. VAN MEERBEEK, and B. MUYS (Sept. 2018): 'Tree diversity mitigates

defoliation after a drought-induced tipping point'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 24(9): pp. 4304–4315 (cit. on p. 6).

- SPEICH, M. J. R. (Feb. 2019): 'Quantifying and modeling water availability in temperate forests: a review of drought and aridity indices'. *IFOREST-BIOGEOSCIENCES AND FORESTRY*, vol. 12(1): pp. 1–16 (cit. on p. 76).
- SPELLERBERG, I. A. N. F. and P. J. FEDOR (2003): 'Tribute To Claude Shannon (1916_2001)'. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, vol.: pp. 177–179 (cit. on p. 3).
- SPINONI, J., P. BARBOSA, A. DE JAGER, N. MCCORMICK, G. NAUMANN, J. V. VOGT, D. MAGNI, D. MASANTE, and M. MAZZESCHI (2019): 'A new global database of meteorological drought events from 1951 to 2016'. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, vol. 22(January): p. 100593 (cit. on pp. 5, 76, 107).
- SPINONI, J., G. NAUMANN, and J. V. VOGT (Jan. 2017): 'Pan-European seasonal trends and recent changes of drought frequency and severity'. *Global and Planetary Change*, vol. 148: pp. 113–130 (cit. on p. 5).
- STEPHENSON, N. L. (2002): 'Climatic Control of Vegetation Distribution: The Role of the Water Balance'. The American Naturalist, vol. 135(5): pp. 649–670 (cit. on p. 76).
- STERBA, H. and A. ZINGG (2006): 'Abstandsabhängige und abstandsun- abhängige Bestandesstrukturbeschreibung.' *Allgemeine Forst- und Jagdzeitung*, vol. 177: pp. 169–176 (cit. on p. 3).
- STEVENS-RUMANN, C. S., K. B. KEMP, P. E. HIGUERA, B. J. HARVEY, M. T. ROTHER, D. C. DONATO, P. MORGAN, and T. T. VEBLEN (2018): 'Evidence for declining forest resilience to wildfires under climate change'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 21(2): pp. 243–252 (cit. on p. 104).
- STOCKER, B. D., J. ZSCHEISCHLER, T. F. KEENAN, I. C. PRENTICE, J. PEÑUELAS, and S. I. SENEVIRATNE (2018): 'Quantifying soil moisture impacts on light use efficiency across biomes'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 218(4): pp. 1430–1449 (cit. on pp. 65, 77).
- STOY, P. C. et al. (Apr. 2013): 'A data-driven analysis of energy balance closure across FLUXNET research sites: The role of landscape scale heterogeneity'. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 171-172: pp. 137–152 (cit. on p. 121).
- STPAUL, N. K., J. M. LIMOUSIN, J. RODRÍGESUEZ-CALCERRADA, J. RUFFAULT, S. RAMBAL, M. G. LETTS, and L. MISSON (2012): 'Photosynthetic sensitivity to drought varies among populations of Quercus ilex along a rainfall gradient'. *Functional Plant Biology*, vol. 39(1): pp. 25–37 (cit. on p. 46).
- SULMAN, B. N., D. T. ROMAN, T. M. SCANLON, L. WANG, and K. A. NOVICK (2016): 'Comparing methods for partitioning a decade of carbon dioxide and water vapor fluxes in a temperate forest'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 226-227: pp. 229–245 (cit. on p. 42).
- SUTTON, M. A., C. M. HOWARD, J. W. ERISMAN, G. BILLEN, A. BLEEKER, P. GRENN-FELT, H. van GRINSVEN, and B. GRIZZETTI (2011): *The European Nitrogen Assessment*. Ed. by SUTTON, M. A., C. M. HOWARD, J. W. ERISMAN, G. BILLEN, A. BLEEKER, P. GRENNFELT, H. van GRINSVEN, and B. GRIZZETTI. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (cit. on p. 136).

- SZÉKELY, G. J., M. L. RIZZO, and N. K. BAKIROV (Dec. 2007): 'Measuring and testing dependence by correlation of distances'. *The Annals of Statistics*, vol. 35(6): pp. 2769– 2794 (cit. on p. 132).
- TAMRAKAR, R., M. B. RAYMENT, F. MOYANO, M. MUND, and A. KNOHL (Sept. 2018): 'Implications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual carbon dioxide fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 263(June): pp. 465–476 (cit. on pp. 10, 13, 68, 104–106).
- TANG, B., X. ZHAO, and W. ZHAO (2018): 'Local Effects of Forests on Temperatures across Europe'. *Remote Sensing*, vol. 10(4): p. 529 (cit. on p. 109).
- TEFS, C. and G. GLEIXNER (Jan. 2012): 'Importance of root derived carbon for soil organic matter storage in a temperate old-growth beech forest Evidence from C, N and 14C content'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 263: pp. 131–137 (cit. on p. 122).
- THABEET, A., M. VENNETIER, C. GADBIN-HENRY, N. DENELLE, M. ROUX, Y. CARAGLIO, and B. VILA (2009): 'Response of Pinus sylvestris L. to recent climatic events in the French Mediterranean region'. *Trees Structure and Function*, vol. 23(4): pp. 843–853 (cit. on p. 108).
- THORNTHWAITE, C. W. (Jan. 1948): 'An Approach toward a Rational Classification of Climate'. *Geographical Review*, vol. 38(1): p. 55 (cit. on p. 7).
- TILMAN, D. (1999): 'The ecological consequences of changes in biodiversity: A search for general principles'. *Ecology*, vol. 80(5): pp. 1455–1474 (cit. on pp. 10, 106).
- TOÏGO, M., P. VALLET, V. TUILLERAS, F. LEBOURGEOIS, P. ROZENBERG, S. PERRET, B. COURBAUD, and T. PEROT (2015): 'Species mixture increases the effect of drought on tree ring density, but not on ring width, in Quercus petraea-Pinus sylvestris stands'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 345: pp. 73–82 (cit. on p. 6).
- TRAMONTANA, G., M. JUNG, C. R. SCHWALM, K. ICHII, G. CAMPS-VALLS, B. RÁDULY, M. REICHSTEIN, M. A. ARAIN, A. CESCATTI, G. KIELY, L. MERBOLD, P. SERRANO-ORTIZ, S. SICKERT, S. WOLF, and D. PAPALE (July 2016): 'Predicting carbon dioxide and energy fluxes across global FLUXNET sites with regression algorithms'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 13(14): pp. 4291–4313 (cit. on p. 129).
- TRENBERTH, K. E., A. DAI, G. VAN DER SCHRIER, P. D. JONES, J. BARICHIVICH, K. R. BRIFFA, and J. SHEFFIELD (2014): 'Global warming and changes in drought'. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 4(1): pp. 17–22 (cit. on p. 5).
- TYREE, M. T. and M. H. ZIMMERMANN (2002): *Xylem Structure and the Ascent of Sap.* New York: Springer (cit. on p. 5).
- UMR EEF (1999): Biljou (cit. on p. 87).
- URBANSKI, S., C. BARFORD, S. WOFSY, C. KUCHARIK, E. PYLE, J. BUDNEY, K. MCKAIN, D. FITZJARRALD, M. CZIKOWSKY, and J. W. MUNGER (2007): 'Factors controlling CO2 exchange on timescales from hourly to decadal at Harvard Forest'. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, vol. 112(2): pp. 1–25 (cit. on pp. 19, 32, 42, 48, 68, 135).
- VAN LOON, A. F. (2015): 'Hydrological drought explained'. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water, vol. 2(4): pp. 359–392 (cit. on p. 5).
- VAN LOON, A. F. et al. (2016): 'Drought in the Anthropocene'. *Nature Geoscience*, vol. 9(2): pp. 89–91 (cit. on p. 5).

- VANHELLEMONT, M., R. SOUSA-SILVA, S. L. MAES, J. den BULCKE, L. HERTZOG, S. R. E. DE GROOTE, J. VAN ACKER, D. BONTE, A. MARTEL, L. LENS, and K. VERHEYEN (Feb. 2019): 'Distinct growth responses to drought for oak and beech in temperate mixed forests'. SCIENCE OF THE TOTAL ENVIRONMENT, vol. 650(2): pp. 3017–3026 (cit. on p. 6).
- VENNETIER, M., B. VILA, E. Y. LIANG, F. GUIBAL, A. TAAHBET, and C. GADBIN-HENRY (2007): 'Impact of climate change on pine forest productivity and on the shift of a bioclimatic limit in a Mediterranean area'. Proceedings of the international workshop MEDPINE 3: conservation, regeneration and restoration of Mediterranean pines and their ecosystems. Ed. by LEONE, V. and R. LOVREGLIO. Vol. 197. Bari : CIHEAM: pp. 189–197 (cit. on p. 108).
- VENTURAS, M. D., E. D. MACKINNON, H. L. DARIO, A. L. JACOBSEN, R. B. PRATT, and S. D. DAVIS (July 2016): 'Chaparral Shrub Hydraulic Traits, Size, and Life History Types Relate to Species Mortality during California's Historic Drought of 2014'. *PLOS ONE*, vol. 11(7). Ed. by ARMAS, C.: e0159145 (cit. on p. 5).
- VESALA, T. et al. (2005): 'Effect of thinning on surface fluxes in a boreal forest'. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, vol. 19(2): pp. 1–11 (cit. on pp. 48, 68, 105).
- VETTER, M. et al. (2008): 'Analyzing the causes and spatial pattern of the European 2003 carbon flux anomaly using seven models'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 5(2): pp. 561–583 (cit. on p. 107).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M., S. BEGUERÍA, and J. I. LÓPEZ-MORENO (2010): 'A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: The standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index'. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 23(7): pp. 1696–1718 (cit. on p. 76).
- VICENTE-SERRANO, S. M., C. GOUVEIA, J. J. CAMARERO, S. BEGUERÍA, R. TRIGO, J. I. LÓPEZ-MORENO, C. AZORÍN-MOLINA, E. PASHO, J. LORENZO-LACRUZ, J. REVUELTO, E. MORÁN-TEJEDA, and A. SANCHEZ-LORENZO (2013): 'Response of vegetation to drought time-scales across global land biomes'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 110(1): pp. 52–57 (cit. on p. 5).
- VITALI, V., D. I. FORRESTER, and J. BAUHUS (Sept. 2018): 'Know Your Neighbours: Drought Response of Norway Spruce, Silver Fir and Douglas Fir in Mixed Forests Depends on Species Identity and Diversity of Tree Neighbourhoods'. *ECOSYSTEMS*, vol. 21(6): pp. 1215–1229 (cit. on p. 6).
- VITASSE, Y., S. DELZON, E. DUFRÊNE, J.-Y. PONTAILLER, J.-M. LOUVET, A. KREMER, and R. MICHALET (May 2009a): 'Leaf phenology sensitivity to temperature in European trees: Do within-species populations exhibit similar responses?' Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 149(5): pp. 735–744 (cit. on p. 123).
- VITASSE, Y., A. J. PORTÉ, A. KREMER, R. MICHALET, and S. DELZON (Aug. 2009b): 'Responses of canopy duration to temperature changes in four temperate tree species: relative contributions of spring and autumn leaf phenology'. *Oecologia*, vol. 161(1): pp. 187–198 (cit. on p. 123).
- VON BUTTLAR, J. et al. (2018): 'Impacts of droughts and extreme-temperature events on gross primary production and ecosystem respiration: a systematic assessment across ecosystems and climate zones'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 155194: pp. 1293–1318 (cit. on pp. 65, 107).

- WÄLDCHEN, J., E.-D. SCHULZE, I. SCHÖNING, M. SCHRUMPF, and C. SIERRA (Feb. 2013): 'The influence of changes in forest management over the past 200years on present soil organic carbon stocks'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 289: pp. 243–254 (cit. on p. 122).
- WANG, W., J. WANG, X. LIU, G. ZHOU, and J. YAN (2016): 'Decadal drought deaccelerated the increasing trend of annual net primary production in tropical or subtropical forests in southern China'. *SCIENTIFIC REPORTS*, vol. 6 (cit. on p. 76).
- WHITE, R. E. (2006): Principles and practice of soil science: the soil as a natural resource. 4th ed. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell (cit. on p. 84).
- WILKINSON, M., E. L. EATON, M. S. BROADMEADOW, and J. I. MORISON (2012): 'Inter-annual variation of carbon uptake by a plantation oak woodland in south-eastern England'. *Biogeosciences*, vol. 9(12): pp. 5373–5389 (cit. on pp. 15, 31, 105).
- WILLIAMS, M., E. B. RASTETTER, D. N. FERNANDES, M. L. GOULDEN, S. C. WOFSY, G. R. SHAVER, J. M. MELILLO, J. W. MUNGER, S. M. FAN, and K. J. NADELHOFFER (1996): 'Modelling the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum in a Quercus-acer stand at Harvard forest: The regulation of stomatal conductance by light, nitrogen and soil/plant hydraulic properties'. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, vol. 19(8): pp. 911–927 (cit. on p. 76).
- WILSON, K. B. and T. P. MEYERS (2001): 'The spatial variability of energy and carbon dioxide fluxes at the floor of a deciduous forest'. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology*, vol. 98(3): pp. 443–473 (cit. on pp. 31, 42, 105).
- WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION (1992): International meteorological vocabulary. Geneva (cit. on p. 5).
- WU, C., J. M. CHEN, A. GONSAMO, D. T. PRICE, T. A. BLACK, and W. A. KURZ (2012): 'Interannual variability of net carbon exchange is related to the lag between the end-dates of net carbon uptake and photosynthesis: Evidence from long records at two contrasting forest stands'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 164: pp. 29–38 (cit. on p. 15).
- WU, C. et al. (2013): 'Interannual variability of net ecosystem productivity in forests is explained by carbon flux phenology in autumn'. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, vol. 22(8): pp. 994–1006 (cit. on p. 14).
- WUTZLER, T., M. REICHSTEIN, A. M. MOFFAT, and M. MIGLIAVACCA (2018): REddyProc: Post Processing of (Half-)Hourly Eddy-Covariance Measurements. R package version 1.1.3. (Cit. on p. 18).
- WUTZLER, T., C. WIRTH, and J. SCHUMACHER (June 2008): 'Generic biomass functions for Common beech (Fagus sylvatica) in Central Europe: predictions and components of uncertainty'. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, vol. 38(6): pp. 1661–1675 (cit. on p. 116).
- XIA, J. et al. (Mar. 2015): 'Joint control of terrestrial gross primary productivity by plant phenology and physiology'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, vol. 112(9): pp. 2788–2793 (cit. on pp. 45, 126).
- XIAO, J. et al. (2011): 'Assessing net ecosystem carbon exchange of U.S. terrestrial ecosystems by integrating eddy covariance flux measurements and satellite observations'. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 151(1): pp. 60–69 (cit. on p. 2).
- XU, C. Y and V. P. SINGH (2002): 'Cross comparison of empirical equations for calculating potential evapotranspiration with data from Switzerland'. *Water Resources Management*, vol. 16(3): pp. 197–219 (cit. on p. 87).
- YACHI, S. and M. LOREAU (2007): 'Does complementary resource use enhance ecosystem functioning? A model of light competition in plant communities'. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 10(1): pp. 54–62 (cit. on p. 45).
- YANG, Y., Y. LUO, and A. C. FINZI (June 2011): 'Carbon and nitrogen dynamics during forest stand development: a global synthesis'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 190(4): pp. 977–989 (cit. on p. 136).
- YOUNG, B. D., A. W. D'AMATO, C. C. KERN, D. N. KASTENDICK, and B. J. PALIK (2017): 'Seven decades of change in forest structure and composition in Pinus resinosa forests in northern Minnesota, USA: Comparing managed and unmanaged conditions'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 395: pp. 92–103 (cit. on p. 3).
- YOUSEFPOUR, R. and M. HANEWINKEL (2016): 'Climate Change and Decision-Making Under Uncertainty'. *Current Forestry Reports*, vol. 2(2): pp. 143–149 (cit. on p. 104).
- YUAN, W. et al. (2009): 'Latitudinal patterns of magnitude and interannual variability in net ecosystem exchange regulated by biological and environmental variables'. *Global Change Biology*, vol. 15(12): pp. 2905–2920 (cit. on p. 14).
- ZALLONI, E., G. BATTIPAGLIA, P. CHERUBINI, M. SAURER, and V. DE MICCO (Apr. 2019): 'Wood Growth in Pure and Mixed Quercus ilex L. Forests: Drought Influence Depends on Site Conditions'. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, vol. 10 (cit. on p. 6).
- ZANG, C., H. PRETZSCH, and A. ROTHE (2012): 'Size-dependent responses to summer drought in Scots pine, Norway spruce and common oak'. *Trees - Structure and Function*, vol. 26(2): pp. 557–569 (cit. on p. 3).
- ZAPATER, M., C. HOSSANN, N. BRÉDA, C. BRÉCHET, D. BONAL, and A. GRANIER (2011):
 'Evidence of hydraulic lift in a young beech and oak mixed forest using18O soil water labelling'. *Trees - Structure and Function*, vol. 25(5): pp. 885–894 (cit. on p. 46).
- ZENG, H., J. Q. CHAMBERS, R. I. NEGRON-JUAREZ, G. C. HURTT, D. B. BAKER, and M. D. POWELL (2009): 'Impacts of tropical cyclones on U.S. forest tree mortality and carbon flux from 1851 to 2000'. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 106(19): pp. 7888–7892 (cit. on p. 2).
- ZENNER, E. K. and D. E. HIBBS (2000): 'A new method for modeling the heterogeneity of forest structure'. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 129(1-3): pp. 75–87 (cit. on p. 3).
- ZHANG, Y., H. Y. CHEN, and P. B. REICH (2012): 'Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: A global meta-analysis'. *Journal of Ecology*, vol. 100(3): pp. 742–749 (cit. on pp. 2, 44, 45, 104, 105).
- ZHOU, L., S. WANG, Y. CHI, Q. LI, K. HUANG, and Q. YU (Dec. 2015): 'Responses of photosynthetic parameters to drought in subtropical forest ecosystem of China'. *SCIENTIFIC REPORTS*, vol. 5 (cit. on p. 46).
- ZHOU, S., B. MEDLYN, S. SABATÉ, D. SPERLICH, I. C. PRENTICE, and D. WHITEHEAD (Oct. 2014): 'Short-term water stress impacts on stomatal, mesophyll and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis differ consistently among tree species from contrasting climates'. *Tree Physiology*, vol. 34(10): pp. 1035–1046 (cit. on p. 46).

- ZOTARELLI, L. and M. DUKES (2010): 'Step by step calculation of the Penman-Monteith Evapotranspiration (FAO-56 Method)'. *Institute of Food and* ..., vol.: pp. 1–10 (cit. on p. 81).
- ZSCHEISCHLER, J., M. D. MAHECHA, S. HARMELING, and M. REICHSTEIN (2013): 'Detection and attribution of large spatiotemporal extreme events in Earth observation data'. *Ecological Informatics*, vol. 15: pp. 66–73 (cit. on p. 2).
- ZWEIFEL, R., W. EUGSTER, S. ETZOLD, M. DOBBERTIN, N. BUCHMANN, and R. HÄSLER (2010): 'Link between continuous stem radius changes and net ecosystem productivity of a subalpine Norway spruce forest in the Swiss Alps'. *New Phytologist*, vol. 187(3): pp. 819–830 (cit. on pp. 48, 68).

Curriculum Vitae

Personal details

Name:	Rijan Tamrakar
Date of birth:	03/12/1984
Place of birth:	Bhaktapur, Nepal
E-mail address:	rtamrak@gwdg.de

Education and qualifications

since 03/2015 PhD candidate, Bioclimatology Group, Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Goettingen University
 Title of the thesis: 'The effect of forest structure carbon dioxide fluxes'
 Supervisors: Prof. Dr. Alexander Knohl, Dr. Mark B. Rayment, Dr. Fernando Moyano

09/2011-10/2013 Bachelor in forestry, Institute of forestry, Tribhuwan University

Work experience

- 10/2019-11/2019 Stipend from Graduate school of forestry and agriculture (GFA) (for completing PhD studies), Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Goettingen University.
- 08/2018-01/2019 Stipend of the faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology (PhD studies), Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Goettingen University.
- 03/2015-07/2018 Stipend of the Erasmus Mundus joint doctorate, forest, nature and society (FONASO) program (for PhD studies), School of natural sciences, Bangor University and Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Göttingen University

^{09/2011-10/2013} Master in sustainable forest and nature management, School of natural sciences, Bangor University and Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Göttingen University Title of the thesis: 'Variability of carbon uptake in managed (Leinefelde) and unmanaged old growth forests (Hainich)' Supervisors: Dr. Mathias Herbst and Prof. Dr. Alexander Knohl

01/2014-10/2014	Research associate , Asian institute of technology (AIT), Bangkok, Thailand
01/2013-12/2013	Program officer , Asia network for sustainable agriculture and biodiversity (ANSAB), Kathmandu, Nepal
09/2011-09/2013	Stipend of the Erasmus Mundus, sustainable forest and na- ture management (SUFONAMA) program (for master stud- ies), School of natural sciences, Bangor University and Faculty of forest sciences and forest ecology, Göttingen University
12/2009-09/2011	Forest officer, Asia network for sustainable agriculture and biodiver- sity (ANSAB), Kathmandu, Nepal
Publications	
2019	Mund, M., Herbst, M., Knohl, A., Matthäus, B., Schumacher, J., Schall, P., Siebicke, L., Tamrakar, R. , and Ammer, C. (2019): 'It is not just a 'trade-off' – indications for sink- and source-limitation to vegetative and regenerative growth in an old-growth beech forest'. <i>New Phytologist</i>
2018	Tamrakar, R., M. B. Rayment, F. Moyano, M. Mund, and A. Knohl (2018): 'Implications of structural diversity for seasonal and annual carbon dioxide fluxes in two temperate deciduous forests'. <i>Agricultural and Forest Meteorology</i> , vol. 263(June): pp. 465–476
2017	Musavi, T., Migliavacca, M., Reichstein, M., Kattge, J., Wirth, C., Black, T. A., Janssens, I., Knohl, A., Loustau, D., Roupsard, O., Varlagin, A., Rambal, S., Cescatti, A., Gianelle, D., Kondo, H., Tam- rakar, R., and Mahecha, M. D. (2017): 'Stand age and species richness dampen interannual variation of ecosystem-level photosynthetic capac- ity'. <i>Nature Ecology and Evolution</i> , vol. 1(2): pp. 1–6
2015	Herbst, M., Mund, M., Tamrakar, R. , and Knohl, A. (2015): 'Differences in carbon uptake and water use between a managed and an unmanaged beech forest in central Germany'. <i>Forest Ecology and Management</i> , vol. 355: pp. 101–108

Acknowledgments

My PhD has been a beautiful journey full of ups and downs. I want to thank my supervisors, Alexander, Mark and Fernando from the depth of my heart to supporting me throughout this journey. It wouldn't have been possible without their encouraging support. They provided me with excellent academic support and the same time emotional support. I consider myself lucky to have a great supervising team.

I am also thankful to all my colleagues in Bioclimatology department for encouragement and critical inputs they gave during the seminars and other time. I sincerely thank all my co-authors with whom I got a wonderful opportunity to learn a lot. I am grateful to both thesis reviewers (Mathias Herbst and Christian Ammer) and providing critical comments on my work. Also my heartfelt thanks to the advisory committee in Bangor University (Andy Smith and Prysor Williams) for pointing out my strengths and deficiences every year. With their genuine input I improved my work thoroughly.

I would like to thank Erasmus Mundus Joint DoctoratePr ogramme Forest and Nature for Society (EMJD FONASO), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (INST 186/1118-1 FUGG), and German Federal Ministry of Education and Research for funding this research. I thank the administration of the Hainich National Park and the forestry district Leinefelde for the opportunity for research in their forest areas. I am also indebted to Ernst-Detlef Schulze, Olaf Kolle, Kerstin Hippler, Karl Kübler, Martin Hertel, Agnes Fastnacht (MaxPlanck Institute for Biogeochemistry), Peter Anthoni (Karlsruhe Institute of Technology KIT, Institute of Meteorology and Climate Research Atmospheric Environmental Research), Corinna Rebmann (Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research – UFZ), Frank Tiedemann, Dietmar Fellert, Heinrich Kreilein, Martin Lindenberg, Lukas Siebicke (University of Göttingen), Mathias Herbst (Zentrum für agrarmeteorologische Forschung, Deutscher Wetterdienst) and Werner Kutsch (ICOS) for their work at the Hainich and Leinefelde tower sites. I am grateful to researchers in fluxnet sites who provided inventory data (for my third chapter).

Then, I would like to thank my family for accepting me as I am and allowing me to flow as I wished. I want to thank mother, sisters, brother, and my wife. I am indebted to all my friends who have pulled my hands whenever I fell down. In particular I would like to remember, Chandra, Manisha, Pramila, and Netra.

The layout of this thesis is based on a LATEX-Template by Matthias Pospiech http: //www.matthiaspospiech.de/latex/ and I am very thankful that he shared it.